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Chairman’s Statement

ERHRE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”)
of Innovative Pharmaceutical Biotech Limited, (the “Company”,
together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”), | hereby present to
all shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”) the audited
consolidated financial results of the Group for the year ended 31
March 2024 (the “Financial Year”) with comparative figures for
the year ended 31 March 2023 (the “Previous Financial Year”).

The economic recovery after the pandemic has not met
expectations. Compared to non-essential spending, consumers
are more inclined to hold on to their cash. Hence, the revenue of
the Group has dropped to approximately HK$6.6 million for the
Financial Year as compared with the revenue of approximately
HK$8.1 million recorded in the Previous Year. Furthermore, the
progress of the Group’s Clinical trial of the oral insulin product
was disturbed by the delays in sample drug production. The
launch of the product would be further postponed to the first
quarter of 2026.

The Group recorded the profit attributable to the owners of the
Company for the Financial Year amounted to approximately
HK$103.4 million as compared with the loss of approximately
HK$245.7 million in Previous Financial Year. It is attributable to
a gain on modification of convertible bonds of HK$330.2 million
was booked in the Financial Year.
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OUTLOOK

Looking ahead, there are still uncertainties, including the
fluctuations in energy and material prices, geopolitical risks, and
the pace of China’s economic recovery. We remain optimistic
about the growth of the Group’s trading of beauty equipment
and products business.

The management team has actively worked with the contract
research organization to speed up the progress of the clinical
trial and make the best effort to achieve the schedule of
commercialization of the product.

The Company continues to actively pursue and review
cooperation, joint ventures, and investments with suitable
partners and will continue to focus on improving the Group’s
attractiveness and profitability as necessary to enhance
shareholder returns and the sustainable long-term development
of the Group as a whole.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of all the members of the Board, | would like to take
this opportunity to express my gratitude to the Shareholders and
business partners of the Group for their continued support and
trust during the past year, and my most sincere appreciation
to the directors, management, and staff at all levels for their
dedication, hard work, and contributions to the Group.

Jiang Nian
Chairman
Shanghai, 28 June 2024
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEENWR DM

BUSINESS REVIEW

Group Results

Revenue of the Group for the Financial Year amounted to
approximately HK$6,593,000, representing a decrease of
approximately 18.4% as compared with the total revenue of
approximately HK$8,075,000 that was recorded in the Previous
Financial Year. The decrease was mainly attributable to the
decrease in business of the trading of beauty equipment
and products segment during the Financial Year. The Group
recorded a profit attributable to the owners of the Company
amounted to approximately HK$103,012,000 for the Financial
Year as compared to loss of HK$245,707,000 in Previous
Financial Year. The change from loss to profit is mainly due to an
amount of approximately HK$330,237,000 represented a gain on
modification of convertible bonds was recorded in the Financial
Year.

Trading of beauty equipment and products

During the Financial Year, revenue from the trading of
beauty equipment and products amounted to approximately
HK$6,593,000, representing a decrease of approximately 18.4%
from the revenue in the amount of approximately HK$8,075,000
that was recorded in the Previous Financial Year. The decrease
in trading revenue was mainly due to the poor market condition.

Research and development

The in-process research and development project (the “In-
process R&D”) represented an in-process research and
development project involving an oral insulin product (the
“Product”).

The in-process R&D was recorded as intangible asset in Group’s
consolidated statement of financial position with carrying
value of HK$1,373,224,000. The management performs the
impairment assessment at the end of each reporting period.
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BUS' N ESS REVI EW (Continued)

Research and development (continueq)

The recoverable amount of the intangible asset is determined
based on fair value calculations which used cash flow
projections prepared by the management of the Group using
certain key assumptions. Key assumptions for the fair value
calculations were based on estimated cash inflows derived from
budgeted sales and gross margin which estimated based on the
expectations for the market development.

At the end of the Financial Year, the Directors of the Company
have performed impairment assessments on the intangible
asset by reference to the valuation conducted by BonVision
International Appraisals Limited, an independent qualified valuer.
The recoverable amount of the intangible asset is determined
based on the estimated fair value of the In-process R&D. Based
on the assessment, the recoverable amount of the Group’s
intangible asset is estimated to be higher than the carrying
amount and therefore the Directors of the Company considered
that no impairment is necessary as at 31 March 2024.

Prior to the commercialisation of the Product, the Group
will need to go through, among others, the following key
development stages: (i) execution of clinical trial testing; (ii)
data and outcome analysis; (iii) preparation of the outcome
report; (iv) entering into of production arrangement; (v) sourcing
of raw materials; (vi) possible marketing activities or pre-sales
preparation work; (vii) submission of the clinical trial report to
National Medical Products Administration; (viii) applying for the
new medicine certificate and the manufacturing permit.

The management of the Company is closely working with the
contract research organization (the “CRO”). The Part B of phase
[l clinical trials (the “Clinical Trial”) had registered in the Center
for Drug Evaluation, National Medical Products Administration
(“NMPA”) in October 2019.

The enrolment of the first batch of patients for the Clinical Trial
testing has commenced in July 2020. At the end of the Financial
Year, about 400 patients have been enrolled in selected
participating hospitals to take place in the Clinical Trial. The
enrolment of patients will be an ongoing process.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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BUSI N ESS REVI EW (Continued)

Research and development (continueq)

Fosse Bio-Engineering Development Limited (“Fosse Bio”) is a
subsidiary of Smart Ascent Limited, which became a subsidiary
of the Company upon completion of the acquisition on 28 July
2014. Fosse Bio and Tsinghua University, Beijing (“THU”) have
entered into the agreements in 1998 (the “THU Collaboration
Arrangement”) in connection with the research and development
of the Product. Pursuant to the THU Collaboration Arrangement,
which will be expired in October 2018 and subsequently
extended to October 2023 by entered the supplemental
agreement on 12 November 2018, Fosse Bio would be entitled
to commercialize the relevant technologies of the Product and
to manufacture and sell the Product on an exclusive basis,
and THU is entitled to 1.5% of Fosse Bio’s annual sales upon
commercialization of the Product. Accordingly, Fosse Bio has
the exclusive right for the commercialization of the Product for
the duration of the unexpired term of the THU Collaboration
Arrangement.

On 25 June 2024, the Group entered second supplemental
agreement with THU to renew the term of the THU Collaboration
Arrangement to 30 June 2027.

The Board is of the view that the renewal of the THU
Collaboration Arrangement can facilitate the exclusive
commercialization of the Product by the Group and is in the
interests of the Company and its shareholders as a whole.

The normal operations of the participating hospitals for the
Clinical Trial had been disrupted by the coronavirus pandemic.
The factors as discussed in the annual report of 31 March
2023 of the Company continue to affect the progress of Clinical
Trial this year. Particularly, the reorganization of the approved
drug manufacturer which has led to delays in sample drug
production. Based on the latest information available to the
Company, the timeline to commercialization of the Product
have been revised. The Product is expected to be launched in
the market and available for sale at selected hospitals by first
quarter of 2026.

8 INNOVATIVE PHARMACEUTICAL BIOTECH LIMITED 2024 Annual Report

¥ OEw
& e
BTEYWIBERAR(EBMEDREE
BRARZHBAR  TRARRE S
—FE+A-+NBREHRBEEKEARD
AlZKB AR - @ERIRBEKRE(E
EREB DR —NANNFRITZIAEA B
Emza(FEXE5ERZE]D - BRI
ZBER_ZE— /\E—I-H@J,HHEEEE%:EA:
E-N\F+—A+-HEI#ERTHELER
E-E-=HFTAZBEERELEHE
BLEEREARIEERZEBRMEBRE
ENMEEER MBEEAZEERNERD
u%k%ﬁ%&?ﬁ?ﬁﬂﬁ%Ziﬁﬁ%%ﬁi o I
CBAEREREBSERETRERE
ﬁﬁ?ﬂ%ﬁ@ﬁuu{téﬁuzgrﬁ% °

R-ZE-_WEXA-+HHE  AEEEFE

EREBIAUF _MATHZE - HBFEKRS
EEGEFHEEE S -LF A=
=

ExeRn BEERERBAERAEAAY

E/\$E.§%%—\LTTFDDF§DD{E BFFER
REREBRR 2 BB = -

SAT - BT B A % 1 PR B /,\E.mf“t%ﬁ
HEWIETEE - RRAREE =
F=A=+— EIE’J%&&EPPFTHEE’JI%TD
EEEAFERAZROER - KA

PEMEREENNEASIERNER
ELE - REARRAISHNEHER  E
MR EREERARELEEBR  BetERB

RIZE-RNFEF—FTHRmE L HEETRE
TEBIHE ©



BUS' N ESS REVI EW (Continued)

Research and development (continueq)

The Group is expected to generate a stable source of revenue
and profit after the launch of the Product taking into account
that (i) there is massive demand in the PRC for innovative
insulin products in light of the growing diabetic population; (ii)
once the Product is launched, it is expected to become the
first oral insulin drug available in the market; (i) the Product is
expected to be sold at a reasonable price range and will provide
a superior and effective treatment method for diabetes patients;
and (iv) once the Product is launched, it will be protected for
a period of 5 years under the current regulations in the PRC
which prohibits other companies from manufacturing and/or
undergoing clinical trial for similar products.

The Group will make further announcements depending on
situation and in accordance with the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Listing Rules”) if there is any material development.

Management Discussion and Analysis
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BUSI N ESS REVI EW (Continued)

Convertible bonds issued by the Company

The Company acquired 51% interest in the share capital of
Smart Ascent in the year of 2014. As part of the consideration
of the acquisition of Smart Ascent, on 28 July 2014, the
Company issued to Extrawell (the “Bondholder”) the convertible
bonds with 3.5% interest per annum for a conversion period
of 7 years from the date of issue in the principal amount of
HK$715,000,000 (the “Convertible Bonds”). The interest was
originally paid annually.

On 26 July 2019, the Company and the Bondholder entered
into the amendment deed (the “Amendment Deed”) in which
the Company and the Bondholder agreed to amend the interest
payment terms of the Convertible Bonds to the effect that i) the
payment of the interest payable in year of 2019 to year of 2021
would be made on or before the maturity date of the Convertible
Bonds, i.e. 28 July 2021 (the “Maturity Date”); and ii) additional
interest of HK$11,262,259 (the “Additional Interest”) would be
paid on 28 July 2021.

On 12 May 2021, the Company and the Bondholder entered
into the second deed of Amendment (the “Second Deed
of Amendment”) pursuant to which the Company and the
Bondholder agreed to amend the interest payment terms of the
Convertible Bonds to the effect that: (i) the interest payment due
dates was amended to payment of interest for the period from
28 July 2018 to 27 July 2023 on 28 July 2023; (ii) the Company
was required to pay to the Bondholder the additional interest in
the amount of HK$3,753,750 for one-year extension for payment
of interest for the year from 28 July 2021 to 27 July 2022 on
28 July 2023 and (i) the Company was required to pay the
Bondholder the additional interest of HK$25,900,875 on 28 July
2023.

INNOVATIVE PHARMACEUTICAL BIOTECH LIMITED 2024 Annual Report
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BUS' N ESS REVI EW (Continued)

Convertible bonds issued by the Company (continued)
On 28 April 2023, the Company and the Bondholder entered
into a third deed of amendment (the “Third Deed Amendment”)
pursuant to which the Company and the Bondholder have
conditionally agreed to amend the terms of the Convertible
Bonds (as amended by the Amendment Deed) (the “Third

Amendment”) to the effect that:

(@)

(o)

the Maturity Date shall be extended from 28 July 2023 to  (a)

28 July 2025;

the interest date and interest payment date of the (b)
Convertible Bonds (as amended by the First Deed of
Amendment and Second Deed of Amendment) shall be {

Management Discussion and Analysis
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BUSI N ESS REVI EW (Continued)

Convertible bonds issued by the Company (continueq)

(b)  (continued)
(i)  (continued)
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Save for the Third Amendment, the terms and conditions of the
Convertible Bonds remain intact and unchanged.

gh‘l’he Third Deed Amendment was approved in special general
meeting held on 28 June 2023 and all conditions precedent
fulfilled and the Third Amendment took effect from 12 July 2023.
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BUS' N ESS REVI EW (Continued)

Convertible bonds issued by the Company (continued)
On 27 July 2023, the Company and Dr. Mao Yu Min as
subscriber entered into the subscription agreement, pursuant
to which the Company has conditionally agreed to issue, and
the subscriber has conditionally agreed to subscribe for, the
convertible bonds in the principal amount of HK$55,500,000.
The convertible bonds shall bear an interest from (and including)
the date of issue at the rate of 0% per annum on the outstanding
principal amount of the convertible bonds. The maturity date
is the tenth anniversary of the date of issue of the convertible
bonds. The initial conversion price for the convertible bonds
shall be HK$0.211 per conversion share.

The subscription price in the amount of HK$55,500,000 payable
by the subscriber under the subscription agreement shall be
satisfied by way of offsetting in full on a dollar-to-dollar basis
against the outstanding aggregate principal amount payable by
the Company to the subscriber under the shareholder’s loans in
the amount of HK$55,500,000.

The subscriber, Dr. Mao is the substantial shareholder of the
Company. The subscription constitutes a connected transaction
of the Company and is subject to the independent shareholders’
approval requirements. Completion of the subscription
agreement is subject to fulfillment of the conditions precedent
under the subscription agreement.

Details of the proposed issue of the convertible bonds are set
out in the announcement dated 27 July 2023.

The issue of the convertible bonds was approved in special
general meeting held on 24 May 2024 and all conditions
precedent under the subscription agreement have been fulfilled
and completion took place on 21 June 2024.

The Company issued certain convertible bonds on 25 October
2013, 27 December 2013, 24 April 2014, 30 August 2014, 31
December 2014 and 30 April 2015. The maturity date of those
convertible bonds falls on the tenth anniversary of the date of
issue.
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BUSI N ESS REVI EW (Continued)

Convertible bonds issued by the Company (continueq)
On 15 August 2023, those convertible bonds in the aggregate
principal amount of HK$359,600,000 remain outstanding.
The Company and the bondholders entered into the deed
of amendment pursuant to which the Company and the
bondholders have conditionally agreed to amend certain terms
and conditions of the convertible bonds. The Company and the
bondholders have conditionally agreed to amend the terms of
the convertible bonds to the effect that the maturity date shall be
extended from the tenth anniversary of the date of issue to the
twentieth anniversary of the date of issue.

Save for the Amendment, the terms and conditions of the
convertible bonds remain intact and unchanged.

The bondholders, Dr. Mao (through himself and his controlled
corporation) is a substantial shareholder of the Company.
The amendment constitutes a connected transaction of the
Company and is subject to the independent shareholders’
approval requirements. Completion of the amendment is subject
to fulfillment of the conditions precedent under the deed of
amendment.

On 22 December 2023, the Company and the Bondholders
entered into the supplemental deed of amendment (the
“Supplemental Deed”), pursuant to which the parties agreed
to amend and supplement certain terms of the Deed of
Amendment. Details of the principal terms of the Supplemental
Deed are set out below:

1)  the conversion price of the convertible bonds due October
2023 (the “First Dr. Mao Bonds”) in the principal amount
of HK$236,800,000 issued by the Company and held
by Dr. Mao, the convertible bonds due December 2023
(the “Second Dr. Mao Bonds”) in the principal amount
of HK$11,200,000 issued by the Company and held by
Dr. Mao and the convertible bonds due December 2023
(the “United Gene Bonds”, together with the First Dr. Mao
Bonds, the Second Dr. Mao Bonds and the United Gene
Bonds, the “Relevant Bonds”) in the principal amount of
HK$8,000,000 issued by the Company and held by United
Gene shall be amended from HK$0.40 to HK$0.202.
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BUS' N ESS REVI EW (Continued)

Convertible bonds issued by the Company (continued)

2)  the maturity date of the convertible bonds due December
2024 in the principal amount of HK$39,600,000 issued by
the Company and held by Dr. Mao, the convertible bonds
due April 2025 in the principal amount of HK$42,000,000
issued by the Company and held by Dr. Mao and the
convertible bonds due April 2025 in the principal amount
of HK$22,000,000 and held by JNJ, shall no longer be
extended.

Details of the Amendment and the supplemental deed of
amendment are set out in the announcement dated 15 August
2023 and 22 December 2023 respectively and the circular dated
9 May 2024.

The amendment was approved in the special general meeting
held on 24 May 2024. All conditions precedent under the deed
of amendment have been fulfiled and the completion of the
amendment took place on 21 June 2024.
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PROSPECTS

Trading of beauty equipment and products

The major trading products of the Group are beauty equipment
and beauty products, and sales of these beauty equipment
and beauty products represent the major component that
contributes to the Group’s revenue.

Revenues and profit margins of the Group from the trading
segment have been relatively stable in the past and trading
volume is the key determiner of the profitability of the segment.
The Group anticipates that the trading business will pick
up gradually. The Group will cautiously explore the trading
business in Hong Kong and China. The Group will reinforce
our risk management policy and will proactive in adopting
timely measures to balance its risk and return in the long run.
The Group competes by offering trading terms that are more
favourable to its suppliers and vendors compared to the Group’s
competitors.

Research and development

The Clinical Trial testing of the Product for the first group has
commenced in July 2020. The situations which disrupted the
progress as discussed in last year annual report have been
improved.

To further ensure that the Product will be able to commercialise
by first quarter of 2026, the Group will work closely with the
CRO and strengthen the project team so that relevant personnel
of the project team will regularly monitor the progress and make
regular reports to the management of the Company so as to
ensure the In-process R&D can be completed according to the
Group’s schedule.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Capital structure

Authorised: JATE

50,000,000,000 ordinary shares of

Management Discussion and Analysis
EEE DT uﬁﬂ& Tﬁ

B %5 [ R
ERERE

31 March
2024
—E-NNE

31 March
2023
—s=-=
=A=+—H
HK$’000
TE T

=HA=+-—H
HK$’000
FHET

50,000,000,000 % & f% H {50.01

HK$0.01 each (the “Shares”) Bz L@k (TiRm)) 500,000 500,000
Issued and fully paid: BERITEEHT:
1,723,193,024 Shares 1,723,193,024 8% f& 15 17,232 14,642
Liquidity and financial resources RBEETRMKEER

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had bank and cash balances
of approximately HK$3.1 million (31 March 2023: approximately
HK$1.3 million).

As at 31 March 2024, total borrowings of the Group were
approximately HK$1,054.2 million (31 March 2023: approximately
HK$1,236.5 million) which reflected the debt value of the
Company’s unconverted convertible bonds, lease liabilities,
amounts due to non-controlling interests, amounts due to former
non-controlling interest, loan from a substantial shareholder,
amount due to a former associate, loan from a former associate
and loan from a non-controlling interest.

The ratio of current assets to current liabilities of the Group was
0.03 as at 31 March 2024 as compared to the 0.01 as at 31
March 2023. The Group’s gearing ratio as at 31 March 2024 was
0.77 (81 March 2023: 0.90) which is calculated based on the
Group’s total liabilities of approximately HK$1,063.6 million (31
March 2023: approximately HK$1,243.5 million) and the Group’s
total assets of approximately HK$1,383.0 million (31 March
2023: approximately HK$1,384.0 million).

The Group places importance on security, short-term
commitment, and availability of the surplus cash and cash
equivalents.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (coniinueq)

Significant acquisition and investments
The Group had no significant investments, nor had it made any
material acquisition or disposal of the Group’s subsidiaries or
associated companies during the Financial Period.

Charges on the Group’s assets
As at 31 March 2024, the Group and the Company did not have
any charges on their assets (31 March 2023: nil).

Foreign exchange exposure

The monetary assets and liabilities and businesses of the Group
are mainly conducted in Hong Kong Dollars, Renminbi, and
United States Dollars. The Group maintains a prudent strategy
in its foreign exchange risk management, with the foreign
exchange risk being minimised through balancing the foreign
currency monetary assets against foreign currency monetary
liabilities, and foreign currency revenue against foreign currency
expenditure. The Group did not use any financial instruments to
hedge against foreign currency risk during the Financial Year.
The Group will continue to monitor its foreign currency exposure
closely and consider hedging foreign currency exposure should
the need arise.

Number and numeration of employees

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had 20 full time employees
(81 March 2023: 22), most of whom work in the Company’s
subsidiaries in the PRC. It is the Group’s policy that the
remuneration of employees and Directors are in line with
the market and commensurate with their responsibilities.
Discretionary year- end bonuses are payable to the employees
based on individual performance. Other employee benefits
include medical insurance, retirement schemes, training
programmes, and education subsidies.

Total staff costs including the Directors’ remuneration for
the Financial Year amounts to approximately HK$6.1 million
(Previous Financial Year: approximately HK$6.3 million).

Segment information
Detalls of the segment information are set out in note 7 to the
oonsohdated financial statements.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
THE COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the Financial Year, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s
listed securities.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules as the code
of conduct regarding Directors’ securities transactions. All
Directors have confirmed that they have fully complied with the
Model Code throughout the Financial Year. No incident of non-
compliance was noted by the Company in the Financial Year.

Tang Rong
Executive Director

Hong Kong, 28 June 2024
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Gao Yuan Xing, aged 69, has been appointed as an
executive director with effect from 4 January 2016. From 15
March 2011 to 4 January 2016, Mr. Gao was the chairman and
executive director of North Mining Shares Company Limited,
a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.
Mr. Gao previously worked in the foreign affairs office of
the Shanghai Municipal Government, and has had senior
management roles in numerous international, PRC investment,
and commercial companies.

Mr. Tang Rong, aged 57, has been appointed as an executive
director with effect from 29 September 2014. Mr. Tang
graduated from Fudan University in the People’s Republic
of China in July 1989 with a bachelor’s degree in science,
majoring in genetics and genetic engineering. He has been
an engineer of The Institute of Genetics of Fudan University
from November 1989 and has extensive experience in genetics
related technology development, commercialization and market
development. Mr. Tang successfully filed several patents in
China and published papers in many science magazines in
genetics related subjects. He was invited as the member of the
Committee of Experts of /88 RE AR F#FbT (Shanghai
Lianzhong Institute of Gene Technology) in 2000. Starting from
November 2010, Mr. Tang was appointed as the director of Gene
Testing Research and Development Department of Longmark
(Shanghai) Healthcare Limited and he has professional expertise
in gene testing and research and development.

Mr. Cheng Tak Yiu, aged 49, graduated from the University of
Hong Kong with Bachelor of Engineering Degree in Computer
Engineering. Mr. Cheng started his career as an auditor in
an international accounting firm. Subsequently, Mr. Cheng
entered into research industry and had worked in a number
of international financial services companies including CLSA,
Credit Suisse First Boston, BNP Paribas Peregrine, Deutsche
Bank and T. Rowe Price International. From 20 January 2021
to 24 May 2021, Mr. Cheng was the executive director of Value
Convergence Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 821), a company
listed on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. Currently,
Mr. Cheng is the Chief Financial Officer of Golden Ally LifeTech
Group, Inc, a company listed in the OTC market in United State.
Mr. Cheng is an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and is admitted as a charterholder
of the CFA Institute.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Jiang Nian, aged 70, has been appointed as a non-
executive director and chairman of the Company with effect
from 21 December 2010 and 10 June 2011 respectively. Ms.
Jiang is a member of the remuneration committee and the
chairman of nomination committee of the Company. Ms. Jiang
graduated from ZHEHFEHR RKEEEHRER (Junior College,
Provincial Campus of Anhui Radio and Television University) in
August 1986, majoring in Chinese Language and Literature. Ms.
Jiang was the Associate Dean of the School of Life Sciences of
Fudan University from June 2003 to April 2010. She also serves
as an authorised representative of Bt & EE £ B #H G R A7)
(United Gene Biomedical Limited). She has extensive experience
in general administrative management particularly in the field of
genomic research.

Ms. Xiao Yan, aged 44, has been appointed as a non-executive
director with effect from 22 May 2012. Ms. Xiao graduated
from the Shanghai University of Finance and Economics with a
bachelor’s degree in Accounting in 2007. Ms. Xiao has served
as an administrative manager of the chief executive, Dr. Xie,
in BtA&EZER AR AR (United Gene Technology Holdings
Limited) since 2002. Ms. Xiao has extensive experience in
medical services and general administration. From December
2011 to November 2012, she served as the finance manager
of CNL (Pinghu), which is an indirectly owned subsidiary of the
Company.

Ms. Wu Yanmin, aged 47, has been appointed as a non-
executive director with effect from 8 June 2011. Ms. Wu
graduated from the School of Life Sciences, Shanghai University
in 1999 with a bachelor’s degree in biochemistry. Ms. Wu joined
& E A F K AR A [ (United Gene Technology Holdings
Limited), a genetic engineering company substantially owned by
Dr. Mao Yumin (“Dr. Mao”) indirectly, in 2001 and was responsible
for general administrative duties. Since 2006, Ms. Wu has served
as an assistant to the chairman of United Gene Holdings Limited,
and is responsible for assisting the chairman in handling various
investment projects. Ms. Wu has extensive experience in general
administrative and investment management. Starting from
December 2012, she was appointed as the finance manager of
CNL (Pinghu).
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Chen Weijun, aged 66, has been appointed as an
independent non-executive director with effect from 6 November
2009 and is the chairman of the audit committee of the
Company. Ms. Chen is currently the manager in the business
department of Shanghai Ruihe Certified Public Accountants Co.,
Ltd.. She was formerly the finance supervisor of the companies
indirectly owned by Dr. Mao from April 2001 to June 2003. She
graduated from the Chinese Communist Party Central Party
College and has been a registered accountant in the PRC since
2005. She has more than 30 years of experience in accounting,
finance and audit services.

Mr. Wang Rongliang, aged 75, has been appointed as an
independent non-executive director with effect from 8 June
2011 and is a member of the audit committee, the remuneration
committee and the nomination committee of the Company.
Mr. Wang graduated from L£/8M &% — B8 T X2 (Shanghai
First Commercial Bureau Staff College) majoring in business
and economics. He acted as a deputy manager of £/t H &

£ HF R A7F (Shanghai 700 Group Advertising Company
Limited) from 1996 to 2005. Mr. Wang has extensive experience
in operation and administrative management.

Mr. Chen Jinzhong, aged 59, has been appointed as an
independent non-executive director with effect from 1 February
2021 and is a member of the audit committee, the remuneration
committee and nomination committee of the Company,
Mr. Chen holds a bachelor’'s degree in clinical medicine from
the Central South University and a master’s degree in genetics
from the Huazhong University of Science and Technology. He
obtained his Doctor of Philosophy degree in genetics from
Fudan University. He was an assistant professor at Changjiang
University from 1991 to 1998 and an assistant professor at
Fudan University from 2004 to 2006. He has been an associate
professor at Fudan University from 2006 and up to the present.
Mr. Chen has over 25 years of experience in the genetics field
and in research and development.

Save as otherwise disclosed, there is no relationship between
any members of the Board, and no information relating to the
directors which is required to be disclosed pursuant to Rules
13.51(2) and 13.51(B)(1) of the Listing Rules.
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MANAGEMENT

Mr. Poon Hon Yin, aged 58, has been appointed as the
company secretary, financial controller and an authorised
representative of the Company with effect from 14 May 2013.
On 20 June 2023, Mr. Poon has been appointed as independent
non-executive director of Yu Tak International Holdings Limited,
a company listed on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (stock code: 8048). Mr. Poon is qualified as a Certified
Public Accountant registered with the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and is also a fellow member of the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants. Mr. Poon has
been a managing director of Probiz CPA Limited since 2006.

Management Profile
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External Consultant Profile

SIS R B R

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

Dr. Mao Yumin, aged 72, has been engaged as the chief
scientific adviser and honorary chairman of the Company since
1 September 2010, responsible for providing advisory and
consultancy services to the Group in relation to the research
and development of its genetic testing products and other
scientific technologies. Dr. Mao is a substantial shareholder of
the Company. He was a member of the Consultant Committee
of Fudan University, the dean of the School of Life Sciences
and Institute of Genetics of Fudan University, and the director
of State Key Laboratory of Genetic Engineering in Fudan
University. Dr. Mao’s main area of research focuses on biological
and genetic engineering. Dr. Mao has accumulated extensive
experiences in operations in the genomic research based
industry.
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Corporate Governance Report

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of
corporate governance and firmly believes that maintaining a
good, solid and sensible framework of corporate governance
will help ensure that the Company’s business is run in the best
interests of its shareholders as a whole.

During the Financial Year, the Company adopted and has
complied with all the code provisions as set out in the Corporate
Governance Code as set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules
(the “Code”) except for the deviations discussed below.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in
Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules as the code of conduct
regarding directors’ securities transactions. All directors have
confirmed that they have fully complied with the Model Code
throughout the Financial Year. No incident of non-compliance
was noted by the Company in the Financial Year. Relevant
employees who are likely to be in possession of unpublished
inside information of the Group are also subject to compliance
with written guidance on no less exacting terms than the Model
Code throughout the Financial Year.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The composition of the Board during the Financial Year are set
out below:

Executive directors

Mr. Gao Yuan Xing

Mr. Tang Rong

Mr. Cheng Tak Yiu (appointed on 4 July 2023)

Non-executive directors
Ms. Jiang Nian (Chairman)

Ms. Xiao Yan

Ms. Wu Yanmin

Independent non-executive directors
Ms. Chen Weijun

Mr. Wang Rongliang

Mr. Chen Jinzhong

Further details of the composition of the Board are set out in the
section headed “Management Profile” on pages 20 to 23.
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Corporate Governance Report
rEERWE

The Board considers the balance between executive directors
and non-executive directors is adequate to safeguard the
Shareholders’ interests. Independent non-executive directors
can also provide the Group with diversified expertise and
valuable experience. Their independent advice can bring
independent judgment to the decision making of the Board and
bring new ideas to the formulation of corporate strategy.

The Board shall at all times comprise at least three independent
non-executive directors that represent at least one-third of
the Board, such that there is always a strong element of
independence on the Board which can effectively exercise
independent judgement. Each independent non-executive
director is required to provide an annual confirmation of his
independence to the Company and the nomination committee
of the Company is responsible to assess the independence and
time commitment of each independent non-executive director at
least annually.

All the directors, including the independent non-executive
directors, are given equal opportunity and channels to
communicate and express their views to the Board and have
separate and independent access to the management of the
Group in order to make informed decisions. To facilitate proper
discharge of their duties, all the directors are entitled to seek
advice from the company secretary of the Company or, upon
reasonable request, seek independent professional advice at
the Company’s expense. The chairman of the Board will hold
meetings with the independent non-executive directors without
the involvement of other directors at least annually to discuss
any issues and concerns.

Any director or his associate who has a conflict of interest in
a matter to be considered by the Board will be dealt with by
a physical Board meeting rather than by written resolutions.
Such director will be required to declare his interests before the
meeting and abstain from voting and not counted towards the
quorum on the relevant resolutions. Independent non-executive
directors who, and whose associates, have no interest in the
matter should attend the Board meeting.
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The directors oversee the financial performance and formulate
business strategies and determine the corporate governance
policy of the Group, as well as discuss any significant matters
relating to the Group at the Board meetings. Daily operational
matters are delegated to the management of the Group. The
Board meets regularly to review the financial and operating
performance of the Company and considers and approves the
overall strategies and policies of the Group. During the Financial
Year, the Board held 10 meetings. The attendance of each
member at the Board meeting is set out as follows:

Executive directors BITES

Mr. Gao Yuan Xing =R B S A

Mr. Tang Rong BREAE

Mr. Cheng Tak Yiu HEREE
Non-executive directors FHITES

Ms. Jiang Nian (Chairman) BEZE(EE)
Ms. Xiao Yan EPo8 un

Ms. Wu Yanmin SRR s+
Independent non-executive BYFHITES

directors

Ms. Chen Weijun BRIEA X+

Mr. Wang Rongliang TERBEE

Mr. Chen Jinzhong BREFEE

All directors, including independent non-executive directors,
have given sufficient time and effort to the affairs of the Group.

Code provision C.2.1

Code provision C.2.1 stipulate that the roles of chairman and
chief executive should be separate and should not be performed
by the same individual.

Ms. Jiang Nian is the chairman of the Group. As at the date of
this annual report, no suitable candidate for the role of chief
executive officer has been identified and the role remains
vacant. The Company is continually looking for a suitable person
to assume this role.
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INDUCTION AND PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

Directors’ training

All directors must keep abreast of their collective responsibilities
as directors and of the business and activities of the Group. As
such, briefings are provided and organised to ensure that newly
appointed directors are familiar with the role of the Board, their
legal and other duties and responsibilities as director as well as
the business and corporate governance practices of the Group.

Pursuant to Code C.1.4 of the Code, directors should participate
in continuous professional development to develop and
refresh their knowledge and skills. This is to ensure that their
contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant. For the
period from 1 April 2023 to 31 March 2024, all directors have
participated in appropriate continuous professional development
activities by ways of attending training or reading material
relevant to the Company’s business or to the directors’ duties
and responsibilities.

For the year ended 31 March 2024, trainings received by each
director are summarised as follows:

Mr. Gao Yuan Xing =R B A&
Mr. Tang Rong EREE
Mr. Cheng Tak Yiu EERTE
Ms. Jiang Nian Bzt
Ms. Xiao Yan Huk&Z L
Ms. Wu Yanmin SRE G+
Ms. Chen Weijun PRIEE 2+
Mr. Wang Rongliang FTERBRE
Mr. Chen Jinzhong BRE LA
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company formulated written terms of reference for the
remuneration committee of the Company (the “Remuneration
Committee”) in accordance with the requirements of the
Listing Rules. The Remuneration Committee was set up on 30
June 2008. The majority of the members of the Remuneration
Committee shall be independent non-executive directors.

The primary functions of the Remuneration Committee are as
follows:

(@) to advise the Shareholders on whether the terms of service
contracts that require the Shareholder’s approval are fair
and reasonable;

(b) to make recommendation to the Board on the Group’s
remuneration policy and structure;

(c) to establish guidelines for recruitment of members of the
senior management;

(d) to determine the remuneration of members of the senior
management; and

(e) to formulate remuneration policy and make recommendations
to the Board on annual remuneration review.

Remuneration of the directors and senior management is reviewed
and fixed by the Remuneration Committee, with reference to
the market benchmarks and industry norms, and their duties
and responsibilities in the Group, having regard to the expertise,
performance and experience possessed by individual directors.

Corporate Governance Report
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For the year ended 31 March 2024, one meeting of the
Remuneration Committee was held. The work performed by the
Remuneration Committee during the year ended 31 March 2024
includes but not limited to (i) review the remuneration policy
for the year ended 31 March 2024; (i) review the remuneration
package of the directors including the remuneration of the
independent non-executive director who was renewed the
service contact during the year (iii) review the terms of reference
of Remuneration Committee, make recommendation on the
remuneration of the Directors and senior management for
Board’s approval. The attendance of each member at the
committee meeting is set out as follows:

Non-executive director HTES

Ms. Jiang Nian BFERL

Independent non-executive directors BIYkHITES

Mr. Wang Rongliang TEREBRE
(Chairman of the Remuneration Committee) (WL Eg

Mr. Chen Jinzhong BRE& L

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established a nomination committee of the
Company (the “Nomination Committee”) on 16 March 2012.

The major role and function of the Nomination Committee are to
formulate and implement the policy for nominating candidates
for consideration by the Board and election by shareholders,
review the structure, size and composition of the Board with due
regard to Board diversity, and to assess the independence of
non-executive directors.
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The Nomination Committee adopted a board diversity policy that
set out the Group’s approach to diversify members of the Board
and the Group holds the view that this board diversity policy
will lead to a Board with diverse perspectives. Factors that will
be considered in the assessment of the diversity of a director’s
perspective include, but are not limited to, gender, age, culture,
skill, knowledge, educational background and professional
experience. Presently, the Board comprises of nine directors,
of which three are independent non-executive directors, with
significant diversity in gender, age, professional experience,
educational and cultural background, skills, knowledge and
length of service.

The Nomination Committee has adopted a nomination policy
guiding the nomination criteria and procedures to identify, select
and recommend candidates for directorship.

The Nomination Committee shall consider a number of
nomination criteria in assessing the suitability of a proposed
candidate for directorship or proposed re-appointment of
a retiring director, including but not limited to: the skills,
knowledge and experience possessed by the candidate or
retiring director which are relevant to the Group’s business,
corporate development and strategy; the diversity perspectives
set out in the Board Diversity Policy and the balance of skills
and experience in board composition; the level of independence
from the Company and compliance of the relevant requirements
under the Listing Rules; and such other factors the Nomination
Committee may consider relevant to enhancement of the
effectiveness of the Board.

Subject to the provisions in the Company’s bye-laws, where the
Nomination Committee determines that an additional director
or a replacement director is required, it may take appropriate
steps in connection with the identification and evaluation of a
suitable candidate for directorship. The Nomination Committee
may deploy channels including referral from directors, advisers
of the Company and external executive search firms in the
identification process, evaluate a candidate based on the
nomination criteria stated above, and make recommendation for
the Board’s consideration and approval.

For re-appointment of a retiring director, the Nomination
Committee reviews his/her service to the Company, the level of
participation on the Board during his/her term, and after taking
into account the nomination criteria, recommends to the Board
for proposed re-appointment of the retiring director who wishes
to stand for re-election at the Company’s general meeting.
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TEERRE

The Nomination Committee may also propose to the Board
a candidate recommended or offered for nomination by a
shareholder of the Company as a nominee for election to the
Board, if it evaluates that the candidate meets the nomination
criteria. The procedures for shareholders to propose a person
for election as a director are published in the Company’s
website.

The Board has the ultimate responsibility for selection and
appointment of directors. On accepting the recommendation
made by the Nomination Committee, the Board may (as the case
may be) appoint the candidate as director to fill a casual vacancy
or as an addition to the Board and recommend the candidate to
shareholders for election or re-election (for a retiring director) at
the general meeting.

For the year ended 31 March 2024, one meeting of Nomination
Committee was held to review the composition of the Board
and its committees as well as the background and experiences
of the Board members, evaluate the contributions of the Board
members to the Board diversity, make recommendation to
the Board on the re-appointment of Directors, evaluate the
independence of independent non-executive Directors, and
review the board diversity policy. The attendance of each
member at the committee meeting is set out as follows:

Non-executive director FHTES

Ms. Jiang Nian BFERL
(Chairman of the Nomination Committee) (BEZEE

Independent non-executive directors BYkHITES

Mr. Wang Rongliang TERBEE

Mr. Chen Jinzhong BRE L
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company formulated written terms of reference for the
audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”) in
accordance with the requirements of the Listing Rules. The Audit
Committee is composed of three independent non-executive
directors. At least one of the members of the Audit Committee
has appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or
related financial management expertise as required under the
Listing Rules.

The primary functions of the Audit Committee are as follows:

(@) to serve as a focal point for communication between the
directors and external auditors;

(b) to assist the Board in fulfilling its responsibility by providing
an independent review with the management of the
accounting policies and practices adopted by the Group,
and supervision of financial reporting, and monitoring and
reviewing the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control
and the adequacy of the external audit;

to review the appointment of external auditors on an
annual basis as well as to ensure continuing auditors
independence;

to develop and monitor the applications of the policies on
the engagement of the external auditors to perform other
professional services (other than tax-related services); and

(e) to oversee the Company’s financial reporting system, risk
management and internal control procedures.

The Group’s consolidated financial statements for the Financial
Year have been reviewed by the Audit Committee.

For the year ended 31 March 2024, three meetings of the
Audit Committee were held. The work performed by Audit
Committee during the year ended 31 March 2024 includes but
not limited to (i) reviewing annual results and annual report
of for the year ended 31 March 2023, interim results and
interim report for the 6 months ended 30 September 2023; (ii)
reviewing the effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control systems of the Group; (iii) reviewing the continuing
connected transactions; (iv) considering the re-appointment of
external auditor of the Company; (v) reviewing the resources
of accounting and financial reporting functions of the Group;
and (vi) reviewing the effectiveness of the Group’s internal audit
function.
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TEERRE

The attendance of each member at the committee meeting is set
out as follows:

Ms. Chen Weijun PRIER X+
(Chairman of the Audit Committee) ( ERLEE

Mr. Wang Rongliang BERRESE

Mr. Chen Jinzhong ﬁ{ﬁﬁ??ﬁi

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
consolidated financial statements of the Group.

The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced, clear
and understandable assessment of the annual reports, inside
information announcements and other financial disclosure
required by the Listing Rules and other regulatory requirements.

The management of the Company has provided such
explanation and information to the Board as necessary to enable
the Board to carry out an informed assessment of the financial
information and position of the Group in order to put forward
such information to the Board for approval.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The Group’s external auditor is Elite Partners CPA Limited. For
the Financial Year, the auditor of the Company had performed
audit services and their remuneration in respect of audit services
was HK$900,000.

There was no non-audit services provided by the auditor of the
Company.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for performing the following corporate
governance duties as required under the Code:

(@@ to develop and review the Company’s policies
and practices on corporate governance and make
recommendations to the board;

to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of directors and senior
management;

to review and monitor the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements;

to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
directors; and

to review the Company’s compliance with the code
and disclosure in the corporate governance report (the
“Corporate Governance Report”).

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board has the overall responsibility for maintaining a sound
and effective risk management and internal control systems
to safeguard the Shareholders’ interests, and to review the
effectiveness of such systems regularly. The risk management
and internal control systems include defined management
structure with limits of authority set at various levels, which is
designed to safeguard assets, ensure the maintenance of proper
records, provide reliable financial information for internal use or
publication, and ensure compliance with regulations. During the
Financial Year, the Board has conducted an annual review of the
internal control procedures of the Group and consider the risk
management and internal control systems to be adequate and
effective.

The Group’s internal audit function is performed by an
outsourced internal audit team, which reports directly to the
Audit Committee.

The report provided internal audit findings and any action
to be taken by management as a result. These findings and
recommendations for improvement will be communicated
to the respective management for their responses and
corrective actions. The Group’s management team monitors
the implementation of its recommendations and reports the
outcome to the Audit Committee.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Code provision F.1.1 stipulate that the Company should
have a policy on payment of dividends. The Company has not
established a dividend policy as the Company considers it more
appropriate to determine a dividend payment after taking into
account those factors including the Company’s then financial
performance, operating and capital requirements and market
conditions, to enable the Company be in a better position to
cope with its future development, which is to the best interest of
the Company and its shareholders as a whole.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Poon Hon Yin is the Company Secretary and has day-to-day
knowledge of the Company’s affairs. The Company Secretary
reports to the Chairman and is responsible for advising the
Board on governance matters. Mr. Poon has taken no less than
15 hours of relevant professional training during the year.

BOARD DIVERSITY

To enhance the effectiveness of the Board and to maintain the
high standard of corporate governance, we have adopted the
board diversity policy which sets out the objective and approach
to achieve and maintain diversity of the Board. Pursuant to
board diversity policy, we seek to achieve board diversity by
taking into consideration of various factors, including but not
limited to professional experience, skills, knowledge, gender,
age, cultural and education background, ethnicity and length of
service with the Company.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for ensuring the
diversity of the Board members. The Nomination Committee
will review the board diversity policy and the diversity profile
(including gender balance) from time to time to ensure its
continued effectiveness. We will also disclose in the corporate
governance report about the implementation of the board
diversity policy on an annual basis.

We are also committed to adopting similar approach to promote
diversity, including but not limited to gender diversity, at all other
levels of the Company from the Board downwards to enhance
the effectiveness of the corporate governance as a whole. For
the year ended 31 March 2024, there are 4 female Directors out
of 9 Directors, representing approximately 44% of the Board.
Furthermore, the workforce of the Company, including senior
management, totalling 20 employees, of which approximately
60% are male and 40% are female. The Board considers that it
has sufficient diversity in terms of gender.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

(i)

(ii)

Procedures for convening of a special general
meeting and putting forward proposals at

shareholders’ meeting

Shareholders are encouraged to attend all general
meetings. Pursuant to the bye-laws of the Company, any
one or more shareholders holding at the date of deposit
of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up
capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at
general meetings of the Company shall at all times have
the right, by written requisition (the “Written Requisition”)
to the Board or the Secretary of the Company at the
principal place of business in Hong Kong of the Company
(at Unit No. 2002, 20/F On Hong Commercial Building,
145 Hennessy Road, Wan Chai, Hong Kong), to require a
special general meeting to be called by the Board for the
transaction of any business specified in such requisition;
and such meeting shall be held within two (2) months after
the deposit of such requisition.

Pursuant to the bye-laws of the Company, an annual
general meeting shall be called by a written notice of not
less than twenty-one (21) days. All other general meeting
and any special general meeting at which the passing of a
special resolution is to be considered shall be called by a
written notice of not less than fourteen (14) days.

If within twenty-one (21) days of such deposit the
Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting the
requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in
accordance with the provision of Section 74(3) of the
Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda.

Procedures for directing enquiries to the
Company

To direct enquiries to the Board, Shareholders should
submit his/her/its enquiries in writing with contact details
(including, registered name, address and telephone
number, etc.) to the Company Secretary at the following:

By post to the head office and principal place of business
in Hong Kong at Unit No. 2002, 20/F On Hong Commercial
Building, 145 Hennessy Road, Wan Chai, Hong Kong.

Tel: (852) 2598 6818
Fax: (852) 2598 6628
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TEERRE

(iii) Matters relating to share registration

(iv)

For share registration related matters, such as share
transfer and registration, change of name and address
of Shareholders, loss of share certificates or dividend
warrants, Shareholders can contact the Hong Kong branch
share registrar and transfer office at the following:

17/F, Far East Finance Centre,
16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong
Tel: (852) 2810 8185
Fax: (852) 2980 1333

Procedures for a shareholder to propose a

person for election as a director

Subject to the provisions of the Company’s bye-laws, the
Shareholders may from time to time in general meeting by
Ordinary Resolution elect any person to be a director either
to fill a casual vacancy or as an additional director.

Shareholder(s) may propose a person other than an
existing director of the Company for election as a director
at a general meeting. The Shareholder(s) must deposit a
written notice (the “Notice”) to the principal office of the
Company in Hong Kong for the attention of the Company
Secretary.

The Shareholder(s) must prove his/her/their shareholding in
the Company.

The Notice must be signed by the Shareholder(s) (other
than a person to be proposed) and shall be accompanied
by the following information and documents:

the full name and the contact information of the
Shareholder(s);

the contact details, age and the full name of the
person proposed for election as a director of the
Company;

biographical details of the person proposed for
election as required by Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing
Rules;

letter of consent signed by the person proposed to be
elected that he or she consents to be director of the
Company, if elected.
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The Notice and the abovementioned information
and documents must be lodged with the Company
commencing from the day after despatch of the notice of
the general meeting and ending no later than seven (7)
days prior to the date of such general meeting.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company endeavours to uphold a high level of corporate
transparency. Keeping Shareholders, investors, analysts,
bankers and other stakeholders informed of its corporate
strategies and business operations has been one of the key
objectives of its investor relations team.

CONSTITUTION DOCUMENTS

On 30 August 2023, a special resolution to approve the
proposed amendments to the bye-laws of the Company and the
adoption of the amended and restated bye-laws of the Company
was passed.
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Report of the Directors
EEERE

The directors hereby submit their report with the audited
consolidated financial statements for the Financial Year.

PLACE OF INCORPORATION

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman lIslands as an
exempted company with limited liability under the Companies
Law (as revised) of the Cayman lIslands and continued in
Bermuda as an exempted company with limited liability in
accordance with the Companies Act 1981 (as amended) of
Bermuda. The address of its registered office is at Clarendon
House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda and its
principal place of business in Hong Kong is Unit No. 2002, 20/F
On Hong Commercial Building, 145 Hennessy Road, Wan Chai,
Hong Kong.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 29 to the
consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the businesses of the Group during the year and
a discussion on the Group’s future business development is
provided in the section headed “Management Discussion and
Analysis” in this annual report.

An analysis of the Group’s performance during the year ended
31 March 2024 using financial performance indicators is
provided in the section headed “Management Discussion and
Analysis” on pages 6 to 19 of this annual report.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

The Group’s financial condition, results of operations,
businesses and prospects may be affected by a number of
risks and uncertainties. The followings are the key risks and
uncertainties identified by the Group. There may be other risks
and uncertainties in addition to those shown below which are
not known to the Group or which may not be material now but
could turn out to be material in the future.
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Business Risk

Certain of the business segments in which the Group operates
are subject to the overall economic growth of the PRC, which
is subject to ever-changing economic policy changes of the
PRC government. Any adverse changes in economic policies of
the PRC government could materially and adversely affect the
Group’s business.

The valuation of the intangible asset of the Group is tied to the
Group’s ability to successfully complete the development and
commercialisation of the Product and the policy of medical
examination and the medical policy. As at the date of this report,
the Product is still in the research and development stage,
uncertainty as to when the product can be launched exits. In
addition, commercialisation is subject to uncertainty and risks
arising from the results of the clinical trial of the Product and the
assessment of the National Medical Products Administration.
These factors may be beyond the control of the Group. Any
delay or failure in the Group’s ability to do so may adversely
affect the Group’s business and financial performance.

Operational Risk

Operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from inadequate
or failed internal processes, people and systems or from
external events. Responsibility for managing operational risks
basically rests with every function at divisional and departmental
levels. The Group recognises that operational risks cannot
be eliminated completely and that it may not always be cost
effective to do so.

Key functions in the Group are guided by their operating
procedures, limits of authority and reporting framework. The
Group will identify and assess key operational exposures from
time to time and report such risk issues to senior management
as early as possible so that appropriate risk response can be
taken.

Financial Risk
The financial risk management of the Group are set out in note
31 to the consolidated financial statements.
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Report of the Directors
BEEgWE

RESULTS AND FINANCIAL POSITION

The results of the Group for the Financial Year are set out
in the consolidated statement of profit and loss and other
comprehensive income on pages 60 to 61. The directors do not
recommend the payment of a final dividend for the Financial
Year. There is no arrangement that a shareholder of the
Company has waived or agreed to waive any dividend.

The state of affairs of the Group as at 31 March 2024 are set out
in the consolidated statement of financial position on pages 62
to 63.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
THE COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the Financial Year, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s
listed securities.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company during
the year are set out in note 26 to the consolidated financial
statements. Share were issued during the year on exercise of
convertible bonds.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group during
the Financial Year are set out in the consolidated statement
of changes in equity on pages 64 to 65. There were no
distributable reserves of the Company at 31 March 2024 (31
March 2023: Nil).

CONVERTIBLE BONDS

Details of the movements in convertible bonds issued by
the Group are set out in note 25 to consolidated financial
statements.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the Financial Year and up
to the date of this annual report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Gao Yuan Xing

Mr. Tang Rong

Mr. Cheng Tak Yiu (appointed on 4 July 2023)

Non-executive Directors
Ms. Jiang Nian (Chairman)

Ms. Xiao Yan

Ms. Wu Yanmin

Mr. Gao Yuan Xing, Mr. Tang Rong and Ms. Jiang Nian are also
directors in certain subsidiaries of the Company.

Independent non-executive Directors
Ms. Chen Weijun

Mr. Wang Rongliang

Mr. Chen Jinzhong

In accordance with the bye-laws of the Company, one third of
the directors for the time being shall be subject to retirement
by rotation at least once every three years. Accordingly, Ms.
Jiang Nian, Ms. Xiao Yan and Ms. Wu Yanmin shall retire and,
being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting had a service contract that was not
determinable by the Group within one year without payment of
compensation (other than statutory compensation).

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Brief biographical details of the directors and senior
management are set out on pages 20 to 23 of this annual
report.
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Report of the Directors

e S S

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES

As at 31 March 2024, the interests or short positions of the
directors, chief executive of the Company or their associates in
any Shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company
or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part
XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”)) which were
required to be recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under Section 352 of the SFO, or which is otherwise
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code were as follows:

Name of director

Capacity

ESHR

Tang Rong Beneficial owner
EH EaEAA

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2024, none of the
directors, chief executive of the Company nor their associates
had any interests or short positions in any Shares, underlying
shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), which
were required to be recorded in the register by the Company
required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or which is
otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ AND CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in note 28 to the consolidated financial
statements, no other contract of significance, to which the
Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a
director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the Financial Year or at any time
during the Financial Year, nor was there any other contract of
significance in relation to the Group’s business between the
Company or any of the Company’s subsidiaries and a controlling
Shareholder or any of its subsidiaries.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

No contracts concerning the management and administration
of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company were entered into or in existence during the Financial
Year.
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EEeRE
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND FERRREMATRROR
OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND HERDZ2EZER AR

SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND

UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 March 2024, the register of interests and short R-Z-_MWNH&E=F=+—H RBEZFEHEK
positions in the shares and underlying shares of the Company Hi & &l 5336117 & 2 AR 7 ix 19 M 48
kept under Section 336 of the SFO showed that, the following RBIRRH 2w M AR ELMAH - T7E
entities had an interest or deemed interest of 5% or more in the EBRANRAF DT AREL KR B
issued share capital of the Company: B5% A FiEas

Long positions in the issued share capital of the RAEAFRNECBRITREAZEFR
Company

Number of Percentage of
shares/  Long (L) or the issued
underlying Short (S) share capital of
Name of shareholders Capacity shares held position the Company
R NG
BEEZRG/ BRI
RRE® g6 HBERGHE i REBD
Dr. Mao Yumin (note 1) Beneficial owner 1,047,200,000 L 60.77%
EREEL (1) EG&AA
Interest of a controlled corporation 82,770,810 L 4.80%
REHEE 2
United Gene Holdings Limited (note 1) Interest of a controlled corporation 82,770,810 L 4.80%
BeERZERERRR (M) REGEEz E R
Blowindow Gene Development Interest of a controlled corporation 75,000,000 L 4.35%

(Hong Kong) Limited (note 1) (K 7E1)  S#E#IEE 2

JNJ Investments Limited (note 1) (i 5£1)  Beneficial owner 55,000,000 L 3.19%
ERBEBA
Interest of a controlled corporation 20,000,000 L 1.16%
REHEE  #

Dr. Xie Yi (note 2) Interest of a controlled corporation 82,770,810 L 4.80%
MR EL (fsE2) REtEE R

Ease Gold Investments Limited Interest of a controlled corporation 82,770,810 L 4.80%
(note 2) (i #2) R ER

Good Links Limited (note 3) (K 5£3) Interest of a controlled corporation 7,770,810 L 0.45%
SEHEE s

Victory Trend Limited (note 3) (fff 7£3) Interest of a controlled corporation 7,770,810 L 0.45%
REHEE 2 #

Best Champion Holdings Limited (note 4)  Interest of a controlled corporation 7,770,810 (5 0.45%
SEERER AR (i 5H4) RERHEE Es
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Name of shareholders

BR&®

China United Gene Investment
Holdings Limited
(note 5) (KT 5E5)

s

Capacity

54

Beneficial owner

ERfEA

Chau Yiu Ting Beneficial owner
B2 i EnBEAA
Notes:

1.

These include (i) 427,200,000 ordinary shares held by Dr. Mao directly;
(i) 620,000,000 and 20,000,000 derivative shares held by Dr. Mao and
United Gene International Holdings Group Limited respectively, which
shall be issued by the Company upon exercise of the conversion rights
attached to the convertible bonds in an aggregate principal amount of
HK$256,000,000 issued by the Company; (iii) 55,000,000 ordinary shares
held through JNJ Investments Limited (“UNJ”), JNJ is an wholly-owned
subsidiary of Blowindow Gene Development (Hong Kong) Limited which
is also an wholly-owned subsidiary of United Gene Group Limited, which
is in turn owned as to 33% by United Gene Holdings Limited. United
Gene International Holdings Group Limited is wholly-owned by JNJ; (iii)
7,770,810 ordinary shares held through China United Gene Investment
Holdings Limited, which is held as to 60% by Best Champion Holdings
Limited, and which is in turn held as to 33.5% and 33% by United Gene
Holdings Limited and Victory Trend Limited respectively. Victory Trend
Limited is wholly owned by Good Links Limited. United Gene Holdings
Limited and Good Links Limited are 100% and 50% held by Dr. Mao
respectively.

Ease Gold Investments Limited, is wholly-owned by Dr. Xie Yi (“Dr. Xie”),
which owns 33.50% and 33% equity interests of Best Champion Holdings
Limited and United Gene Group Limited respectively.

Victory Trend Limited is wholly-owned by Good Links Limited, which is in
turn owned as to 50% by Dr. Mao and as to 50% by Dr. Xie. Victory Trend
Limited owns 33.00% equity interests of Best Champion Holdings Limited.

The equity interest of Best Champion Holdings Limited is owned as to
33.50%, 33.50% and 33.00% by United Gene Holdings Limited, Ease
Gold Investments Limited and Victory Trend Limited, respectively.

China United Gene Investment Holdings Limited is owned as to 60% by
Best Champion Holdings Limited.

Save as disclosed above, the directors were not aware of any
other relevant interests or short positions of 5% or more in the
issued share capital of the Company as at 31 March 2024.
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Number of Percentage of
shares/  Long (L) or the issued
underlying Short (S) share capital of
shares held position the Company
RN
BEZRG HEL)R BRI
HERGHE RE(S) REABD
7,770,810 L 0.45%
428,600,000 L 24.87%
B 5
1. 1% % B 4E (i) 3 £ 18 - F # # 5 §9427,200,000
A% i AR (u);ﬁA 7760 AT R AR 1 5 B A 2
BER BADRABETZNERD — A&
43 %8 /3256,000,0008 T 2 AT R EFH - T)
5 Bl & % 18 & # 620,000,000/ & B &
E R E KB R A a # 520,000,000 : (iii)

% B JNJ Investments Limited ([JNJ]) # &
55,000,000 3@ A% - JNJ & Blowindow Gene
Development (Hong Kong) Limited 2 & & [ff &
2 Al » Blowindow Gene Development (Hong
Kong) Limited 75 & United Gene Group Limited
2 & M B 2 & - M United Gene Group
Limited BB A ERIERAR A B H33% °
e ERBERERQBAINIZEEE (i)
B 9L 7 R A BR A A #E 5 60% AR # ) China
United Gene Investment Holdings Limited%ﬁ
27,770,810 LB - BAERIERERRD
K Victory Trend Limited % Bl 3% qﬁ_33.5%&33%
SUEFERB R AT © Victory Trend Limited
fiGood Links Limited2 & # 48 - EE L 55
FAEBAERERAERQFH100% % =5 &
Good Links Limited #150% # # ©

2. Ease Gold Investments Limited (H#3% 18 +
(THELD2EHEB) PREEINERERBRA
7)2.33.50% % # & United Gene Group Limited
Z.33% & HE -

3. Victory Trend Limited 8 Good Links Limited &
LA MGood Links Limited f1 & 8 + K #f
BT DR % ﬁ50% K50% - i Victory Trend
Limited # & $ & 12 IR B R 2 7] 233.00% AR
o

4. EERARAR DA AEEERZERARA
7] + Ease Gold Investments Limited [z Victory
Trend Limited # H33.50% - 33.50% % 33.00%

P #E o
58 China United Gene Investment Holdings
Limited B SLEE IR B IR A R H60% X HE -
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

The Company has received an annual confirmation from
each independent non-executive director confirming his/
her independence pursuant to rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
The Company considers all of the independent non-executive
directors to be independent.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

A summary of the related parties transactions entered into by
the Group during the Financial Year is contained in note 28 to
the consolidated financial statements.

The following transactions between certain connected persons
(as defined in the Listing Rules) and the Group have been
entered into during the Financial Year and/or are ongoing for
which relevant announcements, if necessary, had been made
by the Company in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.

Issue of convertible bonds

On 27 July 20283, the Company and Dr. Mao Yu Min (“Dr. Mao”)
as subscriber entered into the subscription agreement, pursuant
to which the Company has conditionally agreed to issue, and
the subscriber has conditionally agreed to subscribe for, the
convertible bonds in the principal amount of HK$55,500,000.
The convertible bonds shall bear an interest from (and including)
the date of issue at the rate of 0% per annum on the outstanding
principal amount of the convertible bonds. The maturity date
is the tenth anniversary of the date of issue of the convertible
bonds. The initial conversion price for the convertible bonds
shall be HK$0.211 per conversion share.

The subscription price in the amount of HK$55,500,000 payable
by the subscriber under the subscription agreement shall be
satisfied by way of offsetting in full on a dollar-to-dollar basis
against the outstanding aggregate principal amount payable by
the Company to the subscriber under the shareholder’s loans in
the amount of HK$55,500,000.

Amendment as to the terms and conditions of the
convertible bonds

The Company issued certain convertible bonds on 25 October
2013, 27 December 2013, 24 April 2014, 30 August 2014, 31
December 2014 and 30 April 2015. The maturity date of those
convertible bonds falls on the tenth anniversary of the date of
issue.
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On 15 August 2023, those convertible bonds in the aggregate
principal amount of HK$359,600,000 remain outstanding. The
Company and the bondholders, Dr. Mao and his associates,
entered into the deed of amendment pursuant to which the
Company and the bondholders have conditionally agreed to
amend certain terms and conditions of the convertible bonds.
The Company and the bondholders have conditionally agreed to
amend the terms of the convertible bonds to the effect that the
maturity date shall be extended from the tenth anniversary of the
date of issue to the twentieth anniversary of the date of issue.

Save for the Amendment, the terms and conditions of the
convertible bonds remain intact and unchanged.

On 22 December 2023, the Company and the Bondholders
entered into the supplemental deed of amendment (the
“Supplemental Deed”), pursuant to which the parties agreed
to amend and supplement certain terms of the Deed of
Amendment. Details of the principal terms of the Supplemental
Deed are set out below:

1) the conversion price of the convertible bonds due October
2023 (the “First Dr. Mao Bonds”) in the principal amount
of HK$236,800,000 issued by the Company and held
by Dr. Mao, the convertible bonds due December 2023
(the “Second Dr. Mao Bonds”) in the principal amount
of HK$11,200,000 issued by the Company and held by
Dr. Mao and the convertible bonds due December 2023
(the “United Gene Bonds”, together with the First Dr. Mao
Bonds, the Second Dr. Mao Bonds and the United Gene
Bonds, the “Relevant Bonds”) in the principal amount of
HK$8,000,000 issued by the Company and held by United
Gene shall be amended from HK$0.40 to HK$0.202.

2) the maturity date of the convertible bonds due December
2024 in the principal amount of HK$39,600,000 issued by
the Company and held by Dr. Mao, the convertible bonds
due April 2025 in the principal amount of HK$42,000,000
issued by the Company and held by Dr. Mao and the
convertible bonds due April 2025 in the principal amount
of HK$22,000,000 and held by JNJ, shall no longer be
extended.

Dr. Mao is the substantial shareholder of the Company. As
such, the transactions constitute connected transactions of the
Company under rule 14A of the Listing Rules.
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The issue of convertible bonds and the amendment of
convertible bonds were approved in the special general meeting
held on 24 May 2024. All conditions precedent under the
subscription agreement and the deed of amendment have been
fulfiled and the completion of issue of convertible bonds and the
amendment of convertible bonds took place on 21 June 2024.

Continuing connected transactions

Since 31 August 2010, the Company has engaged Dr. Mao
to provide advisory and consultancy services to the Group in
relation to research and development of the Group’s genetic
testing products, and other scientific technologies. In this role,
Dr. Mao is the Company’s chief scientific adviser and currently
receives a monthly service fee of HK$56,000. The previous
agreement with Dr. Mao commenced on 1 September 2019, for
a period of three years, and was renewed on 31 August 2022 for
an additional period of three years, unless terminated earlier in
accordance with the agreement.

To the best knowledge of the directors, there were no other
connected transactions or continuing connected transactions
subsisting during the Financial Year.

INTERESTS IN COMPETITORS

During the Financial Year and up to the date of this report, other
than those businesses of which the directors were appointed
as directors to represent the interests of such businesses, no
director is considered to have had an interest in a business
which competes or is likely to compete, either directly or
indirectly, with the businesses of the Group, pursuant to the
Listing Rules.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy for the employees of the Group is set up
by the management on the basis of their merit, qualifications and
competence.

The emoluments of the directors for the Financial Year are
decided by the Board, having regard to the Group’s operating
results, their duties and responsibilities in the Group, individual
performance and comparable market statistics, and have been
reviewed by the Remuneration Committee during the Financial
Year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s bye-laws, or the laws of Bermuda, which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to
the existing Shareholders.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Other than the Convertible bonds issued as disclosed in this
annual report, no equity-linked agreements that will or may
result in the Company issuing Shares, or that require the
Company to enter into any agreements that will or may result in
the Company issuing Shares, were entered into by the Company
during the year or subsisted at the end of the year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION
Pursuant to the Company’s bye-laws, every director or other
officers of the Company acting in relation to any of the affairs
of the Company shall be indemnified and secured harmless out
of the assets and profits of the Company from and against all
actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which
they or any of them, their or any of their heirs, executors or
administrators, shall or may incur or sustain by or by reason of
any act done, concurred in or omitted in or about the execution
of their duty, or supposed duty, in their respective offices,
or trusts. The Company has arranged appropriate insurance
coverage for the directors and officers of the Group.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

During the Financial Year, the Group did not make any charitable
donation (2023: Nil).

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The information in respect of the Group’s total purchases and
sales attributable to the Group’s major suppliers and customers
respectively during the Financial Year is as follows:

B 3R 8 1
BRAEHmATRE 2 S BITAIRBRESI
ARARFEARAL | IR FHERDAF
B RBERAIBEERARA BTN 2 I
SHBHE  RBRARARLEMHE
HATRE B ARRETRMD 2% ©

BEEFZREKRX

REBEARB ZABAR - LARBEAF
BITEZARBBZESTHHMITEAE
HARARKRERRESA 2HEAAN B
BARTASREEEEARBRSTRNSEERBN
BEXZZBAEIMEEMEL  BALNE
RV TTRMBHATRESI MK R T A F
RRABRBR BEREIKEAR
NREBERSNETPESBERE TR
BE ARAER/AEBEEZENTHRAR
RHABENRBRRE -

BERNX
RS BFE - AR B AE T A R
BROCT-=F ) -

ITEEFRHER

AMBREFEE AEEIERERREF,SD
BIEMEASRBZ RBAEIHEREZE
BT

Percentage of
the Group’s total

EhAEEAEZ
BoE
Purchases * i
— The largest supplier — RABERD 100%
— Five largest suppliers combined — AR EEAS 100%
Sales HE
— The largest customer — &AEP 100%
— Five largest customers combined — AAEFP &R 100%
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At no time during the Financial Year had any of the directors,
their close associates or any Shareholder (which to the
knowledge of the directors owned more than 5% of the
Company’s issued share capital) held an interest in any of the
Group’s five largest suppliers or customers.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES,
SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

The Group understands that employees are valuable assets. The
Group provides competitive remuneration package to attract
and motivate the employees. The Group regularly reviews the
remuneration package of employees and makes necessary
adjustments to conform to the market standard.

The Group’s business is built on a customer-oriented culture.
The Group also understands that it is important to maintain
good relationship with its suppliers and customers to fulfil
its immediate and long-term goals. To maintain its market
competitiveness within the industry, the Group aims at delivering
constantly high standards and high quality products to its
customers. During the year under review, there was no material
and significant dispute between the Group and its suppliers and/
or customers.

Compliance with Laws and Regulations

Compliance procedures are in place to ensure adherence to
applicable laws, rules and regulations, in particular, those that
have significant impact on the Group. The audit committee of
the Company is delegated by the Board to monitor the Group’s
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements.
Any changes in the applicable laws, rules and regulations are
brought to the attention of relevant employees and relevant
operation units from time to time.

As far as the Company is aware, it has complied in material
respects with the relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the business and operation of the
Company.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the directors as at the
date of this report, the directors believe that the number of
securities of the Company which are in the hands of the public
is above the relevant prescribed minimum percentage under the
Listing Rules.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Saved as disclosed elsewhere in this annual report, there is no
other significant event occurring after the reporting period.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
Details of the Corporate Governance Report of the Company are
set out on pages 25 to 39 of this report.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the five years ended 31 March 2024 is set out on
page 144 of this report.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year were audited
by Elite Partners CPA Limited, who will retire and, being eligible,
offer themselves for re-appointment at the forthcoming annual
general meeting.

On behalf of the Board

Jiang Nian
Chairman
Shanghai, 28 June 2024
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Independent Auditor’s Report

elite
=~ partners

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

INNOVATIVE PHARMACEUTICAL BIOTECH LIMITED
(incorporated in Cayman Islands and continued in Bermuda with
limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Innovative Pharmaceutical Biotech Limited (the “Company”) and
its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out
on pages 60 to 143, which comprise the consolidated statement
of financial position as at 31 March 2024, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended, and
notes to the consolidated financial statements, including material
accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 March 2024, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and have
been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSASs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’'s Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”) and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY IN RELATED TO
GOING CONCERN

We draw attention in note 3(b) to the consolidated financial
statements which describes that (i) the Group has net
current liabilities of approximately HK$381,802,000 as at 31
March 2024 while cash and cash equivalents amounted to
HK$3,075,000 only; (i) the Group incurred a net operating
cash outflow of HK$8,279,000 for the year ended 31 March
2024; (iii) the Group has outstanding convertible bonds with
principal amount of HK$256,000,000 has been matured; (iv)
the Group has outstanding loan from a substantial shareholder,
loan from a former associate and amount due to a former
associate amounted to HK$62,300,000, HK$18,355,000
and HK$41,947,000 would be due for repayment within the
next 12 months; and (v) the Group’s major assets, being the
development of oral insulin product in the PRC, is currently
under the stage of Phase Il clinical trial (“Clinical Trial”), the
validity of future cash flow arising from the commercialisation of
the oral insulin product is depending on the successful of the
Clinical Trial and obtaining the necessary approval from National
Medical Products Administration. These conditions, along with
other matters as set in note 3(b) to the consolidated financial
statements, indicate the existence of a material uncertainty that
may cast significant doubt about the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect of on
this matter.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2024. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit
of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in
forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters. In addition to the matter described in
the Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern section, we
have determined the matter described below to be the key audit
matters to be communicated in our report.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continueq)

Impairment assessment of intangible asset

Key audit matter

HEEREE

As at 31 March 2024, the carrying amount of intangible asset
of approximately HK$1,373,224,000 represents an in-process
research and development project in oral insulin product.
R_ZE_NE=ZA=+-—H EFBEENEHEEHN
1,373,224, 0008 LA ARBEEZER AR TN B R
H o

The Group is required to, at least annually, perform

impairment assessment of intangible asset that have an

indefinite useful life.

EEEFERVBFRABERAEAFHNETLE
— BB R

\

S EETT

In carrying out the impairment assessment, intangible asset
has been allocated to research and development cash
generating unit (“R&D CGU”). Significant judgements and
assumptions are required by the management of the Group
in assessing the recoverable amount of intangible asset. The
recoverable amounts are determined by the assumptions,
including the estimated successful rate, revenue growth rate,
gross profit ratio and long-term growth rate used in the cash
flow projection and the discount rate.
ETRENGEE BFEEET I REMERGELEN
(MERELEMN]) . EXEEEREBAETEEVEEN
AEeBERELERABREE - REAKL S EEY
RR% BREEARERERMANMETRIE  KALR
EEMNERREABEE  ARMBREE -

Management engaged an independent qualified professional
valuer to prepare valuation report for the assessment of the
recoverable amounts of intangible asset, which involved the
exercise of significant judgements and estimation.
EREERBUAERERMGMERMARTEELEENATR
EeRRHEERS  EPFRIEHERAGREE

We identified the impairment assessment of intangible
asset as a key audit matter due to its significance to the
consolidated financial statements, because management
involved the exercise of significant judgements and
estimation.

REFVEENRETEHGEAVBBRRNEBER  HEZ
%Zﬁﬂﬁﬁﬂ%ﬁ%ﬁ RREBEEFELEAHERG

7—1—

Independent Auditor’s Report
B 2B RS

FEEEXEE
BmMEEENBETM

How the matter was addressed in our audit

EEHEERTNERERLE

Our major audit procedures to address this matter included the
following

FHHUEANIREREFBRTISA:

o Evaluating the independent qualified professional valuer’s
competence, capabilities and objectivity and reviewing
their terms of engagement with the Group;

o IHBUSERZEEMEMNTIR AIKEEM U
EHREE ESEREAMNGT:

o Obtaining the external valuation report and discussion
with valuer about the valuation process, methodologies
used and market evidence to support significant
judgements and assumption applied in the valuation
model including estimated successful rate, discount rate
and growth rate;

o BRFNIERERS TERMEERMREERR MBALE
ExHhEEXMAEAABRBRENTSRE (B
EB R R RIERE) (TR

o Checking arithmetical accuracy of the valuation
calculation;

o  BEMER

o Ly
71—/_\%21515 Erﬁﬁg’

o Checking key assumptions and input data in the
valuation model to supporting evidence;

o RAEERAANBRBILBAZBAEAEERE:

o Obtaining and performing sensitivity analysis on the key
assumptions, to ascertain that selected adverse changes
to key assumptions, both individually and in aggregate,
would not cause the carrying amount of intangible asset
to exceed its recoverable amount.

. Wﬁﬁ“ IS ETRURE RS - A ERRRR
m“ﬁ$ﬂ (fE 5 R £ Fs) A& B EENERE

ERLEAREEE
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B AZ BN RS

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises the information included in the
annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

QOur opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears
to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement
of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We
have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing
the Group’s financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This
report is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with
Section 90 of Bermuda Companies Act 1981, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.

Independent Auditor’s Report
B AZ BN RS
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Independent Auditor’s Report
GAVEER S Elik

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a
statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with
them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be
thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continueq)

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent
auditor’s report is Mr. MAK, Kin Wang with Practising Certificate
number PO8114.

Elite Partners CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Level 23, YF Life Tower,
33 Lockhart Road,
Wan Chai, Hong Kong

28 June 2024
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

mEeEsEkAMEZEKRER

For the year ended 31 March 2024
 ZE_TNF=A=1T—HILFE

2024 2023
— 7 —_m qz = EEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
T#& T FAT
Revenue Wz 6 6,593 8,075
Cost of sales 85 & A AR (5,753) (7,217)
Gross profit ES¥il 840 858
Other income H b J%U\ 8 1 49
Other gains and losses, net H b2 & B8 5 58 8 330,303 180
Administrative expenses THRAXZ (12,919) (17,031)
Research and development HERAX
expenses (1,421) (4,758)
Finance costs M%EA 9 (218,097) (233,969)
Profit/(loss) before income tax FTeEaaEs (&) 98,707 (254,671)
Income tax expense FEHAx 10 - —
Profit/(loss) for the year FARRM(EE) 11 98,707 (254,671)
Other comprehensive expenses: Hih2MHEHAX:
Item that may be reclassified HEZAJpeEF 7 E 1B
subsequently ZIEEH -
to profit or loss:
Exchange differences on MEBIINEBZERE
translation of foreign operations ) (298) (33)
Other comprehensive FAEMEERX
expenses for the year (298) (83)
Total comprehensive income/ FAZEKE(FAX)4
(expenses) for the year 98,409 (254,704)
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
meBaEMmeEmkaR

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE-Z-NF=A=1T—HILFE

2024 2023
—E-—mE —E-—=4&F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTER FHET
Profit/(loss) for the year ATALTEEEA
attributable to: wm A (B 1R) -
Owners of the Company ZAN/NEIE? PN 103,403 (245,698)
Non-controlling interests FE 1 AR #E 2 (4,696) (8,973)
98,707 (254,671)
Total comprehensive income/ ATATEEFEAZE
(expenses) for the year W, (A @ :
attributable to:
Owners of the Company ZiN/NEIE =N 103,102 (245,707)
Non-controlling interests I 5 AR A 2 (4,693) (8,997)
98,409 (254,704)
HK cents HK cents
A1l ol
Earnings/(loss) per share ‘AT, (EE) 15
Basic H K 6.77 (16.78)
Diluted #E (0.82) (16.78)

20245 3R
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

R E PR R

As at 31 March 2024
RZE-mWE=HA=+—~H

2024 2023
—E-mE
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 T8t F%& T
Non-current assets ERBEE
Right-of-use assets FREEE 16 - 941
Intangible asset A 17 1,373,224 1,373,224
1,373,224 1,374,165
Current assets MENEE
Trade receivables 2 5 W R & 18 4,905 6,167
Prepayments, deposits and other ERRE ek
receivables H {th fE W 30 I8 19 1,819 2,385
Bank balances and cash RITEBREE S 20 3,075 1,331
9,799 9,883
Current liabilities mEAaE
Trade payables B2 IR R 21 1,853 4,022
Lease liabilities HEAE 22 — 968
Accruals and other payables EEEA &Eﬁﬂzfﬁ 7,526 2,972
Amounts due to non-controlling JE A~ IE 158 AR 7 25 SR IB
interests 23 3,092 3,092
Amounts due to former non- J& {5 BT FE #28 A 4 245 3K IE
controlling interest 23 724 724
Loan from a substantial KE—UTFTERRER
shareholder 23 62,300 51,000
Loan from a former associate RERTHE AR ER 23 18,355 6,007
Amount due to a former associate JE ST BT BSE 2 N A 3R IB 23 41,947 41,947
Convertible bonds g & & 25 255,804 1,036,312
391,601 1,147,044
Net current liabilities mBBEFE (381,802) (1,137,161)
Total assets less current liabilities BWEERRBEE 991,422 237,004
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
e AR R
As at 31 March 2024

2023
—ENE =
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 FHE T FHET
Non-current liabilities EREBE
Convertible bonds A 2 % (& 5 25 655,346 68,510
Loan from a non-controlling REFEEREZER 23
interests 10,346 10,346
Loan from a former associate RERBE R RFZER 23 6,299 17,586
671,991 96,442
NET ASSETS EERHE 319,431 140,562
Capital and reserves BEARRFE
Share capital B& A 26 17,232 14,642
Reserves G (628,744) (809,716)
Equity attributable to owners of the AR T A A FELL#E 2
Company (611,512) (795,074)
Non-controlling interests FEIE IR = 29 930,943 935,636
TOTAL EQUITY A 319,431 140,562

The consolidated financial statements on pages 60 to 143 were FH R FEOOR43B 7 G BHREXEH=E
approved by the board of directors on 28 June 2024 and are FEeR -_Z—pE,xA -+ \BH#E I

—_—

signed on its behalf by: HATEEREEZ:
Jiang Nian Tang Rong
B Ea
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
EF EF

20245 FEMBEREMPERERAF
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
mERRBHR

For the year ended 31 March 2024

Attributable to owners of the Company

ARRERARSE

Foreign
Convertible currency

Share  Share premium bonds equity translation Accumulated Non-controlling Total
capital account reserve  Other reserves reserve losses Total interests equity
&R

MR 2R

i 11 a3t i

HK$'000 HK§'000 HK§'000 0

AT Thr TER

(Note f)
(Ry3H)

As at 1 April 2022 14,642 1,119,294 575,392 4,140 144 (2,262,979 (549,367) 944,633 395,266
Loss for the year 2 - - - - - (245,698) (245,698) 8973 (254,671)
Other comprehensive  ER2ERX
expenses
for the year - - - = ¢ - ) (24) (33)
Total comprehensive ~ FA2EF % A%
expenses
forthe year - - - - ] (245,699) (245,707) ©.997) (254,704)
As at 31 March 2023
and 1 April 2023
14,642 1,119,294 575,392 4,140 136 (2,508,677) (795,074) 935,636 140,562
Profit/{oss) Enatl/ (K8
for the year - - - - - 103,403 103,403 (4,696) 98,707
Other comprehensive A2 E (F%)
(expenses)/income W&
for the year - - - - (301) - (301) 3 (298)
Total comprehensive  £R2ENE /(R%)
income/(expenses)  #E
forthe year - - - - (301) 103,403 103,402 (8,699 98,409
Conversion of BRIARES
convertible bonds 2,590 256,910 (179,040) - - - 80,460 - 80,460
Asat 31 March 2024 R-E-J%F
=A=1-A 17,232 1,376,204 396,352 4,140 (166) (2,405,274) (611,512) 930,943 319,431
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

Notes:

(@) The share premium account represents the amount subscribed for share
capital in excess of nominal value.

(b) Convertible bonds equity reserve represents the amount allocated to
the equity component of convertible bonds issued by the Company
recognised in accordance with the accounting policy adopted for
convertible bonds in note 4(e)(iii) to the consolidated financial statements.

(c) As the stipulated by the relevant laws and regulations of the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC”) before distribution of the net profit each
year, the Group’s subsidiaries established in the PRC shall set aside
10% of its net profit after taxation to the statutory reserve. The reserve
can only be used, upon approval by the board of directors of these
PRC established subsidiaries and by the relevant authority, to offset
accumulated losses or increase capital. During the years ended 31 March
2024 and 2023, there was no transfer from retained profits to the statutory
reserve since the Group’s PRC subsidiaries incurred net loss in those
years.

(d) Foreign currency translation reserve represents gains/losses arising on
translating the net assets/liabilities of foreign operations into presentation
currency.

(e) Other reserve represents:

(i) the difference of HK$3,607,000 between the amount by which
the non-controlling interests of Longmark (Shanghai) HealthCare
Limited (“Longmark (Shanghai)”) were adjusted and the cash
consideration of RMB2,500,000 million received arising from
deemed disposal of 20% of the registered capital of Longmark
(Shanghai) that do not result in the losing control by the way of
capital injection in 2012;

(ii) the difference of HK$7,940,000 between the amount by which the
non-controlling interests of Longmark (Shanghai) were adjusted and
the cash consideration of RMB7.49 million received arising from
deemed disposal of 37.47% of the registered capital of Longmark
(Shanghai) that do not result in the losing control by the way of
capital injection in 2013; and

(iii) amount of HK$7,407,000 transferred to non-controlling interests
arising from waiver of loans to a non-wholly owned subsidiary
during the nine-months ended 31 March 2014.

(f) Remittance outside the PRC of retained profits of the subsidiaries
established in the PRC is subject to approval of the local authorities and
the availability of foreign currencies generated and retained by these
subsidiaries.

A BREBE
For the year ended 31 March 2024
BHE_T_NF=A=1+—HILFE
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

—PAN Ay~ —1
2 =] Eﬁﬁ/ﬁi%
As at 31 March 2024
R-T-mFE=A=+—~

2024

e 2

HK$’000
FTER

2023
—E-=F
HK$’000
FAB T

OPERATING ACTIVITIES K&
Profit/(loss) before income tax FTeBianasl /(&18) 98,707 (254,671)
Adjustments for: R
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CRAEEENE 941 1,881
Gain on extinguishment of convertible % 2 7] 42 f% & % 2 W 25
bond (330,237) —
Effective interest expense on AMRESZERHNE
convertible bonds = 217,025 233,031
Imputed interest expense on WA E AR ERZ
loan from a former associate HE ﬂ N3 1,061 860
Interest on lease liabilities HEBE ﬂ = 11 78
Allowance of expected credit losses T8 Hi1z B 51 & & 169 235
Reversal of allowance for expected  #£[0] 78 i (= B /&5 18 B 5
credit losses (235) (415)
Operating cash outflows before BEESEHA 2
changes in working capital ,Zf“ ZIH &R (12,558) (19,001)
Decrease in trade receivables Z S EWBREITOR D 1,328 3,273
Decrease in prepayments, deposits and &8 718 « &4 &
other receivables E b i U R TE R D 566 3,222
Decrease in trade payables BHRNBRIR D (2,169) (4,131)
(Increase)/decrease in accruals and EAERREAMEN
other payables FIE (8 ),/ 8 4,554 (1,003)
NET CASH USED IN CEEBDTACRESRE
OPERATING ACTIVITIES (8,279) (17,640)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
MERERER

As at 31 March 2024

2023
—E-_OE —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET T
FINANCING ACTIVITIES B & T E
Proceeds from loans from a former R EE AT E X 5B X
associate | - 5,880
Proceeds from loans from a EFERRERATENE
substantial shareholder 11,300 11,000
Interest paid on lease liabilities HEBRZENT A (11) (78)
Repayment of lease liabilities EEHEaE (968) (1,881)
NET CASH GENERATED FROM METBHMEZREEE
FINANCING ACTIVITIES 10,321 14,921
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN HeRBEESEYWEM
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (R A)F 48 2,042 (2,719)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT S RE2RBEELEEY
THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 1,331 4,083
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE I\ EXRESFHTE
RATE CHANGES (298) (33)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT SXBRERELEEY -
THE END OF THE YEAR,
represented by bank balances and BRITEHR LR S
cash 3,075 1,331
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GENERAL INFORMATION

Innovative Pharmaceutical Biotech Limited (the “Company”)
was incorporated in the Cayman lIslands as an exempted
company with limited liability under the Companies Law of
the Cayman Islands. On 1 March 2013, the Company has
been deregistered in the Cayman Islands and continued
in Bermuda as an exempted company with limited liability
under the laws of Bermuda. The Company’s shares are
listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The address of its
registered office is Clarendon House, 2 Church Street,
Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda. The principal place of business
in Hong Kong is situated at Unit 2002, 20th floor, On Hong
Commercial Building, 145 Hennessy Road, Wanchai, Hong
Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
principal activities of its subsidiaries (together with the
Company referred to as the “Group”) are set out in note 29
to the consolidated financial statements.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are

mandatorily effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following new
and amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”)
for the first time, which are mandatorily effective for the
annual periods beginning on or after 1 April 2023 for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 1 and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2

BEBLHERBIRRESVMBREER
EBWMEFR2HR BTN

Amendments to HKAS 8

BEREGFERUESRE 2B

Amendments to HKAS 12

SETB R E

—RER
EMBEREVMMEERAR (AR
ANREREHESARERNFAEHRS
M AEREEREERA o B
—E—=FZA—H  ARFHEERL
REeERssaii - WIRERRE
EOILNERREBREERAIZER
RBEBRERE - ZXARIRMDRE S
AERGFAERAR (BT ER E
™ o E 5F it 9% = & #b 4k & Clarendon
House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton
HM 11, Bermuda - EF B F EE ¥
B R BB EFEFEFFBI45 LT
[ 75 % K E20#82002%F o

AATB—MREEBAT - HHB
AR GERAARBAIAEE)Z X
BB RNEA B RE N 20 -

FERF ] REIETE B
BHREEA(EFEEMBRE
2R )

P75 B 5 ) AR R Y R RT B AR
BT BB MBREEA
RAFE  NREERERESMF
BERKCERERBE LG
S((EEEHMASRMBAR-ZF
“=FMA— R RABNFEH
] 58 5l & B TSI R] R R ERT &
BB IS W E R

Disclosure of Accounting Policies

Definition of Accounting Estimates
BAHAFTHER

Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising

from a Single Transaction

BBGETERIF125 2B A
Amendments to HKAS 12
BB ERFE12HR 2EFTAR
HKFRS 17
BEBMBHREEREI7THR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(“HKFRSS”) (Continued)
New and amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year

(Continued)

Except as described as below, the application of other
new and amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has
had no material impact on the Group’s financial position
and performance for the current and prior years and/or
on the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial
statements.

In accordance with the guidance set out in the
amendments, accounting policy information that is
standardised information, or information that only
duplicates or summarises the requirements of the HKFRSs,
is considered immaterial accounting policy information
and is no longer disclosed in the notes to the consolidated
financial statements so as not to obscure the material
accounting policy information disclosed in the notes to the
consolidated financial statements.

ARa SRR M

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND 2. ERAHIIEKZEBITIEEH

BHRELZQ(BEMBRE
228 |)e)

RAEAEEERFERNIFTR LK
ETE R KEREER @)

BRNXRTE SN RAFE R EM
el R HERT BB M RS E R Y
REBARFERBEFE 2 BBMR
AERAR /HAGAETEREKA
HEBYEBEATE -

RIBZFEIAMEAEL - BEREE
EEHMNEABRER  HEEE
IMABFBHBERELENRENE
B ARERIFEZSARRES
BrBRGEAUERRMERE - U
BErEMEAMBERRMEMEE
MERRFHREER -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A BT RARMIEE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND 2. EAHITIRLBIEEH
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG BMEER (BB HEHRE

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS 2 Al e

(“ H KFRSS”) (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet EHEAENRERPVLIETE
effective & B 1% ) & 2 Al

The Group has not early applied the following amendments AEEWEREFEANATEBME N
to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective: REBNCIETE BT R ELER

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28

EEVBERELERFE105% RE BT ERFE28
SR ZAERT AR

Amendments to HKFRS 16

BB WS ERF165%

Amendments to HKAS 1

R G EREIR 2EBFIAR

Amendments to HKAS 1
BERGTEREIR 2B
Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)

BEREFESR(ZZE T F)

Amendment to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7

BB ERBTR KRB BB HEER
NG AN

Amendment to HKAS 21

BB ERFE215 2EFT A

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor
and its Associate or Joint Venture?

KREFHHEBEANRHEELEZRANEEHEN LD
ﬁz

Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback!

ERAELNMNEEAE

Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-
current and related amendments to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 (2020)'

HEBESBEARBAERIREBTREESRIEBIE
AI(ZE=FF)

Non-current Liabilities with Covenants’

MERERIERE AE

Presentation of Financial Statement — Classification
by Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a
Repayment on Demand Clause'

MBHRERZER — ERXAHESRERKBRERZ
THERZ 7 H

Supplier Finance Arrangements!

HEERE LT

Lack of Exchangeability?
R = A] 5 R s

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024. 1 RZE-_MF—A—HAERBRZF
EHAR AR -
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be 2 RGTEBMBSUERBZFEBMAE
determined. B o
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025. 3 RZZE_RAF—A— BN ERBEZF

JEERRR A R e

The directors anticipate that the application of all the EETEHERMBKEIRAEN®
amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact on WMELEBNATRBRE TS HEREH
the consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable BHRRENEATE -

future.
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3.
(a)

(b)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION

Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), which collective term
includes all applicable individual HKFRSs, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(the “HKICPA”), accounting principle generally accepted in
Hong Kong and the applicable disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. These consolidated
financial statements also comply with the applicable
disclosure provisions of the Rule Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange (“Listing Rule”).

Going concern consideration

In preparing these consolidated financial statements, the
directors have considered the future liquidity of the Group,
including but not limited to the followings:

()  The Group has net current liabilities of approximately
HK$381,802,000 as at 31 March 2024 while cash and
cash equivalents amounted to HK$3,075,000 only;

(if)

The Group incurred a net operating cash outflow of
HK$8,279,000 for the year ended 31 March 2024;

(i)  The Group has outstanding convertible bonds with
principal amount of HK$256,000,000 has been

matured,;

The Group has outstanding loan from a substantial
shareholder, loan from a former associate and
amount due to a former associate amounted to
HK$62,300,000, HK$18,355,000 and HK$41,947,000
would be due for repayment within the next 12
months; and

The Group’s major assets, being the development
of oral insulin product in the PRC, is currently
under the stage of Phase Il clinical trial (“Clinical
Trial”), the validity of future cash flow arising from
the commercialisation of the oral insulin product
is depending on the successful of the Clinical Trial
and obtaining the necessary approval from National
Medical Products Administration.

(a)

(b)

ARa SRR M

mREE

EREH
REMBHRRIRETESHAMAE
((ER GRS R ZAAEER
BEMBHRESEN(HFBHBEREE
Al BYEMAEEM @R &85
WEEA - FESFENTEB G
EUDRZE) BAELAREFTRA
REBERAIGD ZEREERER
B o AR MR IV PR
ErEmAMNTLEMRRDZ @R

BERC »

BEKEEE
REREZSGERVBHRRE EFC
ERAKENARKRHED NN - &
BEFARRATEIERE:

() "EBR-_ZT_MWFE=A
=t HZRBEEFENAE
381,802,000/ 7t * MR & &I
& ZBYIE A3,0750008 7T

AEBRBE-_ZEZ_ME=A
T BILFEEAKER 2
T H U 588,279,000 T ;

(if)

R E& B K4 %8 5256,000,0004
WMARITE AR ESE B

(i)

AREBEARKRT —EAEBED
AIRE—RBEBRIR - RERIH
L REHKE RS R M B AT
& 2RI FRIE 62,300,000/ 7T
18,355,000 JT 541,947,000/
T 54

AEBZITBREERETEMA
HORRSREM * BATERRN
A BRE =M (RRAR])
MORREXREmBmLELE
MARKRERE 28 WIEBR
RERARABRAAT - REFER
BEREERERMNUELRE-
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR e SRR MR

(b)

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continueq)

Going concern consideration continued)

These conditions indicate the existence of a material
uncertainty which may cast significant doubt about
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and
therefore the Group may be unable to realise its assets and
discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business.

Notwithstanding the aforesaid conditions, these
consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a
going concern basis on the assumption that the Group will
be able to operate as a going concern for the foreseeable
future. In the opinion of the Directors, the Group can meet
its financial obligations as and when they fall due within
the next year from the date of the consolidated financial
statements, after taking into consideration of the following
measures and arrangements made subsequent to the
reporting date:

()  The Company obtained a confirmation from the
Group’s former associate and confirm in written that
they will not demand for repayment of approximately
HK$41,947,000 of amount due to a former associate
and HK$18,355,000 of loan from a former associate
as at 31 March 2024 for a period of at least 12
months from the date of approval of these financial
statements.

The Company obtained the financial support of the
substantial shareholder and confirm in written that
they will not demand for repayment of the loan of
HK$6,800,000 as at 31 March 2024 for a period
of at least 12 months from the date of approval of
these financial statements and agreed to provide the
Company with sufficient financial support to enable
the Company to meet its obligations to third parties
as and when they fall due and to continue as a going
concern.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continueq)

(b) Going concern consideration (continued)

(i)

(iv)

On 27 July 2023, the Company and the substantial
shareholder of the Company entered into the
subscription agreement, pursuant to which the
Company has conditionally agreed to issue, and the
subscriber has conditionally agreed to subscribe
for, the convertible bond in the principal amount
of HK$55,500,000. The convertible bond will be
matured at tenth anniversary of the date of issue of
the convertible bonds. The subscription price in the
amount of HK$55,500,000 payable by the substantial
shareholder under the Subscription Agreement shall
be satisfied by way of offsetting in full on a dollar-
to-dollar basis against the outstanding aggregate
principal amount payable by the Company to the
substantial shareholder under the shareholder loans in
the amount of HK$55,500,000.

The issuance of convertible bonds were approved
in special general meeting held on 24 May 2024 and
completed on 21 June 2024.

On 15 August 2023 and 22 December 2023, the
Company and the bondholders entered into the deed
of amendment and supplemental deed of amendment
pursuant to which the Company and bondholders
agreed to amend the terms of the convertible bonds
in the principal amount of HK$256,000,000 to the
effect that: (i) the conversion price of the convertible
bonds shall be amended from HK$0.4 to HK$0.202;
(i) the maturity date of the convertible bonds shall be
extended from the tenth anniversary of the date of
issue to the twentieth anniversary of the date of issue.

The deed of amendment and supplemental deed of
amendment were approved in special general meeting
held on 24 May 2024 and completed on 21 June
2024.

ARa SRR M

3. WEEEH
(b) FEREZEH

(i)

(iv)

20245

R -_=F+H_++H' =K
ARAEARRFERELT LR
Bz Bt ARRIEBKH
RAEZETARBEAEEKHER
=R A2 % A55,500,000%
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HEERRBEREREEN
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR e SRR MR

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continueq)

74

(b) Going concern consideration (continued)

(v)  The management of the Company is currently working
on the Clinical Trial which has been commenced in
July 2020 and about 400 patients have been selected
and enrolled in the Clinical Trial as at 31 March 2024.
The management is making every effort to achieve
the expected timeline that the oral insulin product
will be launched in the first quarter of 2026. As at the
date of this report, there is no negative feedback from
the Clinical Trial. The Group performs annual tests of
impairment on intangible asset and no impairment is
required.

(vij  The management of the Company is looking for other
financing and borrowing opportunity.

On the basis of the foregoing, and after assessing the
Group’s current and forecasted cash positions, the
Directors are satisfied that the Group will be able to meet
in full the Group’s financial obligations as they fall due for
the period of twelve months from the date of consolidated
financial statements. Accordingly, the consolidated financial
statements of the Group have been prepared on the going
concern basis.

Notwithstanding the above, significant uncertainties exist
as to whether management of the Company will be able
to implement the abovementioned plans and measures.
Whether the Group will be able to continue as a going
concern would depends on its ability to generate financial
and operating cash flow through the successful completion
of the Clinical Trial and the Product have launch in the first
quarter of 2026.

Should the above measures not be implemented as
planned, the adoption of going concern basis may not be
appropriate, and adjustments would have to be made to
write down the carrying amounts of the Group’s assets
to their net realisable amounts, and reclassify non-
current assets and non-current liabilities as current assets
and current liabilities, respectively. The effects of these
adjustments have not been reflected in these consolidated
financial statements.
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3.
(c)

(d)

(a)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continueq)

Basis of measurement

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost basis except for financial
instruments, which are measured at fair values at the
ended of each reporting period, as explained in the material
accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date,
regardless of whether that price is directly observable or
estimated using another valuation technique.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in
conformity with HKFRS requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires management
to exercise its judgement in the process of applying
the Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving
a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas
where assumptions and estimates are significant to the
consolidated financial statements are disclosed in note 5.

Functional and presentation currency

The functional currency of the Company is Hong Kong
dollar (“HK$"), which is the same as the presentation
currency of the consolidated financial statements. The
amounts stated are rounded to the nearest HK$1,000
unless otherwise stated.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION

The material accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out
below. These policies have been consistently applied to all
the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries.
Inter-company transactions and balances between group
companies together with unrealised profits are eliminated
in full in preparing the consolidated financial statements.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction
provides evidence of impairment on the asset transferred,
in which case the loss is recognised in profit or loss.

(c)

(d)

(a)

ARa SRR M
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AR e SRR MR

(b)

(c)

(d)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

I N FO R MATI 0 N (Continued)

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Group is able
to exercise control. The Group controls an entity when the
Group is exposed to, or has rights, to variable returns from
its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect
those returns through its power over the entity. Subsidiaries
are consolidated from the date on which control is
transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated from the
date that control ceases.

Non-controlling interest in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group’s equity therein, which
represent present ownership interest entitling their holders
to a proportionate share of net assets of the relevant
subsidiaries upon liquidation.

In the Company’s statement of financial position disclosed
in the note 29 to these consolidated financial statements,
the investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less
provision for impairment losses. The results of subsidiaries
are accounted for by the company on the basis of dividend
received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is
required upon receiving a dividend from these investments
if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive income
of the subsidiary in the period the dividend is declared or
if the carrying amount of the investment in the separate
financial statements exceeds the carrying amount in the
consolidated financial statements of the investee’s net
assets including goodwill.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent
with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating
decision-maker. The chief operating decision-maker, who
is responsible for allocating resources and assessing
performance of the operating segments, has been
identified as the board of directors that makes strategic
decisions.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets acquired separately are initially
recognised at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired
in a business combination is the fair value at the date of
acquisition. Subsequently, intangible assets with finite
useful lives that are acquired separately are carried at
costs less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated
impairment losses.
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(c)

(d)
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(d)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
I N FO R MATI O N (Continued)

Intangible assets (continuea)

Intangible assets acquired separately (Continued)
Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives
is recognised on a straight-line basis over their estimated
useful lives. The estimated useful life and amortisation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period,
with the effect of any changes in estimate being accounted
for on a prospective basis.

Intangible asset which represents an in-process research
and development project (“In-process R&D”) involving an
oral insulin product (the “Product”). The In-process R&D is
not amortised as it is not yet available for use.

Internally generated intangible assets (research and
development costs)

Expenditure on internally developed products is capitalised
if it can be demonstrated that:

° it is technically feasible to develop the product for it to
be sold;

° adequate resources are available to complete the
development;

° there is an intention to complete and sell the product;
o the Group is able to sell the product;

° sale of the product will generate future economic
benefits; and expenditure on the project can be
measured reliably.

Capitalised development costs are amortised over
the periods the Group expects to benefit from selling
the products developed. The amortisation expense is
recognised in profit or loss and included in cost of sales.

Development expenditure not satisfying the above criteria
and expenditure on the research phase of internal projects
are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A BT RARMIEE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

78

(d)

(e)

I N FO R MATI 0 N (Continued)

Intangible assets (continuea)

Impairment

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and intangible
assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment
annually, irrespective of whether there is any indication
that they may be impaired. Intangible assets are tested for
impairment by comparing their carrying amounts with their
recoverable amounts (see note 4(f)).

If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be
less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the
asset is reduced to its recoverable amount.

An impairment loss is recognised as an expense
immediately.

Financial instruments

(i) Financial assets
A financial asset is initially measured at fair value
plus, for an item not at fair value through profit or
loss (“FVTPL”), transaction costs that are directly
attributable to its acquisition or issue. Trade
receivables without a significant financing component
is initially measured at the transaction price.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are
considered in their entirely when determining whether
their cash flows are solely payment of principal and
interest.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments
depends on the Group’s business model for managing
the asset and the cash flow characteristics of the
asset. There are three measurement categories into
which the Group classifies its debt instruments:
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
I N FO R MATI O N (Continued)

(e) Financial instruments continued)
(i) Financial assets (Continued)
Debt instruments (Continued)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARa SRR M

4. EEZETHEEE®

Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection
of contractual cash flows where those cash flows
represent solely payments of principal and interest
are measured at amortised cost. Financial assets at
amortised cost are subsequently measured using the
effective interest rate method. Interest income, foreign
exchange gains and losses and impairment are
recognised in profit or loss. Any gain on derecognition

is recognised in profit or loss.

e) €M T A
() ZHEEME
EBETAG#®)
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REMBZEE WEEHOR

(i) Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment (i)

assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected
credit losses (“ECLs”) on trade receivables, deposits
and other receivables and bank balance. The ECLs
are measured on either of the following bases: (1)
12-month ECLs: these are the ECLs that result from
possible default events within the 12 months after the
reporting date; and (2) lifetime ECLs: these are ECLs
that result from all possible default events over the
expected life of a financial instrument. The maximum
period considered when estimating ECLs is the
maximum contractual period over which the Group is

exposed to credit risk.

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit
losses. Credit losses are measured as the difference
between all contractual cash flows that are due to
the Group in accordance with the contract and all the
cash flows that the Group expects to receive. The
shortfall is then discounted at an approximation to the

assets’ original effective interest rate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR e SRR MR

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

(e) Financial instruments continued)

(i)

INNOVATIVE PHARMACEUTICAL BIOTECH LIMITED 2024 Annual Report

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

The Group has elected to measure loss allowances for
trade receivables using HKFRS 9 simplified approach
and has calculated ECLs based on lifetime ECLs.
The Group has established a provision matrix that is
based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the
debtors and the economic environment.

For other debt financial assets, the ECLs are based on
the 12-month ECLs. However, when there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since origination, the
allowance will be based on the lifetime ECLs.

When determining whether the credit risk of a
financial asset has increased significantly since initial
recognition and when estimating ECLs, the Group
considers reasonable and supportable information
that is relevant and available without undue cost or
effort. This includes both quantitative and qualitative
information analysis, based on the Group’s historical
experience and informed credit assessment and
including forward-looking information.

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with the
risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the date of initial recognition. In making this
assessment, the Group considers both quantitative
and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
I N FO R MATI O N (Continued)

(e) Financial instruments continued)

(i)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;

° significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit default
swap prices for the debtor;

° existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are
expected to cause a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the operating results of the debtor;

o an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to
meet its debt obligations.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when information
developed internally or obtained from external sources
indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors,
including the Group, in full (without taking into account
any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial asset
is more than 90 days past due unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is
more appropriate.
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AR e SRR MR

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

(e) Financial instruments continued)

(i)

INNOVATIVE PHARMACEUTICAL BIOTECH LIMITED 2024 Annual Report

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of that financial asset
have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is
credit-impaired includes observable data about the
following events:

(@ significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past
due event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower
a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not
otherwise consider; or

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation.

Werite-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there
is information indicating that the counterparty is in
severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic
prospect of recovery, for example, when the
counterparty has been placed under liquidation or
has entered into bankruptcy proceedings. Financial
assets written off may still be subject to enforcement
activities under the Group’s recovery procedures,
taking into account legal advice where appropriate.
A write-off constitutes a derecognition event. Any
subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
I N FO R MATI O N (Continued)

(e) Financial instruments continueq)

(i)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and
the exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is based
on historical data adjusted by forward-looking
information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased
and probability-weighted amount that is determined
with the respective risks of default occurring as the
weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at the
effective interest rate determined at initial recognition.

The Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial
asset has increased significantly if it is more than 90
days past due, unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information that demonstrates otherwise.

The Group considers a financial asset to be credit-
impaired when: (1) the borrower is unlikely to pay its
credit obligations to the Group in full, without recourse
by the Group to actions such as realising security (if
any is held); or (2) the financial asset is more than 90
days past due.

Interest income on credit-impaired financial assets is
calculated based on the amortised cost (i.e. the gross
carrying amount less loss allowance) of the financial
asset. For non-credit-impaired financial assets interest
income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount.
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A BT RARMIEE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

(e) Financial instruments continued)

(i)

INNOVATIVE PHARMACEUTICAL BIOTECH LIMITED 2024 Annual Report

Financial liabilities and equity

The Group classifies its financial liabilities, depending
on the purpose for which the liabilities were incurred.
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss are initially measured at fair value and financial
liabilities at amortised costs are initially measured at
fair value, net of directly attributable costs incurred.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities at amortised cost including trade
payables, accrual and other payables, amounts due
to non-controlling interests, amounts due to former
non-controlling interest, loan from a substantial
shareholder, amount due from a former associate,
convertible bonds, loan from a non-controlling interest
and loan from a former associate are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest method. The related interest expense is
recognised in profit or loss.

Gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss when
the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the
amortisation process.

Convertible bonds containing liability and equity
components, and early redemption option, if
applicable

Convertible bonds issued by the Group that contain
both liability (together with the early redemption
option which is closely related to the host liability
component, if applicable) and conversion option
components are classified separately into respective
items on initial recognition in accordance with the
substance of the contractual arrangements and
the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument. Conversion option that will be settled by
the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another
financial asset for a fixed number of the Company’s
own equity instruments is an equity instrument.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
I N FO R MATI O N (Continued)

(e) Financial instruments continued)

(i)

Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)

Convertible bonds containing liability and equity
components, and early redemption option, if
applicable (Continued)

On initial recognition of convertible bonds issued by
the Company, the fair value of the liability component
is determined using the prevailing market interest of
similar non-convertible debts. The difference between
the gross proceeds of the issue of the convertible
bonds and the fair value assigned to the liability
component, representing the conversion option for the
holder to convert the convertible bonds into equity, is
included in equity (convertible bonds equity reserve).

In subsequent periods, the liability component of the
convertible bonds is carried at amortised cost using
the effective interest method. The equity component,
representing the option to convert the liability
component into ordinary shares of the Company,
will remain in convertible bonds equity reserve until
the embedded option is exercised (in which case the
balance stated in convertible bonds equity reserve will
be transferred to share premium). Where the option
remains unexercised at the expiry date, the balance
stated in convertible bonds equity reserve will be
released to the accumulated losses. No gain or loss
is recognised in profit or loss upon conversion or
expiration of the option.

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the
convertible bonds are allocated to the liability and
equity components in proportion to the allocation
of the gross proceeds. Transaction costs relating
to the equity component are charged directly to
equity. Transaction costs relating to the liability
component are included in the carrying amount of the
liability portion and amortised over the period of the
convertible bonds using the effective interest method.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

(e) Financial instruments continued)
(iv)  Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the
contractual rights to the cash flows in relation to the
financial asset expire or when the financial asset has
been transferred and the transfer meets the criteria for
derecognition in accordance with HKFRS 9.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivables is recognised in profit or
loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when, and only
when, the obligation specified in the relevant contract
is discharged, cancelled or have expired.

Where the Group issues its own equity instruments
to a creditor to settle a financial liability in whole
or in part as a result of renegotiating the terms
of that liability, the equity instruments issued are
the consideration paid and are recognised initially
and measured at their fair value on the date the
financial liability or part thereof is extinguished. If the
fair value of the equity instruments issued cannot
be reliably measured, the equity instruments are
measured to reflect the fair value of the financial
liability extinguished. The difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability or part thereof
extinguished and the consideration paid is recognised
in profit or loss for the year.

When the contractual terms of financial liability are
modified such that the revised terms would result in a
substantial modification from the original terms after
considering qualitative factors (e.g. modifications of
convertible instruments). When the contractual terms
of a convertible instrument are modified, the revised
terms would result in a substantial modification from
the original terms, after taking into account all relevant
facts and circumstances including qualitative factors,
such modification is accounted for as derecognition
of the original financial liability and the recognition
of new financial liability. The difference between the
carrying amount of financial liability derecognised
and the fair value of consideration paid or payable,
including any liabilities assumed and derivative
components recognised, is recognised in profit or
loss.
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(e)

(f)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
I N FO R MATI O N (Continued)

Financial instruments (continuea)

(v)  Effective interest method
The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset
or financial liability and of allocating interest income
or interest expense over the relevant period. The
effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash receipts or payments through
the expected life of the financial asset or liability, or
where appropriate, a shorter period.

(vi)  Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are

recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue

costs.

Impairment of assets (other than financial

assets)

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of the following assets to determine
whether there is any indication that these assets have
suffered an impairment loss or an impairment loss
previously recognised no longer exists or may have
decreased:

o intangible assets; and
° investments in subsidiaries

If the recoverable amount (i.e. the greater of the fair
value less costs of disposal and value in use) of an asset
is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable
amount. An impairment loss is recognised as an expense
immediately, unless the relevant asset is carried at a
revalued amount under another HKFRS, in which case the
impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease under
that HKFRS.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses,
the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior
years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as
income immediately, unless the relevant asset is carried
at a revalued amount under another HKFRS, in which
case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a
revaluation increase under that HKFRS.

4.

(e)

(f)

ARa SRR M

EESHHEERE®

EWMI A
) EBRFE %
ERMNEEZETESMEER
TR BB A K B
SAEBEE AR B U A SKF B
HE R A - BERAXE A E 5
RARBEESWAKNTRBEBSR
& ESAE 2 T8 8 F R (@
)RR EMERELIR 2 FI =K -
(i) #zmTH
KRR BT R Iﬂ%%%m
TH B B 5 21T A AN BR
EE(SRMEERMNZHE
AEBERESREPFRBHAUTEEZ
RHE UAETEtERRBRNZS
EEHBREBEERLRERZRE

EEETBEESVEEFTRD -

e EBIEBEE: R
e RMBRAZKEA

i & & 2 A Y [ & 78 (B H 2 B R
HERAREREERMENRSE)
et REREE  AMEEZRAE
B EH A W m e 5 - BEEEE
BHER BRI - ﬂ?#*ﬁ?ﬁéﬁ?*ﬁ?ﬁ%m

— BBV HREEIZEMREIR
RULFERT - ﬁ@%ﬁ?ﬁ‘%ﬁf’ﬂﬁﬂ%%&\%

MBEHREENERESEBD ©

fMERBEERERE  EEZE@E
518 = Hoa] Yo ) £ 88 2 BRI 5T -
HEEMBEAENSBEENBEFE
VTEREERIMNEBEREMET 2
fRE{E - R E B 1B 2 Kk [0 BB B AR A7
BB BEEREERES A
MR EERNREBHEEIR - RUIE
AT REERRRREREREY
BmEEN 2 B S RIEN -

2024 % EMBEREVNPEERAF

87



88

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A BT RARMIEE

(f)

(9)

(h)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Impairment of assets (other than financial
assets) (Continued)

Value in use is based on the estimated future cash flows
expected to be derived from the asset, are discounted
to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset for which the
estimates of future cashflows have not been adjusted.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event,
it is probable that the Group will be required to settle that
obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation. Provisions are measured at the
best estimate of the consideration required to settle the
present obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking
into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the
obligation. When a provision is measured using the cash
flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying
amount is the present value of those cash flows (where the
effect of the time value of money is material).

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, the
existence of which will only be confirmed by the occurrence
or non-occurrence of one or more future events, are also
disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of
outflow of economic benefits is remote.

Contingent liabilities

Contingent liabilities

A contingent liability is a present obligation arising
from past events but is not recognised because it is
not probable that an outflow of resources embodying
economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation.

Where the Group is jointly and severally liable for an
obligation, the part of the obligation that is expected to
be met by other parties is treated as a contingent liability
and it is not recognised in the consolidated financial
statements.
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(h)

(i)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
I N FO R MATI O N (Continued)

Contingent liabilities (continued)

Contingent liabilities (Continued)

The Group assesses continually to determine whether an
outflow of resources embodying economic benefits has
become probable. If it becomes probable that an outflow
of future economic benefits will be required for an item
previously dealt with as a contingent liability, a provision is
recognised in the consolidated financial statements in the
reporting period in which the change in probability occurs,
except in the extremely rare circumstances where no
reliable estimate can be made.

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
stated at amortised cost; any difference between the
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption
value is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income over the period of
the borrowings using the effective interest method.

Fee paid on the establishment of loan facilities are
recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the extent
that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be
drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the
drawdown occurs. To the extent there is capitalised as a
prepayment for liquidity services and amortised over the
period of the facility to which it relates.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the
liability for at least 12 months after the end of reporting
period.
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4.

)]

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for
the year. Taxable profit differs from “loss before tax” as
reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income because of income or
expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and
items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s
liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax base used in the computation of taxable
loss. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for
all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are
generally recognised for all deductible temporary difference
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will
be available against which those deductible temporary
differences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are
not recognised if the temporary difference arises from
goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a
business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a
transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit and at the same time of the transaction
does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary difference.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed
at the end of the reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be
recovered.
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(k)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
I N FO R MATI O N (Continued)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the
liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of
its assets and liabilities.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which
case the current and deferred tax are also recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity
respectively.

Employee benefits

Retirement benefit cost

Short term employee benefits are employee benefits (other
than termination benefits) that are expected to be settled
wholly before twelve months after the end of the annual
reporting period in which the employees render the related
service. Short term employee benefits are recognised in
the year when the employees render the related service.

Payments to state-managed retirement benefit schemes in
the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) and Mandatory
Provident Fund Scheme are recognised as an expense
when employees have rendered service entitling them to
the contributions.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised when, and only
when, the Group demonstrably commits itself to terminate
employment or to provide benefits as a result of voluntary
redundancy by having a detailed formal plan which is
without realistic possibility of withdrawal.
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4.

(k)

92

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Employee benefits (continued)

Short-term and other long-term employee benefits
Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid
as and when employees rendered the services. All short-
term employee benefits are recognised as an expense
unless another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of
the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees
(such as wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave)
after deducting any amount already paid.

Liabilities recognised in respect of other long-term
employee benefits are measured at the present value of
the estimated future cash outflows expected to be made
by the Group in respect of services provided by employees
up to the reporting date. Any changes in the liabilities’
carrying amounts resulting from service cost, interest and
remeasurements are recognised in profit or loss except to
the extent that another HKFRS requires or permits their
inclusion in the cost of an asset.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
I N FO R MATI O N (Continued)

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or
services underlying the particular performance obligation is
transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of
the following criteria is met:

o the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as
the Group performs;

° the Group’s performance creates and enhances
an asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

° the Group’s performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when
the customer obtains control of the distinct good or
service.
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AR e SRR MR

5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 5.

94

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies,
which are described in note 4 to the consolidated financial
statements, the directors of the Company are required
to make judgments, estimates and assumptions about
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not
readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on historical experience
and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised
if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of
the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those
involving estimations (see below), that the directors have
made in the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies and that have the most significant effect on
the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial
statements.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
The following are key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the
end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
U N C E RTAI NTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty continuea)
Impairment of intangible asset

The Group performs annual tests of impairment on
intangible asset in relation to an in-process research and
development project involving an oral insulin product (the
"Product") (the "In-process R&D") involving the Product
which are not yet available for use. Accordingly, the
intangible assets relating to the Product with the carrying
amount of approximately HK$1,373,224,000 as at 31 March
2024 (2023: HK$1,373,224,000) was tested for impairment.
The recoverable amounts of cash-generating units are
determined based on fair value calculations, which is
highly dependent upon further research and development
work required to be carried out, results of the clinical
trials, the successful launching of the Product and the
appropriate key assumptions to be applied in preparing
cash flow projections. Details of the calculation of fair
value are disclosed in note 17 to the consolidated financial
statements. These calculations require the use of estimates
and assumptions made by management on the future
operation of the business, pre-tax discount rates, and
other assumptions underlying the fair value calculations. In
addition, the management is of the opinion that the Group
would be successful in obtaining the regulatory approvals
from the relevant government bodies and launching the
Product in the first quarter of 2026 in the absence of
unforeseeable circumstance. The management also based
on the assumption that the Group would continue to have
the exclusive right for commercialisation of the Product.

Should the actual outcome of the Clinical Trials and the
launching of the Product be unsuccessful, the likelihood
and timing in obtaining the regulatory approvals from the
relevant government bodies to launch the product to be
unrealised, or the key assumptions applied in preparing
the cash flow projections from the Product in assessing
impairment, including the discount rates or growth rate
assumptions applied in the cash flow projections on the In-
process R&D is different from the original estimates, such
difference could materially affect the carrying value of the
intangible asset. It will consequently have an adverse effect
on the net assets and the results of the Group.
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5.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
U N C E RTAI NTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty continueq)
Going concern consideration

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
apart from those involving estimations, management
has prepared the consolidated financial statements on
the assumption that the Group will be able to operate
as a going concern in the coming year, which is a
critical judgement that has the most significant effect
on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial
statements.

REVENUE

Revenue for the year represents the fair value of amounts
received and receivable for goods sold or services
rendered by the Group to outside customers for the year, is
analysed as follows:

EAXESHERMESTTRE
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G
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R R R B R RS
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Iy 2=
FRARBEARFALEEHRAINIRE
FPEhEmauEH HEWZEH&Z&%
WHKIBZRFE 20T :

2024 2023
—E-MEF —E=F
HK$’000 HK$ (0[0]0]
TR FHET
Sales of beauty products in Hong Kong REBIEHEXDTE @
and recognised at a point in time W E— BB R 6,593 8,075
For sales of beauty products revenue is recognised when MEHEERERMS ' KERERD

control of goods has transferred to the customer, being
at the point the goods are delivered to the customer. The
normal credit term is 90 days upon delivery.

SEGMENT REPORTING

The Group has two (2023: two) reportable and operating
segments as follows:

(@) trading of beauty products in Hong Kong (“Trading of
beauty products”)
(b) research, development and commercialisation of the

oral insulin product (“Research and development”)

The Group’s reportable and operating segments are
strategic business units that offer different products and
services. They are managed separately because each
business requires different technology and marketing
strategies.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SEGMENT REPORTING (continue)

Segment revenues and results

The accounting policies of the operating segments are
the same as those described in the consolidated financial
statements. Segment loss represents the loss incurred by
each segment without allocation of corporate and other
expenses, other income, other gains and loss, net, interest
expenses on convertible bonds and gain on extinguishment
of convertible bond. All assets are allocated to segments
other than corporate assets. All liabilities are allocated to
segments other than corporate liabilities, lease liabilities,
amounts due to a former associate, non-controlling
interests and former non-controlling interest, loan from a
substantial shareholder, a former associate and a non-
controlling interest and convertible bonds.
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o E @
TEHBRBERESE

EiE D E s ZETBUR AR A B S k&
Frai &R - »HEERELE S
Al bEEEMAY « Bl A - Efb
W KEEFRE IR ESNT
BRI NERABERESZRZEZIE
AT BOEELEZERE - DA
BETHHSWESNCEEE M
DEFTEAE T o R EAT R
afE - -HE&E  ENAIEEAA -
JEFE AT ME o N B FEAE AR M 2 2 TR0
KE—MEBHE - g2 na) &IE
RERER  ARA[BRES -

Trading of beauty Research and
products development Total
ZRERES e @i
2024 2023 2024 2024 2023
“E-mE -T--F —RoNE “E-mE -B-ocF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR Thn TAR Thr Thn
Revenue from external customers KBNS EF 2 & 6,593 8,075 - - 6,503 8,075
Segment loss AYES (596) W63 (7080 (12979 (1678)  (13442)
Additional disclosures for operating  #BA B BNMEESE:
segments:
Unallocated other income, gains and &3 BE & A »
losses, net KaRkERFE 1 49
Interest expenses on convertible TRREFNT S
bonds f% (217,025)  (233,031)
Corporate and other expenses PEREMRAY (6,830) (8,247)
Gain on extinguishment of convertible & X7 R E% 2 Wz
bonds 330,237 -
Profit/{loss) before income tax RETERANER/(B8) 98,707  (254,671)
Income tax expense FERAY - N
Profit/{loss) for the year EREH/ (B8) 98,707  (254,671)
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7. SEGMENT REPORTING (continueq) 7.

98

Segment assets and liabilities

SHEERAE

Research and
development Total

& A

2024 2028 2024 2023

ZECmE —T--F ZE-NE —T--F
HK$'000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$'000

Trading of beauty
products
XRERES
2024 2023
g L s
HK$’000 HK$'000
TR Thn
Assets £E
Segment assets PREE 4977 6,240
Corporate and other assets rEEEMEE
Total assets EELR
Liabilities 8f
Segment liabilties AHAR 1,853 4,022
Convertible bonds TRkES
Corporate and other liabilities tEEAMAR
Total liabilities BELE

TiEn TR TR TER

1,375,439 1375108 1,380,416 1,381,348
2,607 2,700

1,383,023 1,384,048

1,835 656 3,688 4,678
911,150 1,104,822
148,754 133,986

1,063,592 1,243,486

Amounts included in measure of segment

profit or loss and segment assets
For the year ended 31 March 2024

CEERFGEIBEZER D
EEEHE
BE-_Z_NF=A=1+—HILEFE

Research and

Trading
of beauty
products

ZRERES

HK$'000

THR

Depreciation e -
Reversal for ECL, net recognised in profitor ~ REZEAZBHEEER

loss BR3E 66

Research and development cost s A -

development Unallocated Total
R AR @i
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR ThR ThR

- 941 9

- - 66

1,421 - 1,421
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SEGMENT REPORTING (continueq)
Amounts included in measure of segment

profit or loss and segment assets (continueaq)
For the year ended 31 March 2023

Trading

of beauty
products

x0808
EFREMES

HK$'000

ot =
BT

AR TSR M

o E @
EEERFEIRERZR D
EEZEEw
BE-_ZE_=F=A=+—HItFE

Research and
development Unallocated
2 ADR
HK$'000 HK$'000
ThER TAL

HK$'000
TR

Depreciation neE - - 1,881 1,881
Reversal for ECL, net recognised inprofitor ~ RERERAZBHEEER

loss BEFHE 180 - - 180
Research and development cost HE KA - 4,758 - 4,758
Geographical information ih 32 & B

The principal place of the Group’s operation is in Hong
Kong. For the purpose of segment information disclosures
under HKFRS 8, the Group regards Hong Kong as its
country of domicile. Over 90% of the Group’s external
customers is located in PRC.

Over 90% of the Group’s non-current assets are principally
attributable to the PRC, being the single geographical
region.

Information about major customers
Revenue from customers of the corresponding years
contributing over 10% of the total revenue are as follows:

Customer A XFEH

AEBZERETBEURES - IR
BEBUBHREENESRIELH S
HBEREEMS  AKBEEFEARE
Bt o KEBEBIBI0% MNP L
RAE o

REBBBIONHIERBE E T BIL
AR - BiME—h R -

FRETEEFEHN
HEFEERMBBAKDI0ONEF 2
Yk

2024

2023
—EomE =

=%
HK$’000
TAET

HK$’000
FER

6,593 8,075

Revenue from the above customer in the respective
reporting period is derived from the segment of trading of
beauty products.
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AR e SRR MR

8. OTHER INCOME/OTHER GAINS AND 8. H A "Htt= K E

LOSSES, NET 8 F
2024 2023
—E_MEF —ET=F
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FHE T FAT
Other income E e A
Sundry income MBI A 1 1
Government grants (note) B (W) - 48
1 49
Other gains and losses, net B it e 75 K 5 1R F BE
Reversal of ECL, net TEHEEBERR S 66 180
Gain on extinguishment of ERABmRESFZ
convertible bond (note 25) W 2= (Fff 5%25) 330,237 —
330,303 180
Note: During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group recognised Mz REBEEZT-=F=ZA=+—HLHF
government grants of approximately HK$48,000 in respect - AEBFCOVID-1948 B Z BhFE R
of Covid-19-related subsidies, which related to Employment #4948,000 8 TR T BN & - THEEB
Support Scheme provided by the Hong Kong Government. There B RHMETEEE - RZFBITH
were no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating to these B & W MR E KRG RERASE
government grants. A o
9. FINANCE COSTS 9. MKEH

2024 2023
—E-_ME

HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT TAET

Effective interest expense on convertible AI#RE S 2 B F B

bonds 217,025 233,031

Imputed interest expense on loan froma XERBEATERZ2HE
former associate FERAX 1,061 860
Interest on lease liabilities HEBBEZHE 11 78
218,097 233,969
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10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime of Hong Kong
Profits Tax, the first HK$2,000,000 of profits of qualifying
group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above
HK$2,000,000 will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of
corporations not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax
rates regime will continue to be taxed at a flat rate of
16.5%.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the
“EIT Law”) and the Implementation Regulation of the EIT
Law, the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% (2023:
25%).

No Hong Kong Profits Tax and PRC Enterprise Income Tax
have been made for the year (2023: Nil).

The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the
profit/(loss) before income tax per the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

AR TSR M

10. FTF BB

BIBEFEFNEGHMAE  2EKREE
T B/ & £2,000,000% 7T i F #5 LA
8.25% M T R AF + MEAE 2,000,000
5 7T B 358 T 18 DA 16.5% B B R B o
THEAEFESHRAAH ERAEB S
T35 4 1B 1216 5% M B — TR R BB »

BEFRCEMESHE((DEMSEH
ENDREEMBHREBHIES - &
B AR 2R E25% (ZE =45
25%) o

AEEUEGRBENGEHR L+ E
CEMER(CE_=F:8)-

FAMSHAXEEAED MHEMD
FHBERZBAEHRNEN (B
BIHRMT

2024
—E-NF
HK$’000
TERT

2023

HK$’000
T

Profit/(loss) before income tax BRETS T AT R A, (B ) 98,707 (254,671)
Tax at the domestic income tax rate 12 7K b BT 1% B T %£16.5%
of 16.5% (2023: 16.5%) —TE-=F:16.5%)
AAEZHE 16,287 (42,021)
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries R EMaEE E @R &L 2
operating in other jurisdictions MBARZTRBE
A (93) (140)
Tax effect of expense not deductible RBBEAATHR AT 2
for tax purpose WM e 38,306 42,191
Tax effect of income not taxable BT ERR ZWA 2
for tax purpose WM e (54,500) (30)

PG HF X

Income tax expense
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iR e ISR M L

11. PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR

Profit/(loss) for the year has been
arrived at after charging the
following:

Auditors’ remuneration

Depreciation of right-of-use assets

Expenses relating to short-term lease
payment

Cost of inventories recognised as an
expense

Staff costs, exclusive of directors’
emoluments

Salaries and other benefits
Retirement benefits scheme
contributions

FREN (BRI T
P B IRRER

Tz B B =
EREEENE
EREREERR ZMAX

RARAXZTFEKAN

TEREFMEERNZET
BN
e K H AR R
RARAE ) ET 8K

1. FRER (EE)

2024
—®_NEF

HK$’000
TERT

2023

HK$’000
THETT

900 950
941 1,881
149 244
5,753 7,217
3,659 3,888
83 90
3,742 3,978
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12. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year,
discussed pursuant to the applicable Listing Rules and the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, is as follows:

AR TSR M

12.EEM<E
EFRBRITHRABREEEZHW
W - BRIEER ERAREEL
714 Bl B B -

Retirement
CEIEES benefit
Directors’ and other scheme
Name of Directors fee benefits contributions Total
FER BHKBEF
Esng EEne Hth 18 7 5 2 fit & HE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHE T FHBTT FHBTT FHBT
Executive directors HITEE
Gao Yuan Xing Sy 60 1,300 - 1,360
Tang Rong E 60 488 - 548
Cheng Tak Yiu (note(i)) B0 1 12 (P 52 (i) - 90 - 90
Non-executive directors HHTEE
Jiang Nian B 60 - - 60
Xiao Yan H 1k 60 - - 60
Wu Yanmin S 3% 8% 60 - - 60
Independent non-executive BV H#HTEE
directors
Chen Weijun BRiEE 80 - - 80
Wang Rongliang TER 60 - - 60
Chen Jinzhong PR € 60 - - 60
Total for the year ended HE_ZT-_WF
31 March 2024 =ZRB=+—H
FEE 2B 500 1,878 - 2,378
Executive directors HITEE
Gao Yuan Xing = R 60 1,300 — 1,360
Tang Rong BB 60 488 = 548
Non-executive directors HHTEE
Jiang Nian BE 60 - - 60
Xiao Yan H 60 — — 60
Wu Yanmin SF 3% B 60 = — 60
Independent non-executive BV H#HITEE
directors
Chen Weijun RESR 80 - - 80
Wang Rongliang TR 60 - - 60
Chen Jinzhong PR & 60 - - 60
Total for the year ended HE-_T-_=F
31 March 2023 =A=+—8
FEEZ 85 500 1,788 = 2,288
Note(i): Mr. Cheng Tak Yiu was appointed as an executive director with MeE(): BEREEEBZETARTES ' B

effect from 4 July 2023.

“E=StLANARER -
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12. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (continueq)

104

No directors waived any emoluments in current and prior
year.

During current year and prior year, no emoluments were
paid by the Group to the directors as an inducement to join
or upon joining the Group.

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for
their services in connection with the management of the
affairs of the Company and the Group.

The non-executive directors’ emoluments shown above
were for their services as directors of the Company and its
subsidiaries, if applicable.

The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments
shown above were for their services as directors of the
Company.
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13.

14.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS’

EMOLUMENTS

The five highest paid individuals in the Group during the
year included two (2023: two) directors whose emoluments
are reflected in the analysis presented above. The
emoluments of the remaining three (2023: three) individuals
are set out below:

AR TSR M

13. BB REHFALEHE

ER-AEBRERETALEE
ME(—E—=F MR)ESF #=
ZEMERERAMBRB - H# =4
(ZE==F :=R)AT2Me 83
mT

2024 2023

—E-—mE —E-——4&

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET T

Salaries and other benefits e K HMmER 1,800 1,658
Retirement benefit scheme contributions & 7k 48 51| 51 2l ¢t Z& 36 36
1,836 1,694

The emoluments fell within the following band:

MENFATEHE :

Number of individuals

AH
2024 2023
—E-mF —E_=F
Nil to HK$1,000,000 T %1,000,0007% 7T 3 3
DIVIDEND 14. K &

No dividend was paid or proposed for ordinary
shareholders of the Company during the year ended 31
March 2024, nor has any dividend been proposed since the
end of the reporting period (2023: HKS$nil).

REBE-ZE-_WME=H=1T—HIEF
B FERARNE KR EIRMSK
BIKRE  BEREHRTERRNS
RE(ZEZ=F :FHBT)°
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A PR RR T

15. EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE 15. BREF (F1#8)
The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings/(loss) per KRB BEBEAREERERARE S
share attributable to owners of the Company is based on BF (BB RN T8I BEER
the following data: i
Earnings/(loss) figures are calculated as follows: BF(BE)BFTZHERNT

2024 2023
—E-_F = — =

HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT TR

Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to AR A B A E(HFE R
owners of the Company and (loss)/ wmA (BB Rt E

earnings for the purpose of basic BRELRRZR (BB Z
earnings/(loss) per share (E#8) &7 103,403 (245,698)
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary BT sTBR o E:
shares:
Gain on extinguishment of BRI BRERES WS
convertible bond (330,237) —
Effective interest expense on AIMmRESZERTE
convertible bonds 53 206,416 —

Loss for the purpose of diluted loss  FLEfEEFR#H EEIE 2
per share &5 18 (20,418) (245,698)

Number of shares B EE

Weighted average number of ordinary Bt EZBREXREF

shares for the purpose of basic (E518) 2 & @ A% Hn 4

earnings/(loss) per share T 1,527,015 1,464,193
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary BESsTBR2EE:

shares:

Convertible bonds Al R (& 75 971,500 —
Weighted average number of ordinary 5t 5t & 5 % # &

shares for the purpose of diluted B 18 2 & AR Ntk

loss per share 15 8 2,498,515 1,464,193
The computation of diluted loss per share for the year TEEE_E-_=F=A=+—HIt
ended 31 March 2023 does not assume the conversion of EF‘% WERESEBEERTEBR
the Company’s outstanding convertible bonds since their NGITCE N e e Hxﬁ#ﬁﬁﬁﬁ
assumed conversion would decrease in loss per share for HaR&EERAIBRES KSR
that year. ZEENEREBAE -
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16. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR TSR M

16. E AREEE

Leasehold
properties
HEWXE
HK$’000
AT
Cost X <
As at 1 April 2022, 31 March 2023 and RZEBE-_—_FMWA—H -ZT=_=
1 April 2023 —A=T—HAKkZZT==FMWHA—H 3,763
Termination of leases mIEEE (3,763)
As at 31 March 2024 R-ZE-_NF=A=+—H -
Accumulated depreciation 2t E
As at 1 April 2022 RZE-__FMA—H 941
Depreciation for the year FRITE 1,881
As at 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023 RZEZ=F=A=1+—HRK
—E-=FPMHA—H 2,822
Depreciation for the year FRITE 941
Termination of lease WIEME (3,763)
As at 31 March 2024 R-B-_WE=A=+—H -
Net carrying value FREFE
As at 31 March 2024 R-_E-_ME=A=+—H s
As at 31 March 2023 R-_EBE_=F=A=+—8H 941

Expense relating to short-term leases
Total cash outflow for leases

2024
—E-_ME

2023

—E =4
HK$’'000
FE T

HK$’000
TR

ﬁfﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁmﬁs’z 149 244
fEmu Ed /i! %ﬁ

1,117 2,278
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16.

17.

RIG HT-OF- USE ASSETS (Continued)

As at 31 March 2023, the Group leases various offices
premises for its operations. Lease contracts are entered
into for fixed term of 2 years. Lease terms are negotiated
on an individual basis and contain different terms and
conditions. In determining the lease term and assessing the
length of the non-cancellable period, the Group applies the
definition of a contract and determines the period for which
the contract is enforceable.

INTANGIBLE ASSET

COST AND CARRYING VALUES
As at 1 April 2022, 31 March 2023,
1 April 2023 and 31 March 2024

16.

17.

B2 R BRE B
R-—E--—£mA—8 -
—E-=%=A=+-A8-

FERAEEE»
MR-ZZE_=F=A=+—H K&EH
MELSEHEZERAME - HEA
# T A W AF [E T F HRRT S o FH B F Hf
ThiZ BRI E2ERER - BB S TRIIER
NigEH  EEHEFHARTMGAA
BUHMHEBRER AEBERANZ
EFE - WETAAA TRG#T 2
A o

BVEE

In-process
R&D
MEBRE

HK$’000
FH T

—E=FMA-HRK

—E-mE=A=+—H

1,373,224

The In-process R&D represented an in-process research
and development project involving the Product. The patents
of an invention “a method of production of oil-phase
preparation of oral insulin (—fE & & O R & & &= H &
| #) 77 5K)” in relation to the Product are registered under
the joint names of Fosse Bio-Engineering Development
Limited (“Fosse Bio”) and Tsinghua University, Beijing
(“THU”). Fosse Bio is a subsidiary of Smart Ascent, which
became a subsidiary of the Company upon completion of
the acquisition on 28 July 2014. In addition, Fosse Bio and
THU have entered into the collaboration agreement in 1998
in connection with the research and development of the
Product. Pursuant to the THU Collaboration Arrangement,
which is originally expired in October 2018. During the
year ended 31 March 2019, the Group has entered into a
supplemental agreement with THU to renew the terms of
the collaboration for another five years to October 2023.
(the “Renewed THU Collaboration Agreement”). Under the
Renewed THU Collaboration Agreement, Fosse Bio would
be entitled to commercialise the relevant technologies of
the Product and to manufacture and sell the Product on
an exclusive basis, and THU is entitled to 1.5% of Fosse
Bio’s annual sales upon commercialisation of the Product.
Accordingly, Fosse Bio has the exclusive right for the
commercialisation of the Product under the Renewed THU
Collaboration Agreement.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

17. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continueq)

On 25 June 2024, the Group entered into a second
supplemental agreement with THU to renew the term of the
THU Collaboration Arrangement to 30 June 2027.

The recoverable amount of the In-process R&D is
determined based on fair value calculation using the income
approach, with reference to the valuation performed by
Roma Appraisal Limited, an independent professional
qualified valuer. The fair value calculation used the cash
flow projection prepared by the Directors based on 10-years
projection period. Given the nature of the Product, which
is expected to be the first oral insulin drug available in the
market, in the opinion of the Directors, using a 10-years
projection period is more appropriate to reflect the future
cash flows arising from the Product in the long run.

The cash flow projection is also prepared under certain
key assumptions, including but not limited to the expected
selling price, budgeted sales, expected gross margin, the
estimate successful rate for the commercialisation of the
Product and discount rate. In addition, the fundamental
assumptions included the regulatory approvals from the
relevant government bodies (in particular, the granting
of the certificate of new medicine and pharmaceutical
manufacturing permit for the Product by National Medical
Products Administration of the PRC) to launch the Product in
the first quarter of 2026.

The expected future economic benefits attributable to
the In-process R&D approved by the management cover
a 10-years period. The calculation used in the cash flow
projection with certain key parameters are as below:

17.

ARa SRR M

BEEE®
RZE_WNFNA-+HB  XxEE
EEEKNEBIVE L aa &
BEAELEHZFHREEE_FT
—tFERNA=FH-

REBRARESEEL=E
ST A B (KA ER
B2 AT M 1 8 - 8 AR
AT EHEER - A FEA A E
REEEZR+FREABEE 2R

EREFAD EREMUEEFEHRA
miE EERARAHIHE 2 RS R

W) EZRA EATERAME
ERANRBRRETS KBEMI AR
BeneE -

ReRnE8RANMEETEERRR

% BRETERRETEE  BEH
E8  FAFEMNX - EREmEoE
AR ERR R RS - I - EAR
REEHAEBRNEER T F
%—+F’ﬁﬁfﬁ?‘ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ’]%€ﬁtﬁ
(REmMS  ARTEBEREREE

= E%E‘ﬁ?uuﬁg?‘ﬁﬁﬁﬁiiﬁ—f

BE) .

Az

Eﬁ%ﬁtﬁ’]ﬁﬂﬁ‘%_ﬁf‘fﬁﬁﬁﬂﬂi
;KZ§/Ei|J SR EI10FHIFA - IRE M Vi

EFRAFMAERE THERZ2ENT
ﬁfm_‘\:

Discount rate (post-tax) AL IR & (T 1&) 26.78% 29.0%
Growth rate HERE 2.2% 2.2%
Gross profit ratio bR 56% 63.4%
Estimate successful rate TERT AT X 52.3% 52.3%
The recoverable amount is significantly above the carrying ARERBEBARERSRASEELEE
amount of the Group’s intangible asset. Management HEREE  EERERAZSEBEMNE
believes that any reasonable possible change in any of these MEEAEE g TS EBHE -

assumptions would not result in impairment.
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AR e SRR MR

18. TRADE RECEIVABLES

18. E % B iR X

2024 2023

—E-ME —E-=F

HK$’000 HK$ 000

:F 5& JT :F /;é JC

Trade receivables B 5 & W Bk 3K 5,074 6,402
Less: Loss allowance for expected BoTEHEEBEZ

credit loss EiEEE (169) (235)

4,905 6,167

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly
based on credit. The credit terms of 90 days (2023:
90 days). All sales made to the major customer have
short credit terms. These credit evaluations focus on
the customers’ past history of making payments when
due and current ability to pay, and take into account

AEBEFP2EFHEREEZNURE
FAET EEHA/OBE(CE_=
F:90H) - AXBEPIEL 2 A H
EHREEEDR ZFEEFES
EPBCZEE)ESEﬁﬂJHE KIA 2 BERCE

LA&EHIZEZH £ WEEEPIA

information specific to the customer as well as pertaining REREFEE ZIKERRTMEE
to the economic environment in which the customer EER - ZIKEI@U]IET&? il K i ]
operates. The Group seeks to maintain strict control over ZEWIE  SREEES T HER
its outstanding receivables. Overdue balances are reviewed %0 HA 45 ﬁé? °
regularly by senior management.
The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables net of Héiﬁiﬁﬁﬂi BEZEZAHEI2E
allowance for credit losses presented based on the invoice SREBERR (kR E fﬁ@ﬁ?ﬁﬁé‘ﬁ)ZEﬁ
date at the end of the reporting period: RO :
2024 2023
—E-_NME
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
30 days or less 30HZ AT 571 505
31 to 60 days 31260H 349 491
61 to 90 days 61290H 762 695
91 to 180 days 915E180H 2,435 2,134
Over 180 days H##@180H 788 2,342
4,905 6,167
The Group did not hold any collateral over these balances. AEERERZFTERTHTMAE
o
Details of impairment assessment of trade receivables are ZE5RWEFBRENBZFBEHAR
set out in note 31. B 3E31 ©
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20.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND
OTHER RECEIVABLES

AR TSR M

19. AN RE  BERHEME
W K I8

2024 2023

—E-NEF T =F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FTER FE&T

Prepaid rental fee ERNES 52 57
Prepaid project operating fund ENIEEEELE 1,554 1,554
Deposits paid EffEE 1 530
Other receivables H i & Y K IR 212 244
Total #ET 1,819 2,385

Details of impairment of other receivables and deposits are
set out in note 31.

BANK BALANCES AND CASH

Bank balances and cash comprise cash and bank balances
held by the Group with original maturity of three months
or less and carry interest at prevailing deposit rates which
range from 0.01% to 0.875% (2023: 0.625% to 0.750%) per
annum.

TRADE PAYABLES

The following is an aged analysis of trade payables
presented based on the invoice date at the end of the
reporting period:

Hfth B W R IE IR £ R E T 2 5
BRI FEST ©

20. RITEBRRERS
BITEBLRESBREASEEREEZ
ReRiF1TEH - REHBHBA=@A
HERERE  BRRITERFERFTE
M EANFFE0.01%E0.875% (Z =
— =% :0.625%%F0.750%) °

21. E 5 B ARK
RBEEF  REREAHEF2E
508 R 3R 2 FR e AT A0 T -

2024 2023

—E-@mE = =
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET TET
30 days or less 30HZ AT 479 440
31 to 60 days 31260H 296 428
61 to 90 days 61%290H 649 623
Over 90 days B 3m90H 429 2,531
1,853 4,022

The average credit period on purchase of goods normally
range from 60 days to 90 days.
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22, HEEE

22.LEASE LIABILITIES

2024 2023
—ET_-_F ==
HK$’000 HK$’000
FER FATT
Current Bl &R - 968
Non-current JE BN HA =
968
Minimum lease payments due RT3 EE KR 2
REMBERE
— Within one year ——FRA 979
— More than one year but not more  — B —%F
than two years BARZRME - —
- 979
Future finance charges ARBEMRAZ - (11)
Present value of lease liabilities MEBRRE - 968
Present value of minimum lease ®EHEERIBRE
payments
— Within one year —— R - 968
— More than one year but not more  — B —%F
than two years BRZRAME - —
- 968
Amounts due for settlement within R—ERINBEN 2R
one year - 968
Amounts due for settlement after R—FRINPEN 2
one year - _
- 968

AEBEfEGZHERBENT:

The exposure of the Group’s lease liabilities are as follow:

2024 2023

—E_E —E=F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FHET

As at 1 April REA—HB 968 2,849
Interest expense F BRX 11 78
Repayment B (979) (1,959)
As at 31 March R=ZA=+—8H - 968
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NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS,
AMOUNT DUE TO A FORMER
ASSOCIATE, LOAN FROM A NON-
CONTROLLING INTERESTS, LOAN FROM
A FORMER ASSOCIATE AND LOAN
FROM A SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDER

Amounts due to non-controlling
interests

& {5F 3F 22 B 4 21 SRR

AR TSR M

23. AMOUNTS DUE TO NON-CONTROLLING 23.fE ‘3R ES R aidEie
INTERESTS AND FORMER

RERKIE - B A BE
REHIE - REFEZRERS
B REFBERTER
R—UEERRER

2024
—E-mE

2023
—E-=%F
HK$’000
& T

HK$°000
FER

Fordnew (Notes a and b) 2 B (Bt sFaXb) 3,092 3,092
Amounts due to former JIE 1<F BT JE #28 BR 48 2 7K E

non-controlling interests

Zheng Chang Xue (Notes a and b) &S 2 (M takb) 559 559

Hou Shi Chang (Notes a and b) &t 8 (HsFakb) 165 165

724 724

Amount due to a former associate JE <1 Bl Bé & 2 ] RKIB

Extrawell (BVI) (Note d) Extrawell (BVI) (Ff 5 d) 41,947 41,947
Loan from a non-controlling interests R B JE#E I #E 25 B X

Fordnew (Note c) 12 B (Bt ¥ c) 10,346 10,346
Loan from a former associate RERTEEE DA B R

Extrawell (BVI) (Note ) Extrawell (BVI) (Ff 3t e) 24,654 23,503
Loan from a substantial shareholder B —fZ E*EREE X

Dr. Mao (Note f) E1E 1 (FaEf) 62,300 51,000

20245 FEMBEREMPERERAF
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

iR e ISR M L

23. AMOUNTS DUE TO NON-CONTROLLING 23. FE 1 3k %= B # 25 2 A 3F #2=
% RE 35 TR IE - FE Y AT B &
= - Rﬁ#?‘ﬂﬁ%éﬁ
A RBEAHERATER
—NEFERRER

INTERESTS AND FORMER
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS,
AMOUNT DUE TO A FORMER
ASSOCIATE, LOAN FROM A NON-
CONTROLLING INTERESTS, LOAN FROM
A FORMER ASSOCIATE AND LOAN
FROM A SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDER

(Continued)
Notes:

(@) The amounts are unsecured, interest-free and have no fixed terms
of repayment.

(b) The amounts represent contributions made by non-controlling
interests of Fosse Bio in respect of working capital and operation
funds for the further clinical trials of the oral insulin project.

(¢ This represents a loan made by Fordnew to Fosse Bio pursuant to
the loan agreement entered into between Smart Ascent and Fordnew
on 25 May 2011. The loan is unsecured and non-interest bearing. The
loan will be repaid 3 years after the product available to launch in the
market.

(d) The amount is unsecured, interest-free and is repayable within one
year.

(e) On 27 July 2018, the Company and Extrawell (BVI) entered into a
shareholders’ loan agreement for a loan to Smart Ascent amounting
to HK$30,000,000 million in total (the “2018 Shareholder Loan”), to
be contributed as to 51% i.e. HK$15,300,000 by the Company and as
to 49% i.e. HK$14,700,000 by Extrawell (BVI). The 2018 Shareholder
Loan is unsecured, interest bearing at 5% per annum, repayable after
5 years at the drawdown date.

Smart Ascent has been fully drawn down the loan on 24 September
2018, 7 August 2019 and 14 August 2019. As at 31 March 2024,
interest expenses of HK$1,566,000 (2023: HK$1,500,000) is
recognised to profit or loss.

On 8 March 2022, the Company and Extrawell (BVI) entered into a
Shareholders’ loan agreement for a loan to Smart Ascent amounting
to HK$12,000,000 million in total (the “2022 Shareholder Loan”), to
be contributed as to 51% i.e. HK$6,100,000 by the Company and as
to 49% i.e. HK$5,900,000 by Extrawell (BVI). The 2022 Shareholder
Loan is unsecured, interest bearing at 5% per annum, repayable after
5 years at the drawdown date.

Smart Ascent has been fully drawn down the loan on 17 June 2022,
6 January 2023 and 15 March 2023. As at 31 March 2024, interest
expenses of HK$600,000 (2023: HK$255,000) is recognised to profit
or loss.

(f) For the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023, the loan from a
substantial shareholder is unsecured, non-interest bearing and
repayable within one year.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR BRI

24. DEFERRED TAX 24, EEBLIE
At as 31 March 2024, the Group had estimated unused tax RZE_WMF=ZA=+—H ~£H
losses of HK$nil (2023: HK$nil) available for offset against B ERBAREBBEZEAT(ZE
future profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised —=F:THx) RERERERE
in respect of the tax losses due to the unpredictability of o ARAKRERAREBEFRE - W
future profit streams. The tax losses have not been agreed WESEEHNIBEEBERELERIE
by the relevant authorities. The tax losses do not expire BE  AHERHNAZTHIEBEE -
under current tax legislation. BBRITHRE - BHIEBEB TR -
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25. o[ & R f& &
FRARD R BT 2 AR S
HZEHBIMT

25. CONVERTIBLE BONDS

The movement of liability component of Convertible Bonds
issued by the Company for the year is set out below:

Convertible Convertible Convertible  Convertible

Bonds | Bonds Il Bonds Il Bonds IV Total

CIE::e TR CIE:1: e TRR
E%— &%= &%= &% @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TEL FET TET TEL
As at 1 April 2022 R-Z-—4WA-A 176,520 22,000 639,326 33,445 871,791
Effective interest expenses ERFISHY 45,394 5,227 174,572 7,838 233,031

As at 31 March 2023 and W-E-=#=R=+—H

1 April 2023 K-E-=%NA-AH 221,914 27,227 814,398 41283 1,104,822
Effective interest expenses ERFERY 33,890 4818 171,185 7,132 217,025

Extinguishment of convertible bond 1R 1% & A5 E K AT # ik

under substantial modification &% - - (871,773) = (871,773)
Recognition of convertible bond REENESERTAR
under substantial modification &% - - 541,536 = 541,536
Conversion of convertible bonds ERARRESR = (32,045) = (48,415) (80,460)
As at 31 March 2024 R-ZBE-ME=A=1+-H 255,804 - 655,346 - 911,150
Analysed as: TR
Current k) 255,804 -~ - -~ 255,804
Non current EE) - - 655,346 - 655,346
255,804 - 655,346 - 911,150

EABRKRESNMERERINE
BRAENF - 5 F21.28% £35% (=

The effective interest rates of all the liability component of
all the convertible bonds ranged from: 21.23% to 35% per

116

annum (2023: 23.44% to 27.28% per annum).

Convertible Bonds |

The Company issued convertible bonds in an aggregate
principal amount of HK$436,800,000 and HK$51,200,000
respectively on 25 October 2013 and 27 December 2013
(collectively referred to as “Convertible Bonds 1”) for the
acquisition of Sale CB-I and 450,000,000 ordinary shares
of Extrawell. The Convertible Bonds | with a zero coupon
rate mature on the tenth anniversary of the date of issue.

The Convertible Bonds | entitle the bond holders to convert
them into shares of the Company at any time within 10
years from the date of issue of the Convertible Bonds I,
at the conversion price per share of HK$0.40, subject to
anti-dilution clauses.
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T = GEI344%E27.28%) ©

ARKRES—

KRR ZZE—=F+A-+RENKZ
E—=F+ A+ LHEBTAUBER
&% © At A< 5 5l A436,800,000
% 7T }251,200,0005% 7T (& 78 [ 7] #2 j%
BEF ) BEUBEETRRKE
% — LA K 45 18 #9450,000,000 4% & i
f% - TEEXRMA MR ES —EET
BERREETHEFERRE -

A ES T EFREAER
REITAMRES - AR TSR
i AT AR (B 25 — R AR AR
> BRERERKRMN040ETT - A
X R ESEIRRR B o



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

25. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continueq)

Convertible Bonds | (continued)

If the Convertible Bonds | have not been converted, they
will be redeemed at par on the tenth anniversary of the
date of issue.

The Convertible Bonds | are issued in HK$. The fair values
of the liability component were HK$42,886,000 and
HK$4,981,000 for the Convertible Bonds | issued by the
Company on 25 October 2013 and 27 December 2013
respectively, which has been determined by the discounted
cash flow approach using the prevailing market interest rate
of similar non-convertible bonds and taking into account
the credit risk of the Company. The fair values of the
conversion option of HK$671,267,000 and HK$82,161,000
classified as equity component for the Convertible Bonds
| issued by the Company on 25 October 2013 and 27
December 2013 respectively were calculated using the
Binomial Model. The inputs into the model were as follows:

Stock price & B

Exercise price TEE

Discount rate B3R &

Risk-free rate (note a) = 2 B 71 & (Bt 5Ea)
Expected volatility (note b) 8 8% 18 (Fft 5% b)

Expected dividend yield (note ¢ TEHRRR B W e & (M 3Ec)

AR TSR M

25. AR EFH @
ABKRES—®
AT AR EHF— R EE R - H g
TEHHEE+TRAFBLKEAEEL -

AR ES —ABITET - A2 A
R_E—=ZF+A-_+HEBRK_-Z
—=F+ A+ tHFREITHAHR
BEHF—HWEERS>RAFES A
42,886,000/% T &4,981,000/% JT °
EBARREEeREE  FEHBEMU
MR ESFIRITMISFEREE
Y RARRZEERR - XARK
—E—=F+A-t+tRANR-_ZT—=
F+-_A-tEtBABTZIREBRES
— AR BRREZATE
2 Bl A&671,267,0007% 7T }282,161,000
BT BB -—EABRE - %8
AH@ALT -

27 December 2013

25 October 2013

—E—= ===
+B=+EH +=A=++H
Principal amount of Principal amount of
HK$436,800,000 HK$51,200,000
436,800,000 7T 51,200,0005% 7T
HK$0.91 HK$0.99
0.91%8 T 0.997 7T
HK$0.40 HK$0.40
0.408 T 0.40% T
26.12% 26.24%
1.83% 2.32%
86.71% 85.53%
0.00% 0.00%

Any changes in the major inputs used in the model will
result in changes in the fair value of the liability component.
The variables and assumptions used in calculating the fair
value of the liability component are based on the directors’
best estimate.

Notes:

The rate was determined with reference to the yields of Hong Kong
government bonds and treasury bills as at the date of valuation.

(b) Based on the historical price volatility of the Company over the past
bond period.

(c) Estimated by reference to the historical dividend payout of the
Company.

A2 E B8 ARER T
BE BEREHBHAFEEE
B HEABHH AT EMAEE

EBRJBDEREEFNREME -

B 5E

@ ZANXRDSLERNGERRTERFES
N B 55 ) M 2 R E

b) EREFBRARFNBEEBRKE -

© REARFANBERBIRMGEFSH -
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25. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continueq)

118

Convertible Bonds | (continued)

During the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023, none of
the Convertible Bonds | was converted into ordinary shares
of the Company.

The movement of liability component of Convertible Bonds
| for the year is set out below:

25. AR EFH o
BB ESRF—
REBZE-_Z_WNERN_T -_=F=H
=+—BHItFE  WEABRKES—
WA KA TR -

FERTHRRES 2 ABESS 2B
R :

Principal Carrying

amount amount

PN REE

HK$’000 HK$’000

FAET FAET

As at 1 April 2022 R-E-—FPMA—H 256,000 176,520

Effective interest expense ERMERAX — 45,394
As at 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023 W—ZE-=F=AF=+—H

KT =FMA—AH 256,000 221,914

Effective interest expense ERMERAX - 33,890

As at 31 March 2024 R-ZE-_NFE=A=+—H 256,000 255,804

The Convertible bonds | were matured on 25 October 2023
and 27 December 2023 respectively.

On 15 August 2023 and 22 December 2023, the Company
and the bondholders entered into the deed of amendment
and supplemental deed of amendment pursuant to which
the Company and bondholders agreed to amend the
terms of the convertible bonds in the principal amount of
HK$256,000,000 to the effect that: (i) the conversion price
of the convertible bonds shall be amended form HK$0.4
to HK$0.202; (i) the maturity date of the convertible bonds
shall be extended from the tenth anniversary of the date of
issue to the twentieth anniversary of the date of issue.

The amendment shall be conditional upon and subject to:

a)  the approval having been obtained from the Stock
Exchange in respect of the amendment;

b) all necessary consents and approvals required to
be obtained on the part of the Company and the
bondholders in respect of the amendment having
been obtained and remained in full force and effect;
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5] /K 4 %8 £256,000,00078 JT 2 0] #
fREH 2GR BE: ()T BRiRES
ZBREERO.4EITIEE] £0.202/%
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25. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continueq)

Convertible Bonds | (continued)

c) the passing of the necessary resolution(s) by the
shareholders of each of the Company and the
bondholders at a special general meeting of each of
the Company and the bondholders to be convened
and held to approve the deed of amendment and the
transactions contemplated thereunder; and

d) (if necessary) the bondholders having passed a
written resolution of the bondholders meeting to
approve the deed of amendment and the transactions
contemplated thereunder.

On 24 May 2024 and 21 June 2024, the special general
meeting was held and the amendment of the Convertible
Bonds | have been completed respectively. The directors
of the Company are of the opinion that the amendment of
the Convertible Bonds | has been completed subsequently
to the financial statement and consider the classification of
the Convertible Bonds | continued as convertible bond.

Convertible Bonds Il

The Company issued convertible bonds in an aggregate
principal amount of HK$64,000,000, HK$64,000,000 and
HK$64,000,000 respectively on 24 April 2014, 30 August
2014 and 31 December 2014 (collectively referred to as
“Convertible Bonds II”) for the acquisition of Sale CB-ll
first batch, second batch and third batch respectively. The
Convertible Bonds Il with zero coupon rate will mature on
the tenth anniversary of the date of issue.

The Convertible Bonds Il entitle the bond holders to
convert them into shares of the Company at any time within
10 years from the date of issue of the Convertible Bonds II,
at the initial conversion price per share of HK$0.40, subject
to anti-dilution clauses.

If the Convertible Bonds Il have not been converted, they
will be redeemed at par on the tenth anniversary of the
date of issue.

ARa SRR M

25. I IR B 5 »)

AR ESRE— @

o) HEARRKELFEFEADR A
BRI RE R EIA THETH
RS AR REITRI R R EERIA
gL ARARERESFZFEA
BESRBEBIFRERZER &

d (WERB)EFRHAAEBESR
EASHLBBREMRAR
AR RIE R EE N RHETT
MR 5 °

BRBFIRKEENFINR_ZE_NFR
AZ+tmHBARZZE-_MF A=+ —
A&7 YERELEZXATBREKRES
—HEE] - ARBIEERE AR
BEHE—NETHERERTBHRET
K WEEBRRES —EESE
BB ES -

ARRES =
ARBARZE—NWFMNA=-—+WMA -
—E-NMENA=F+HEZ-Z O
F+_A=+—"HBORNUAELEEHE
64,000,000 JT * 64,000,000 JT
LA §264,000,0007% 7T 2% 77 A #2 f% (& 5
(EATBREESE -] &
W FETBRkESsE -S4  £—
HERE=H TEEXMAREKE
S TR EAE T AFTFERAE
/Hﬂ o

AMEES T EFRHEAER
RETABKREF_AHRETFER
BREAIRKRES —_BRREAQA
Befn - i BI(E ST A(D0.40/8
T AR RESERRR S

fi FTH AR (R — R - G0 AT

FHEE+AFEAKEETAE
@ o
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25. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continueq)

Convertible Bonds Il «continuea)

The Convertible Bonds Il are issued in HK$. The fair
values of the liability component were HK$6,622,000,
HK$6,916,000 and HK$7,577,000 for the Convertible Bonds
Il issued by the Company on 24 April 2014, 30 August
2014 and 31 December 2014 respectively, which has
been determined by the discounted cash flow approach
using the prevailing market interest rate of similar non-
convertible bonds and taking into account the credit risk
of the Company. The fair values of the conversion option
of HK$131,454,000, HK$118,983,000 and HK$112,597,000
classified as equity component for the Convertible Bonds |l

25. I IR B F »)

AR ES — @
ARREFZUBILEIT « AAERZ
Z—ENMA—+MA - —T—WFEN
A=+Bk-_ZE—NE+-A=+—H
FrEsrTm iR ES B EHD A F
B 75 /56,622,00078 7T 6,916,000/%
JC X%7,577,000/8 7T  JhiE @ BhIR IR &
MEE - FMABLUERRRESHIR
ﬁ‘ﬁb}zﬂﬁzi Wt RARRZEE
B2 o ARBRZZT— mimﬂ—+m
EI —T— mﬁ/\ﬂ +AERZ=ZET—
FH+—_A=+— E!%;}%TTZT?@Hxﬁ%%

THhERERIOBREZ AFES
A1 131,454,000 7T + 118,983,000/
7T & 112,597,000/ 7C © JhiE @ — AR
BXEHE - ZEANEALT:

issued by the Company on 24 April 2014, 30 August 2014
and 31 December 2014 respectively were calculated using
Binomial Model. The inputs into the model were as follows:

24 April 2014 30 August 2014 31 December 2014

“E-|mEF “E-|NEF “E-NE

mA=+mA NE=+R t=A=+-E

Principal amount  Principal amount Principal amount

of HK$64,000,000 of HK$64,000,000 of HK$64,000,000

X&H x&E biNc R ]

64,000,0007% T 64,000,0007% T 64,000,0007% 7

Stock price RIE HK$1.42 HK$1.19 HK$1.16
1,428 7T 1197 T 11658 7T

Exercise price e HK$0.40 HK$0.40 HK$0.40
0.408 T 0408 T 04078 T

Discount rate i 25.46% 24.92% 23.78%
Risk-free rate (note a) = 3B ) & (fff 3t a) 2.20% 1.84% 1.85%
Expected volatility (note b) T8 1R & (P 5 ) 84.57% 82.53% 80.79%
Expected dividend yield (note ¢) T HRRR B0 25 & (Fi 5 c) 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%

Any changes in the major inputs used in the model will BXMAZEEB ASIBEEEM
result in changes in the fair value of the liability component. e HE @lﬁfﬁ‘ DRFEEE
The variables and assumptions used in calculating the fair “{t Eae fﬁﬁ’\/‘iﬁﬁﬁﬁ%“ =
value of the liability component are based on the directors’ REBREDEREESHNREMG -

best estimate.

Notes: Bt 3T -

FZMEZ2ERHEBREFRRMNES
Ko JEE 75 O UK 5 R E o

(@) The rate was determined with reference to the yields of Hong Kong (@)
government bonds and treasury bills as at the date of valuation.

(b)  Based on the historical price volatility of the Company over the past (b) ERBEFHAMARAABEBEKE -
bond period.

(c)  Estimated by reference to the historical dividend payout of the () WEARAABERBIRMEEEE -
Company.
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25. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continueq)

Convertible Bonds Il continuead)

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Convertible
Bonds Il was fully converted. The Company allotted
and issued 99,000,000 shares of the Company to the
subscriber on 5 January 2024.

The movement of liability component of Convertible Bond Il
for the year is set out below:

AR TSR M

25. A/ AR B FH =)
o450 3 =
HE-Z-_WNFE=A=+—HItFE -
AIBRRER D REER - KAFR
—E N F— ﬂﬂaﬁu/b\ﬁﬁ/\ﬁﬂﬁxﬁ
24799,000,0008% 75 22 7] B& 4 ©

FARAMERESF - 2BERDZ
E I U

R
-

Principal Carrying
amount amount
& REE
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAET
As at 1 April 2022 R-ZE-__FIAH—H 39,600 22,000
Effective interest expenses ERAMEXZ — 5,227
As at 31 March 2023 and R-ZZEZ_=F=A=+—H
1 April 2023 F—E-=FMH—H 39,600 27,227
Effective interest expenses EEFMEZH — 4,818
Conversion of convertible bond HIRTMRES (39,600) (32,045)
As at 31 March 2024 R-ZE-_NFEF=HA=+—H - -
Convertible Bonds Il ARKRESR=
The Company issued convertible bonds to its associate, ARARER-_E—NELA=-+N\H

Extrawell, in an aggregate principal amount of
HK$715,000,000 on 28 July 2014 (collectively referred to
as “Convertible Bonds IlI") as part of the consideration
paid to acquire of 51% equity interest in Smart Ascent. The
Convertible Bonds Il with coupon rate of 3.5% per annum
will mature on the seventh anniversary of the date of issue.

The Convertible Bonds lll entitle the bond holders to
convert them into shares of the Company at any time within
7 years from the date of issue of the Convertible Bonds lll,
at the initial conversion price per share of HK$2.50, subject
to anti-dilution clauses.

If the Convertible Bonds lll has not been converted, they
will be redeemed at par on the seventh anniversary of the
date of issue.

BTN € #5 /715,000,000 7T 2
AkES(ARIATRERESR=]DT
HEE QAR E  EREIXNKE
EES1BIE 2B - AIRBRES=
ZEEFRER[/IE% LK EITH
HEFELBFEAINE -

AR ES =T EFHEAER
RETARKRES=-"BHPERLFR
BEESATREEF=—ER R ARA

f&1n - Ul EBRE AT RAR(H2.50%8
T AR REBEIRRBRS -

AT ER =R EESR  BSR
HTAHEAELBFERKREET
LAfE [ -
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25. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continueq) 25. AT R & 25 )

122

Convertible Bonds Il continuea)

The Convertible Bonds Ill are issued in HK$. The fair value
of the liability component was HK$233,547,000 for the
Convertible Bonds Il issued by the Company on 28 July
2014, which has been determined by the discounted cash
flow approach using the prevailing market interest rate of
similar non-convertible bonds and taking into account the

ABBRELFE= 2

AR ER=ZIABITEIT - XA
%:%—Eitﬂ:ﬂ—/\ﬁﬁéﬁz
ABMBRES=MAEHX»NAFE
#233,547,00078 7T * ThE B AL IE
Al AR B H W IR 1T T 35 H R R BE 3R
Eﬁuﬁ/)\bi/ﬁ#i i/EEEJF&$Qﬂ

credit risk of the Company. The fair value of the conversion MEERR ARAaR_T—NF
option of HK$136,646,000 classified as equity component +t A= ‘H\ EI BiozamRES=
for the Convertible Bonds Il issued by the Company on 28 PHEAEERBIBRBREZATES
July 2014 was calculated using Binomial Model. The inputs 136,646,000/%% T DERAZEAE
into the model were as follows: NEtHE - ZEXANBHALT :

Stock price B

TE(E

Exercise price

FAIR &
2 g ) R

Discount rate

Risk-free rate (note a)

Expected volatility (note b)
Expected dividend yield (note c)

<(Hft 5ta)
8 B % 18 (P £ b)
B HA AR B s &

28 July 2014
—E-{F
tA=+N\H

Principal

amount of
HK$715,000,000
&5
715,000,0003% T

HK$1.27
1.2778 7T
HK$2.50
2.5078 7T
24.13%
0.13%
27.29%

< (Fff 7EcC) 0.00%

Any changes in the major inputs used in the model will
result in changes in the fair value of the liability component.
The variables and assumptions used in calculating the fair
value of the liability component are based on the directors’
best estimate.

Notes:

(a) The rate was determined with reference to the yields of Hong Kong
government bonds and treasury bills as at the date of valuation.

(b) Based on the historical price volatility of the Company over the past
bond period.

(c) Estimated by reference to the historical dividend payout of the
Company.
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25. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continueq)

Convertible Bonds Il continuea)

On 28 October 2019, the Company completed the
amendment of the term and condition of the Convertible
Bonds Il with Extrawell. Under the amendment, Extrawell
agreed the due date for annual interest payment of
HK$25,025,000 due on 27 July 2019, 2020 and 2021
amended to on or before 28 July 2021; and additional
interest of HK$11,261,250 shall be paid by the Company
on 28 July 2021. Detail of the amendments of the term
and condition of the Convertible Bond Il are set out in the
Company’s circular dated 13 September 2019.

On 16 August 2021, the Company completed the
amendment of the term and conditions of the convertible
bonds with Extrawell. Under the amendment, Extrawell
agreed to amend the term of the convertible bonds to
effect that, (i) the maturity date shall be extended from the
original maturity date to 28 July 2023; and (ii) the interest
payment date of the convertible bonds were amended.
Detail of the amendment of the term and condition of the
Convertible Bond lll are set out in the Company’s circular
dated 13 July 2021.

On 12 July 2023, the Company completed the third
amendment of the term and conditions of the convertible
bonds, Extrawell agreed to amend the term of the
convertible bonds to effect that, (i) the maturity date shall
be extended from 28 July 2023 to 28 July 2025; and
(i) the interest payment date of the convertible bonds
were amended. Detail of the amendment of the term and
condition of the convertible Bonds Ill are set out in the
Company’s circular dated 12 June 2023.

During the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023, none
of the Convertible Bonds Ill was converted into ordinary
shares of the Company.

The management of the Company has performed the
qualitative assessment on the amendment of the term
of the convertible bond and consider the terms are
substantially different. Accordingly, such modification
of terms is accounted for as an extinguishment, gain
on extinguishment of convertible bond of approximately
HK$330,237,000 was recognised into the profit or loss.

ARa SRR M

25. I IR B 5 »)

AR ESR=@
RZZBE—AEFE+A=-+N\H  AQ7F
A EFESE] TR RESH = WIER
KAt o BIBER] - BFEREBRZ
E-NF —ZT_EFR_FT_—
+ A=+t B 3|8 FE {7 #925,025,000
BETHNEBFEFNEMNRINPANAE =T
——F+ A+ NBHZA RAR
RIEARN-_ZE-_—F+ A+ NBXfM
%8 NFI) 811,261,250 7T © £ 5] Al
BEHF =GR EEGZFBRHRAERRD
AARA-ZT-—NLFNA+=RAZA
|>T_<| °

R—_ZE—_—FNA+"H ' KQ7%
RERBEBTIREKRESNERKE
B4 - BRBIERT BEREER A
BmRESEZ G B2 HEERR
R EgEE—_TE-_=F A =+N
B: k()yJ®REF2NFEBBRET
HE—HIEE] - BEI A RRESHF KR
gtz FBHRARRBHAZT
——F+tA+=ZHZEX-

RZZEZ=FtA+=H AQAEZE
RE=ZRETAIRKRESFZBERR
B BEREEBIBRRESR K
F OB BAER S =F+ A
—t+tNREE—ZE-_FAE+A=+N
B: k()yJRiREHF2NFEBBRET
HE—HIEE] c BEIAMRRESZIKR
gtz BHRARRIBHAAE
ZE=FANATZHZBEK -

BE_Z_NHNFR-_ZF-_=ZF=A
= +—HIEFE TEABERES=
ARy NN R

ARREEBEHABRERGR
(ETETEERG  LRSEBIK
RERLFEEEZR - Bt - BRAKK
ZEREARINA—HENR - X NE
HERAERERAIRRES 2 WS
#1330,237,000/% JT °
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25. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continueq)
Convertible Bonds Il continuea)

The movement of liability component of Convertible Bond
[l for the year is set out below:

124

25. I IR B F »)

—Hﬂ‘ H’L{a%— (4)
ﬁﬁ']ﬁlﬂ—

Principal Carrying

amount amount

& REE

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET FHET

As at 1 April 2022 R-ZE__FMH—H 715,000 639,826

Interest expense paid EXNHERX - 174,572
As at 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023 W—ZE-=F=F=+—H

rF—FTE =% AF—H 715,000 814,398

Interest expense paid EXfFERAZ — 171,185
Extinguishment of convertible bond BIRE KIEF]E AT AR

under substantial modification BE%H - (871,773)
Recognition of convertible bond BIEEREETERITRR

under substantial modification EE - 541,536

As at 31 March 2024 R-BE-NME=ZA=+—H 715,000 655,346

Convertible Bonds IV ;R ESM

The Company issued convertible bonds in an aggregate
principal amount of HK$64,000,000 on 30 April 2015
(collectively referred to as “Convertible Bonds V") for the
acquisition of Sale CB-IlI fourth batch. The Convertible
Bonds IV with zero coupon rate will mature on the tenth
anniversary of the date of issue.

The Convertible Bonds IV entitle the bond holders to
convert them into shares of the Company at any time within
10 years from the date of issue of the Convertible Bonds 1V,
at the initial conversion price per share of HK$0.40, subject
to anti-dilution clauses.

If the Convertible Bonds IV have not been converted, they
will be redeemed at par on the tenth anniversary of the
date of issue.

The Convertible Bonds IV are issued in HK$. The fair
value of the liability component was HK$7,790,000 for the
Convertible Bonds IV issued by the Company on 30 April
2015, which has been determined by the discounted cash
flow approach using the prevailing market interest rate of
similar non-convertible bonds and taking into account the
credit risk of the Company. The fair value of the conversion
option of HK$109,371,000 classified as equity component
for the Convertible Bonds IV issued by the Company on 30
April 2015 was calculated using Binomial Model.
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?Eﬁﬂﬁﬂxﬁ%mﬂﬁé%? HEf#E 5T
F+HEFEHDIE -

AR E SO T ES A AER

RNETAIBRBRESODBEHRE+FR
IKLHT%T?ﬁHxL% @}TﬁﬁKQEg
0.40;

Befn - M EE S TN
T AR REEIRRRE -

fied BJ #0 BR A 25 PO R M B 4 - BI G 0 3%
TEHEAFETREFEAREMET
PAREE -

AR EE A B T EIT - AR
T -RFNA=THBETZABIRE
A B EID A A FE(E A7,790,000
BT THIRABELGET R R EEMIR
TMSHFERIZBBIRESTEEETE
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R-E—RAFNA=F+HETZA#H
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25. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continueq)

Convertible Bonds IV (continued)
The inputs into the model were as follows:

Stock price
Exercise price

Discount rate

Risk-free rate (note a)

Expected volatility (note b)
Expected dividend yield (note c)

1TE(E

REIR &
4 2 B A =X (Fff iEa)
8 HA R i@ (P FEb)

T8 HA AR B &

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR TSR M

25. A/ AR B FH =)
AR ESF N
ZEARE AT :

30 April 2015
—E-—EF
mMA=+H

Principal

amount of
HK$64,000,000
PN
64,000,000 JT

B (& HK$1.16

1167 7T
HK$0.40
0.407% 7T
23.44%
1.48%
79.49%

< (Fff 7EC) 0.00%

Any changes in the major inputs used in the model will

T?lfﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁzzxﬁﬁ)\%ﬁf?éifiﬁ

result in changes in the fair value of the liability component. Z@J ﬂ#’%@l,@ﬁ foNFEEEE
The variables and assumptions used in calculating the fair b 5AEEBEE ””$@ﬁﬁ%” =S
value of the liability component are based on the directors’ BETDERESFHNHREME -

best estimate.

Notes:

(a) The rate was determined with reference to the yields of Hong Kong (@)
government bonds and treasury bills as at the date of valuation.

Bt &t -

ZMEZ2ERHEBREERNES
Ko JEE 5 0O UK 5 R E o

(b)  Based on the historical price volatility of the Company over the past b) HREFHFHABARARIMBEERKZIE o
bond period.

(c)  Estimated by reference to the historical dividend payout of the © WEEAAFABERSIKMNGEESEL -
Company.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Convertible HE_Z_NWE=/A=+—HBHIEE

Bond IV were fully converted. The Company allotted
and issued 105,000,000 and 55,000,000 shares of the

B A BREFEOEEEER - AR
Bl 7 5l 7S — S o = e

Company to the subscriber on 29 December 2023 and 10 EZFE-WFE—HTHRREARLZ

January 2024 respectively.

K # 17105,000,0004% }55,000,000
PRARRBIRAD °

20245 FEMBEREMPERERAF

125



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

b A\ B R T B
25. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continveq) 25. AR EFH o
Convertible Bonds IV (continueq) Al R fE %5 W e
The movement of liability component of Convertible Bond FARBRESRMN BEHBO 2 EE
IV for the year is set out below: o
Principal Carrying
amount amount
biNC ] BREE
HK$'000 HK$’000
FHET FHET
As at 1 April 2022 WN_Z - _FPH—H 64,000 33,445
Effective interest expense ERMERT - 7,838

As at 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023 R—_ZFE - =F=H=+—H

EZZF_=FNMA—H 64,000 41,283
Effective interest expense ERMERAX — 7,132
Conversion of convertible bond HIRT R E S (64,000) (48,415)
As at 31 March 2024 R-ZE-_NF=A=+—H - -
26. SHARE CAPITAL 26. g #x
Number of
ordinary share
of HK$0.01 Amount
BREE
0.018 T Z
ZHEREE k-
HK$’000
FE T
Authorised: EIE
As at 1 April 2022, 31 March 2023, RZZEZ_FWMPA—-H "
1 April 2023 and 31 March 2024 —E-_=F=A=+—-8"
= f: =FMA—ABK
“E-ME=RA=+—H 50,000,000,000 500,000
Issued and fully paid: BEEATRERHR:
As at 1 April 2022, 31 March 2023 and RNZE__FMAF—H-
1 April 2023 —E-—4£-A-+-BE
—E-=FmMA—H 1,464,193,024 14,642
Issuance of share under conversion of AERRRELFMETL
convertible bonds (note 25) A& £ (Fft 7£25) 259,000,000 2,590
As at 31 March 2024 RZZE_MNF=A=t—H 1,723,193,024 17,232
As at 31 March 2024, the maximum number of shares RZE-_WFEF=ZA=+—8B &2
issuable upon conversion of all outstanding convertible AIBITHMBRITEAARKRES
bonds issued by the Company is 926,000,000 (2023: FEBE TETHNRMDEE L
1,805,000,000). R £926,000,000f (= & — = &F:

1,805,000,000/% ) °
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27. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

Retirement benefit costs

The Group contributes to a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefits scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
Ordinance for all employees in Hong Kong. Contributions
are made based on a percentage of the employees’
relevant income and are charged to profit or loss as they
become payable in accordance with the rules of the
MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held
separately from those of the Group in an independently
administered fund. The Group’s employer contributions
vest fully with the employees when contributed in the MPF
Scheme. Under the MPF Scheme, the employer and its
employees are each required to make contribution to the
MPF Scheme at 5% of the employees’ relevant income
subject to a cap of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000.
Contributions to the MPF Scheme vest immediately.

The employees of the Company’s subsidiaries which
operate in the PRC are required to participate in a
central pension scheme operated by the local municipal
government. These subsidiaries are required to contribute
a certain percentage of its payroll costs to the central
pension scheme. The contributions are charged to profit
or loss as they become payable in accordance with
the rules of the central pension scheme. The Group’s
employer contributions vest fully with the employees when
contributed in the central pension scheme. The Group
has no forfeiture of pension scheme contributions (i.e.
contributions processed by the employer on behalf of the
employee who has exited the scheme prior to vesting of
such contributions). As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, no
forfeited contribution under the pension scheme of the
Group is available for deduction of contribution payable in
coming years.

ARa SRR M

27. R K8 7 51 8

EBIRE R KA
AEBEFMBEEBEEM AT EATE
SR BB A Z R H ERATESRIK
BRI E ([RESFE D) IEL EREE
Koo RIBERIBESFTENER - HRHE
REEBRBYRAZBEDLAE IR
FEAETINEERSMNR - B2
B CEERAEB I EESHE
B RBEVERESES AfEZ
1B = A A58 18 € 51 8l /F I L 3R
FHFEBEBNES - REAESE
BEMEESEHELREERBK
AZ5%MRESFTEELHR - M
FRABBAWA 2 ER A&30,0008 T °
RIECHEIERNEEE -

PR ENARRRNEAREEZR
BT BN E R P REREE
c ZEWBARBARETEKAN
X—An A RERARE B HFK -
HEROREBEPRERSHE RN
e RS E R PR - KA RE
K& 78I NI - NEE A& = 45K
TERBNES - AREY ERUR
R 5t 8 4 5% (AN 7 3% (5K 55 /&8 Al e
BERKRDREZENER BHE
MR RZTZ-_WER-T-_=F
ZRA=1+—8 AEEAERKESE
TR BRI AT R HIBR R R F
B -

B\ S
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A BT RARMIEE

28. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Dr. Mao and Dr. Xie have beneficial non-controlling interest
in the shares of the Company. In addition, they have
joint control of a company which has shareholding of the
Company giving it significant influence over the Company.
Save as those disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated
financial statements, the Group has entered into the
following related party transactions:

Service fee expense paid and B R ERFARA
payable to Dr. Mao, a shareholder REREBLZ

28. AEALXRF
EBLEHBLIRARBBROPHEA
BRI - o REKFRE
w — A AR R R AR E
BEAXENZRT - Riga W E®R
REMEBEMAEEEIN  AEECHE

TUTHEALRS:

2024

2023
—®_NEF =

HK$’000
THETT

HK$’000
TR

of the Company (Note i) AR 7% & 5 2 (M9 5E1) 672 672
Loan from Dr. Mao, a substantial REARNG - EERE
shareholder of the Company (Note ii) £+ 2 & % (M 5ii) 62,300 51,000
62,972 51,672
Key management compensation: FTEEHERE 2R
Salaries and other benefits ¥rekHMEA 2,978 2,888
Retirement benefits scheme R RFE A FT &I 3R
contributions 18 18
2,996 2,906

Notes:

This transaction constitutes continuing connected transaction
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules and is exempted from the
reporting and disclosure requirement pursuant to Rule 14A.76(1) of
the Listing Rules.

(if) The loan from a shareholder is unsecured, non-interest bearing and
repayment on demand (2023: unsecured, non-interest bearing and
repayment on demand).
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AR TSR M

29. PARTICULARS OF THE SUBSIDIARIES 29. XARIKEB A AAFH1E
OF THE COMPANY

Place of
incorporation/  Place of Registered/issued Percentage of ownership interest/ Principal
registration operation paid-up capital voting power held by the Group activities
BMAY/ ,
RS EELY 2t/ ERTHRRA AREFGRERES REBCEAL  TEXE
2024
bt 13 I St
Directly Indirectly Indirectly
E& [ F4 % &
Lucky Full Holdings Limited British Virgin British Virgin US$1 ordinary share 100% - 100% —  Investment holding
Islands Islands
BRERARAR ZEERRES EBABRES 1EZRLAR REARRK
Clear Rich International Limited  British Virgin British Virgin USS$1 ordinary share - 100% - 100%  Investment holding
Islands Islands
RERRERAA AEEBARES HEBABREE 1ZTLER REZK
China United Gene Health Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$1 ordinary share - 100% = 100%  Trading of beauty
Limited equipment and
products
ZERCERRRELERAR &R B BTEER FRRXERERER
g%
Mega Fortune Corporation Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$1 ordinary share - 100% - 100%  Investment holding
Limited i B 1ETERK RERK
First Team Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$1 ordinary share - 100% = 100%  Investment holding
Bk B BTERER REZK
Multi-Wealth Investment Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$1 ordinary share - 100% - 100%  Investment holding
i B 1ETERK REARK
Able Earn Investment Limited ~ Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$1 ordinary share - 100% = 100% Investment holding
EERERRAR Bk B ETERR REAZR
Top Nice Holdings Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$1 ordinary share - 100% - 100%  Securities
investment
ESEEEARAR i B BTEBER FHRE
Mega Cedar Group Limited British Virgin British Virgin US$1 ordinary share - 100% = 100%  Investment
Islands Islands holding and
securities
investment
RELAREE EBBBEREE 1ELLER RABRRES
13
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29. PARTICULARS OF THE SUBSIDIARIES 29. XARIMEBARIFEw
OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

130

Place of
incorporation/  Place of Registered/issued Percentage of ownership interest/ Principal
registration operation paid-up capital voting power held by the Group activities
RaUBE EEME dft/ ERTARRA AEBFHARRRS RERZAAL TEXY
2024 2023
b 1 £ “2-cf
Directly Indirectly  Directly  Indirectly
E# & X &
Perfect Net Limited British Virgin British Virgin US$1 ordinary share - 100% = 100%  Investment
Islands [slands holding
EEABRES HBERRER 1XTLER REAZRK
New Wonder Limited British Virgin British Virgin US$1 ordinary share - 100% - 100%  Investment
Islands Islands holding
RELARES HEBABREE 1ELLER REAZK
Rankup Holdings Limited British Virgin British Virgin US$1 ordinary share - 100% = 100%  Investment
Islands Islands holding
AEERRHE EBEAREE  1ZTLIBR REAZK
Marvel Wonder Global Limited ~ British Virgin British Virgin US$1 ordinary share - 100% = 100%  Investment
Islands Islands holding
EEARRES HBARRER 1EXTLER REARRK
East Longmark (Shanghai) PRC PRC HK$28 milion - 100% - 100%  Provision of
HealthCare Limited (Note a) registered capital genetic testing
services
REM(LBBRERRE & hE 28,000,000% 1T R ER AR
ARAA (3Ea) HMER
Shanghai Honglian Investment ~ PRC PRC HK$3.5 million - 100% - 100%  Inactive
Advisory Limited (Note b) registered capital
FRLERERAERAE  HE HE 3,500,000 ¢ FER
(R 3b) HMER
Smart Ascent (Note ¢) Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$10,000 ordinary - 51% - 51%  Investment
shares holding
EE () Bk B 10,0007 72 & i R REARK
Fosse Bio (Note ¢) Hong Kong PRC HK$100,000 ordinary - 26.01% - 26.01%  Development and
shares commercialisation
of oral insulin
products
Rt (HzEc) B e 100,000 72 & & RERBRC AR
REZEm
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AR TSR M

29. PARTICULARS OF THE SUBSIDIARIES 29. A ARKMEB AR FHE»

OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

Place of

incorporation/  Place of Registered/issued
registration operation paid-up capital
i EENHY HR/BRTHARRE

Welly Surplus Development Hong Kong PRC HK$100 ordinary
Limited (Note c) shares

WRERERAR (o) B kel 1007 7 & i &

Nation Joy Industries Limited  British Virgin British Virgin US$10,000 ordinary
(Note c) Islands Islands shares

ENEZERAA (Fitc) AEERRHES EEEARES  10000XTEER
Notes:

(@) East Longmark is a wholly foreign-owned enterprise established in
the PRC on 24 November 2011 for a period of thirty years.

(b) Shanghai Honglian Investment Advisory Limited is a wholly foreign-
owned enterprise established in the PRC on 26 January 2015 for a
period of thirty years.

(c) These companies became subsidiaries of the Company upon
completion of Acquisition on 28 July 2014.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company
which, in the opinion of the directors of the Company,
principally affect the financial results of the year or formed
a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To give
details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the
directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

Percentage of ownership interest/ Principal

voting power held by the Group activities

=3

AREFRRARES RERZEAL  IREH

2024
—E-mE
Directly Indirectly  Directly  Indirectly
A& ER &
26.01% —  2601% Inactive
FiEE
51% - 51%  Inactive
R
Mo

@ REERRR-_ZT——F+—-—A-+HEA
EPBEKRzE2ERE  RE=1
£ o

() LBLEREFRERADNAN_-ZF
—hFE-—AZ+tRBEFERKI ZIE
2EGCE REM=TF-

© WERAER-_ZT-—OFELA-+/\R
ZWETREXBARB ZHBE AR -

ARBIEZRS  LREBEYAE
BAFEZHBEREREATEN
BREEFEIZHIZMBLAF -
MRt EMHBARZH#E  EF
ARREERBEANRITE -
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29. PARTICULARS OF THE SUBSIDIARIES 29. A ARKMEB AR FEE @
OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities FAZNAF & 52 4 B ok 4F PR 4 ) B P _E il
outstanding at the end of the year or any time during the MEARMEEMNARER 2BEKE
year. 7 o

The table below shows details of non-wholly owned FRESIRNEE S ERIEE R
subsidiaries of the Group that have material non-controlling BZHFEENBAR

interests:

Proportion of Loss and other
ownership comprehensive loss
Place of incorporation interests held allocated to Accumulated
and principal place of by non-controlling non-controlling non-controlling
Name of subsidiary business interests interests interests
at i Y 3 FEREEFBEZ PETFHFERES

WEARER TERERY BEBERE2LE Z2EERREMZ2EESR EHES 3 5

2024 2023 2024 2023 2024

“E-_ME —T--F ZE-NE —T-=F —E_NE =
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000  HK$000
TET Tt T Fi5T

Smart Ascent (Note) Hong Kong 49% 49% (1,063) (1,235) (9,997) (8,934)
A (F3E) N

Non-wholly owned subsidiary of
Smart Ascent

EEZFEANBAR
Fosse Bio (Note) Hong Kong/PRC 73.99%  73.99% (2,837)  (6.521) 943,045 945882
2 {E (M) B/ TE

Individually immaterial

subsidiaries with non-controlling

interests (793) (1,221) (2,105) (1,312)
BERFERER

(ENlEEPN ﬁJ*

(4,693) (8,977) 930,943 935,636
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29. PARTICULARS OF THE SUBSIDIARIES
OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

Summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s
subsidiaries that has material non-controlling interests is
set out below. The summarised financial information below

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

represents amounts before intra-group eliminations.

Smart Ascent and its subsidiaries

ARa SRR M

—E-_MmE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHE T FHET
Current assets mB A E 2,215 1,884
Non-current assets EMBEE 1,373,224 1,373,224
Current liabilities mEBE (85,058) (52,426)
Non-current liabilities EmEBME (39,108) (64,333)
Equity attributable to owners ZiN/NIE N
of the Company FEAL = 320,330 322,713
Non-controlling interests FEVE AR #E 2 930,943 935,636
Revenue I &= - —
Expenses (-3 (7,079) (12,979)
Loss and total comprehensive FREHEELEER
expense for the year > 4858 (7,076) (12,978)
Loss and total comprehensive EEEEERAX
expense attributable to MERE
Owners of the Company ZiN/NSIE =N (2,389) (3,981)
Non-controlling interests I AR A 2 (4,693) (8,997)
(7,076) (12,978)
Net cash outflow REEFE 2
from operating activities b R B - 646 (12,286)
Net cash inflow from financing REEEE 2
activities BERAFEE - 12,000

There are no net cash flows from investing activities.

READUYEBELRSREFHE -

2024 % EMBEREVNPEERAF
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A B mERM s
30. FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE 30. KRB BER
COMPANY

Non-current assets ERBEE
Investment in subsidiary R INGILE RS S - —
Right-of-use assets FREEE - 941
- 941
Current assets mENE E
Prepayments, deposits and other BNZIE 2k
receivables H b fE IR - 481
Amounts due from group companies & i &= B 2 7] 7 B 400,401 394,544
Bank balances and cash RITHEHB LR E 2,318 945
402,719 395,970
Current liabilities mBBE
Lease liabilities HEBE - 968
Accruals and other payables FEEt B A &k B fth FE S 3KIB 5,175 1,788
Loan from shareholder R B BRERE K 62,300 51,000
Convertible bond A #2 AR & 55 255,804 1,036,312
323,279 1,090,068
Net current assets/(liabilities) REBEE,/(BE)FHE 79,440 (694,098)
Total asset less current liabilities BEERRBAE 79,440 (693,157)
Non-current liabilities FEmEBEE
Convertible bonds AT RES 655,346 68,510
Total non-current liabilities FEREBELERE 655,346 68,510
Net liabilities BEFE (575,906) (761,667)
Capital and reserves BEARKRFEE
Share capital PR AR 17,232 14,642
Reserves i (593,138) (776,309)
Total equity L e R (575,906) (761,667)
The financial statements were approved by the board of MBHREREHESENR-ZTAFN
directors on 28 June 2024 and are signed on its behalf by: AZ+N\BH#tE  IHUTESKRE
2E:
Jiang Nian Tang Rong
# BB
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
EFE EFE
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iR SRR M 5T
30. FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE 30. A _ T Z M B E R
COM PANY (Continued)
Reserve of the Company KRR 2i#1E
Convertible
Share equity Accumulated
premium reserve losses Total
g8
B 10 % 8 EEREE REtE#R @t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
TAT THIT TAT TAL
As at 1 April 2022 i
MmA—H 1,119,294 575,392 (2,228,184) (533,498)
Loss and total comprehensive FREE M 2 H
expenses for the year B — — (242,811) (242,811)
As at 31 March 2023 and MN-E-=%F
1 April 2023 =ZA=+-HEkK
—E-=F
MA—H 1,119,294 575,392 (2,470,995) (776,309)
Profit and total comprehensive 4 3% F & & U &
income for the year FEE - - 105,301 105,301
Conversion of convertible BRABRRES
bonds 256,910 (179,040) — 77,870
As at 31 March 2024 R-ZB-NE
=ZA=+-8 1,376,204 396,352  (2,365,694) (593,138)
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31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

136

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

31.

Categories of financial instruments

Financial assets
Financial assets at amortised cost

EWMEE

TMTH
TR IAEEHR

2024
—EF_MmEF
HK$’000
TERT

2023

HK$’000
TR

BEBHKASEZ LHEE

Trade receivables 5 W BR 3K 4,905 6,167
Deposits and other receivables Ba &k EApEWEIA 213 774
Bank balances and cash RITHE B NIRE 3,075 1,331
Total st 8,193 8,272
Financial liabilities at amortised cost — HEB#HK XA EZ TH B E
Convertible bonds A # R (& 25 911,150 1,104,822
Trade payables B 5 BRI 1,853 4,022
Accruals and other payables FEETE A& B FE N RIR 7,526 2,972
Amounts due to non-controlling FE A~ 3 128 A% 7 25 BOIR

interests 3,092 3,092
Loan from a non-controlling interest KB IEERERE R 10,346 10,346
Amounts due to former JE 11 AT 3E 12 AR 8 25 IR

non-controlling interests 724 724
Amount due to a former associate FET R B & R A RIA 41,947 41,947
Loan from a substantial shareholder HRE—fIFTERFTE XK 62,300 51,000
Loan from a former associate RERHZE AR ER 24,654 23,593
Total HET 1,063,592 1,242,518

Financial risk management objectives and

policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include trade
receivables, other receivables and deposits, bank
balances, loans from non-controlling interests, trade
payables, accruals and other payables, amounts due
to non-controlling interests, amounts due to former
non-controlling interests, loan from a substantial
shareholder, loan from a former associate, loans from a
non-controlling interests and convertible bonds. Details
of these financial instruments are disclosed in respective
notes. The risks associated with these financial instruments
include interest rate risk, credit risk and liquidity risk
and the policies on how to mitigate these risks are set
out below. The management manages and monitors
these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented on a timely and effective manner.

INNOVATIVE PHARMACEUTICAL BIOTECH LIMITED 2024 Annual Report
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continueq)

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable trade and
other receivables and deposits and bank balances for
current period and prior yeatr.

As at 31 March 2024, the Group’s maximum exposure
to credit risk which will cause a financial loss to the
Group due to failure to discharge an obligation by the
counterparties is the carrying amounts of the respective
recognised financial assets as stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

The credit risk on the Group’s bank balances is limited
because the counterparties are banks with high credit
ratings assigned by international credit-rating agencies.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management
of the Group has delegated a team responsible for the
determination of credit limits, credit approvals and other
monitoring procedures. In addition, management reviews
the recoverable amount of each individual trade debt
regularly to ensure that adequate impairment losses are
recognised for irrecoverable debts.

In respect of trade receivables, all sales made to major
customer who have been given short credit terms. These
credit evaluations focus on the customers’ past history of
making payments when due and current ability to pay, and
take into account information specific to the customer as
well as pertaining to the economic environment in which
the customer operates. The average credit period granted
to the customers was 90 days (2023: 90 days). As at 31
March 2024, the carrying amount of trade receivables
was concentrated on one (2023: one) customer which
amounted for 100% of the total trade receivables. The
Group will make specific provision for those balances
which cannot be recovered. Normally, the Group does
not obtain collateral from customers. In the opinion of the
directors, the default risk faced by the Group is considered
to be low.

ARa SRR M

1. €@ IT A

BEEREEAERBEE®

1= 5 & k& NORUE FF (&
KEIZEEHﬁExXQK%W&
SERTFE 2 8 5 AR R N E Al R i
FIERIE S MRITHER °

RZZE_WE=A=1+—H X&H
FER R AEERR(GEARS Y

7 ok B 1T A T 2 K o B R B T
BRRBEEMBANRINEE KR
ERRBLEREE CREE -

HRRXHH 57 BBEKRE ST REE
AERBEEFRZIERT HAKE
BERTHEGB EERRAR -

EEREEERR AKBEEEE
E?Eﬁiﬁiﬁﬁﬁﬁgﬁ CEE#Z
REMEREF B - 1L - B
Eo T MEMESENEZER 2K
Ol 5 %8 - DARE R 3L AT U B & 75 FE 3R
RABEEE

?ﬁ‘”%@lﬁz RmE > P*ﬂ‘iﬁ

BREFERATRBEES Mﬂ*
i*f*ﬂﬁﬂifézﬁ 'JHH%\IEZiEEpE
8 URBRIZZHEEN  UEBER
}ELA& 1K FIBE CEIRBEE 2
BTER  MEFPREMFHEER
2—’%90%(_2\_ F:90K)  R=F
:mi:ﬂ:+_a’%%@W$ﬁ

ZHREEETRR— %(Jﬁ—‘i
B)EP - (5E S EWERF100% °
AEBWE AE XKD 2 BT
REERE - —MRms ztS%@T
SREFPWEEER EEFERE A
EEEBZEYRRAR -
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bRE TR
31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continueq) 1. €M T E»
Financial risk management objectives and BREAREEEERBE @

policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) EER R /DME nﬂ (&)
The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented 1] EE’J?TEHE % 18 0 BR F AR
by the carrying amount of each financial asset in the BEREE R *E\HM‘*HK/R%WXIEA
consolidated statement of financial position after deducting MEENEFEEE AKH l I 4 12 4
any impairment allowance. The Group does not provide 1158 7R £ B T R {5 B R B &9 B 75 1R
financial guarantee which would expose the Group to credit R ©
risk.
The Group applied the HKFRS 9 simplified approach AEBEBAE B REENFEIR
to measuring expected credit losses which uses a Zﬁ%{tﬁ)i;‘l’i%ﬁiﬁﬂ1:f%f_§?§ C Hph
lifetime expected credit loss allowance for all accounts FTERKERERE2HBHESEES
receivables. To measure the expected credit losses, trade B - 7%.# EHEEEE 85
receivables have been grouped based on shared credit risk BWERERBEAZEERRER
characteristics and the days past due. &ﬁﬁﬂ%%( DHE e
Expected loss rates are based on actual loss experience FEHEBEEEXENBE —FT2ERE
over the past year. The historical loss rates are adjusted BERTE - LEJ@?T‘%T’%MW%&DA
to reflect current and forward-looking information on R ERFEERKKIBEINE
macroeconomic factors affecting the ability of the BEBRCERZMNEIR H'J e &
customers to settle the receivables. B} o
Trade
receivables
B S EWRIE
HK$’000
FHET
As at 1 April 2022 R-ZE-__FMHA—H 415
Allowance for expected credit loss recognised BHRBHEZEBHBEE 235
Reversed of expected credit loss recognised BOEwRREREEESRE (415)

As at 31 March 2023 and as at 1 April 2023 R-ZE-_=F=A=+—"HK

=F=-= FHA—HA 235
Allowance for expected credit loss recognised DR TEH(E EEEEE 169
Reversed of expected credit loss recognised BOBREIRBEHEEERE (235)
As at 31 March 2024 R-—B-@mE=A=+—8 169
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31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continueq)

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

The credit quality of other receivables and deposits
excluding prepayments has been assessed with reference
to historical information about the counterparties default
rates and financial position of the counterparties. The
directors are of the opinion that the credit risk of other
receivables and deposits is low due to the sound collection
history of other receivables due from them. Therefore,
expected credit loss rate of the other receivables and
deposits excluding prepayments is assessed to be close to
zero and no provision was made as of 31 March 2024 and
2023.

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed
adequate by the management to finance the Group’s
operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash
flows. In addition to issuance of new shares, the Group
also relies on convertible bonds as a significant source of
liquidity for the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023.

The Group’s current liabilities exceeded its current assets
by approximately HK$381,802,000 as at 31 March 2024
(2023: HK$1,137,161,000).

ARa SRR M

1. €@ IT A

BEEREEAERBEE®

= 5 Rk KR ER @)

E@JEHQME&&%(W@%?EN?K
BINEEEENK2EEBRSH
E%@%&fz\%ﬁﬁﬂkﬂﬁ)ﬁmriﬁ
I - -ZEERAEMERREN

ReNEERRER  THRRNEME
Y 1R F RIB R U R RL 8 R 4 = H Ut -

ﬁﬁﬂfiﬂﬁlrﬂﬁ)&ﬁi%(T’E?ﬁﬁﬁ%

B)NBHEEERERFHELELIR
T ABE-F-MER-F-=f
A=t RYEARER -

mEE & AR
REBERDECRRE  AEEE
ZENEF-EKFZEE RS E
Yo mEREERZKFRAR/NEER
ZEBRBHES  URBMIRER
ERBZTE REBEE-_T_NFR
:?:_i A=+—BL=FE " K
TATHR A S - AN 5= B TR ey RE AT R A
BEERRBESTZETEZRIR -

AREBR-_ZT-_WNF=ZF=+—
Bz RBHDEBEBERDEEL
381,802,000 (= & = =
1,137,161,0007% 7T) °

° &g
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iR e ISR M L

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continueq) 1. €@ T EHw»
Financial risk management objectives and BREAREEEERBE @
policies (Continued)
Liquidity risk (continued) mBE LRk E)
The following table details the Group’s remaining TRAFBAEEZIETESRABEZ
contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities TR ERAEEA (AR EERARR
based on the agreed repayment dates. The table includes KB - ZXBEEMNEREAESE &R
both interest and principal cash flows. £ o
Liquidity risk tables BB % JE e 7

Carrying
Weighted ~ On demand Total amount at
average  or less than 3monthsto  Over 1 year undiscounted 31 March

interest rate 1month  1-3 months 1 year to5years  cash flows 2024
RZB-ME

RERY 28 AR =ZA=t-A

mETHHE  SR-EA -EZEA =@RE-§ -FERE RemEL:T ZRAE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

% TER ThEn TiEn TER ThEn Tin

31 March 2024 ToME= ﬂ t-H
Non-derivative financial liabilities
Trade payables - 1,853 - - - 1,853 1,853
Accruals and other payables EiER Vz - 7,526 - - - 7,526 7,526
Amounts due to non-controlling ERFEER
interests - 3,092 - - - 3,002 3,092
Amounts due to former non- ERAFERERNE
controlling interests - 724 - - - 124 724
Amount due to a former associate ERABEAANE - 41,947 - - - 41,947 41,947
Loan from a non-controlling interest REFERERES ff\ - 10,346 - - - 10,346 10,346
Loan from a substantial shareholder RE-MUTEREER - 50,800 2,500 - - 62,300 62,300
Loan from a former associate REABERDER 5,00 6,284 - 12,250 7,350 25,884 24,654
Convertible bonds ThRES 21.31 255,804 - - 1,000,029 1,255,833 911,150
387,376 2,500 12,250 1,007,379 1,409,505 1,063,592
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31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continueq)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued)
Liquidity risk tables (Continued)

Weighted
average
interest rate

31 March 2023
Non-derivative financial liabilities

On demand
or less than
1 month

R
4 A
HK$'000
TAL

AR TSR M

1. € T B
BEREEEEERBEX®

mEE SRR @)
T B & = B 2 (48)

Carrying
Total amount at

undiscounted 31 March

3 months to
1-3 months 1 year

Over 1 year to
5 years cash flows
RER
—ZZfR =ZHAZ-% T
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK§'000
THL T#T BT Titn

Trade payables - 4,022 - - - 4,022 4,022
Accruals and other payables - 2,972 - - - 2972 2,972
Amounts due to non-controlling
interests = 3,09 = = = 3,09 3,092
Amounts due to former non-
controlling interests = 724 = = = 724 724
Amount due to a former associate ‘ b = 41,947 - - - 41,947 4,947
Loan from a non-controlling interest B X = 10,346 = = = 10,346 10,346
Loan from a substantial shareholder RE-MUIERFES - 51,000 - - - 51,000 51,000
Loan from a former associate REABERDER 5.00 - - 6,125 19,600 25,725 23,593
Convertible bonds TARES 20.75 - - 996,025 103,600 1,099,625 1,104,820
Lease liabilities HERE 399 164 326 489 - 979 968
114,067 326 1,002,639 123,200 1,240,432 1,243 484

Fair value of the Group’ s financial assets that are

measured at fair value on a recurring basis

All financial assets and liabilities are carried at amounts
not materially different from their fair values as at 31 March

2024 and 2023.

RELEMHEEZANFEFEZA
SEeMmEELATE
FrEemEERABBZIReBER
WNE—_NGER—_E_ZSF=HA=1T—
BZAFETESEREZR -
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iR e ISR M L

32. NOTES SUPPORTING THE CONSOLIDATED 32. e HE R ERK =

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities: MEEHEANBEHER:

Loan from IGEN
anon- froma Loan from
Lease controlling substantial aformer Convertible
liabilities interest shareholder  associate bonds Total
(Note 22) (Note 23) (Note 23) (Note 23) (Note 25)

REFER RE-BTE XREANBE
HEARE EBEER KRREX LARER TRREF act
(Wat22)  (M&23)  (W&E23)  (K&23) (M&E25)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TRET TRT TET TRT TET TRT

Asat1Apri2022  R-ZE-—F

HA—H 2,849 10,346 40,000 16,853 871,791 941,839
Financing cash flows EIER &R E (1,959) = 11,000 5,880 = 14,921
Finance cost BKER 78 — - 860 233,031 233,969
As at 31 March 2023 WMZZT==%

and 1 April 2023 ZA=+-8k

—E_=F

MmA—H 968 10,346 51,000 23,593 1,104,822 1,190,729
Financing cash flows EER &K E (979) = 11,300 = (80,460) (70,139)
Recognition of REEXEITHRR

convertible bond BmiRES

under substantial

modification - — - - 541,536 541,536
Extinguishment of ~ REEABF EXT

convertible bond BRES

under substantial

modification - - - — (871,773) (871,773)
Finance cost MBER 11 - - 1,061 217,025 218,097

As at 31 March R-ZE-ME
2024 =A=+-H - 10,346 62,300 24,654 911,150 1,008,450

142 INNOVATIVE PHARMACEUTICAL BIOTECH LIMITED 2024 Annual Report



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

33. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to shareholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s
overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of amounts
due to a former associate, non-controlling interests and
former non-controlling interests, loan from a non-controlling
interest, loan from a substantial shareholder, loan from a
former associate and convertible bonds, net of cash and
cash equivalents and equity attributable to owners of the
Company, comprising share capital and reserves. The
directors of the Company review the capital structure on an
annual basis. As part of this review, the directors consider
the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class
of capital. Based on recommendations of the directors, the
Group will balance its overall capital structure through new
share issues and share buy-backs as well as the issue of
new debt or the redemption of existing debt.

The Group monitors its capital structure using net debt to
equity ratio; whereby net debt comprises convertible bonds
less bank balances and cash whilst equity means the total
equity of the Group. During the year, the Group’s strategy
to maintain a healthy net debt to equity ratio has remained
unchanged, and the debt to equity ratio is 3.33 as at 31
March 2024 (2023: 8.85).

ARa SRR M

3. EA AR ERE

$$laﬁ§$ZHﬁﬁﬁ N SE]
ZEBREAFBEURELEBMA
%?m%h?hhrk@ﬁ REE
CEBRXBEBATFERFTIE -

AEEZERNERESRNABER
A~ SF ¥R BB 2 K A I 4 AR &R K
B RAFEREDZER KA

FERFREXR RBABHERARIER
&TE@HX{E\%—‘ Eﬁ@&iﬁﬁvﬁm/ﬁ*

B ARARBEAARGEER B
EERALEE - AR EEEFIH
BARGERETRE - (ERILRE Z—
o EERREANKANE KR T E
BERENEHE - REEZT2EFH
NER 2 R A 1T A & B B AR
MIAREFEXEEREEBATE
ﬁkﬁﬁ Z’KZ:‘: T%

AEBFERAFEERSHEXEEHSE
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Financial Summary

EHE

RESULTS E
For the year ended
31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
BE-A=T-HILEE
—E-_ME “E-=F —E-— “E-—F “E-TE
HK$°000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000
THT B T&L T T
Revenue oz 6,593 8,075 11,145 15,189 14,580
Profit/(loss) for the year EREH/(BE) 98,707 (254,671) 36,431 (212,155) (222,462)
Attributable to: BB
Owners of the Company KRAERA 103,403 (245,698) 45,803 (204,939) (211,117)
Non-controlling interests R ER (4,696) (8,973) (9,372) (7,216) (11,345)
98,707 (254,671) 36,431 (212,155) (222,462)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
As at 31 March
R=B=t-H
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
—E-ME —E-=F —E-fF —E—F —E-FTE
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000
TERT TEL TAEL FET FET
Non-current assets ERBEE 1,373,224 1,374,165 1,376,046 1,374,410 1,376,692
Current assets MEBEE 9,799 9,883 18,950 28,800 42,186
Current liabilities MBERE (391,601)  (1,147,044) (99,772) (800,673) (70,540)
Non-current liabilities ERBEE (671,991) (96,442) (899,958) (243,831) (780,565)
Net assets BEFSE 319,431 140,562 395,266 358,706 567,773
Attributable to: B
Owners of the Company N/NGIEZ T DN (611,512) (795,074) (549,367) (595,352) (390,373)
Non-controlling interests RS 930,943 935,636 944,633 954,058 958,146
Total equity BEmleE 319,431 140,562 395,266 358,706 567,773
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